Public Document Pack

Board of Directors Public Meeting
TO BE HELD ON 30 NOVEMBER 2016 at 3.45 pm to 5.30 pm
MEETING ROOM 7 - DELTA HOUSE
AGENDA
No:

Item

1

Patient/Carer Story

2

Chair's Communication

3

Opening Matters
3.1

3.2

Declarations of Interest
(i) Amendments to register of
interests
(ii) In any item on the agenda
Apologies for absence

3.3

Minutes of the previous meeting

3.4

Matters arising not on the agenda

4

Declaration of any other urgent
business to be transacted
Report of the Chief Executive

5

Risk and Assurance

Purpose

Lead

For
Informatio
n

J Newton

For
Approval

Enclosure
/verbal

Enc. 3.3
3 - 16

3.5

5.1
5.2

Report from Chair of Charitable Funds
Committee
Report from Chair of Audit Committee

5.3
6

Report from Chair of Finance and
Investment Committee
Strategy and Business Transactions

6.1

Draft Annual Plan 2017/18-2018/19

6.2

Update on MERIT

6.3

7

Update on Sustainability &
Transformation Plan (STP)
6.4 Charitable Funds Annual Report and
Accounts 2015-16
Quality and Patient Experience
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To
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To Follow
F Malik
K McAteer

J Cadman
T Cotterill

J Cadman
T Cotterill
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23 - 26

Enc. 6.1
27 - 54
Enc. 6.2
55 - 62
Enc. 6.3
63 - 68
Enc. 6.4
69 - 100

No:

Item

Purpose

Lead

For
Information
To
Receive
To
Receive

J Fletcher

Integrated Performance Report
(including Quality Dashboard) for
period to 31st October 2016
8.2 Cost Improvement Programme
Position (M7)
Corporate Governance

To review

T Cotterill
L Writtle
J Fletcher
T Taylor

Enc. 8.1
163 - 220

9.1

For
Approval
For
Approval
For
Approval

A Green

Enc. 10.1
239 - 248
Enc. 10.2
249 - 252
Enc. 10.3
253 - 256

7.1

Review of Nursing Establishment

7.2

8

Patient Experience and Involvement
Annual Report 2015/16
7.3 Complaints, Concerns and
Compliments April - Sept 2016
Operational and Contractual
Performance
8.1

9

10

11

9.2

Register of Interests, Gifts and
Hospitality
Use of Trust Seal

9.3

Constitution of the Trust

To review

J Fletcher

Enclosure
/verbal
Enc. 7.1
101 - 132
Enc. 7.2
133 - 162

J Fletcher

A Green
A Green

Enc. 8.2
221 - 238

Minutes of Sub-committees of the Board
10.1 Charitable Funds Committee 20th June
For
2016
Information
10.2 Audit Committee 14th September 2016
For
Information
10.3 Finance & Investment Committee 20th
For
October 2016
Information
Any Other Business (as declared in
opening matters)

12

Summary of Actions Agreed & Risks
Identified

13

Items to refer to Board Sub-Committees

14

Items to refer to Assembly of Governors

15

Questions from the public

Enc. 11.1
257 - 262
Enc. 11.2
263 - 272
Enc. 11.3
273 - 280

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:
The next meeting will be held on Monday, 12 December 2016 at 4.00 pm in Meeting Room 7 Delta House
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Encl. 3.3
Minutes of the Board of Directors Public Meeting
Held on Wednesday, 26 October 2016 at 4.15 pm
In Meeting Room 7 - Delta House
Present:
Tracey Cotterill (TC)
Andrew Fry (AF)
Joy Jeffrey (JJ)
Jas Lidher (JL)
Paula Lloyd Knight (PK)
Sheila Lloyd (SL)
Fayaz Malik (FM)
Kathy McAteer (KM)
David Stenson (DS)
Tracy Taylor (TT)
Duncan Walker (DW)
Lesley Writtle (LW)

Executive Director of Finance
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Executive Medical Director
Associate Non-Executive Director
Executive Director of Nursing, AHPs & Governance
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Associate Non-Executive Director
Chief Executive
Non-Executive Director
Executive Director of Operations

In Attendance
Jo Cadman (JC)
Joyce Fletcher (JF)
Natalie Grainger (NG)
Andy Green (AG)
Caroline Nolan (CN)
Melvena Anderson (MA)
Steve Holmes (SH)

Associate Director of Strategy
Deputy Director of Nursing
Governance Support Manager
Company Secretary
Assistant Chief Executive
General Manager for Planned Care
Head of Operational Development

Apologies:

None

Ref:
BCP/0104/14
4/16

Item
Action
PATIENT/CARER STORY
There was no patient/carer story for this meeting. The chair reminded
colleagues of the value of this item and asked that arrangements were
in place for future presentations.

BCP/0104/14
5/16

CHAIR'S COMMUNICATION
Ms Newton welcomed Ms Melvena Anderson, General Manager for
Planned Care who was in attendance to present the Community Mental
Health Survey and Mr Steve Holmes, Head of Operational
Development, who was in attendance to present the report on
Emergency Preparedness.
It was noted that Mr Holmes was leaving the Trust on 11th November to
take up a role at Gloucester Community Trust, the Board wished him
well for the future.
Ms Newton reminded the Board of Ms Sheila Lloyd’s imminent leave
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Ref

Item

Action
date of 11 November and thanked her on behalf of the Board for her
hard work and commitment during her time with the Trust.
th

Ms Newton raised that it was planned to hold an additional Board
Meeting on 23rd November 2016 to accommodate the sign off of the
Draft Annual Plan submission to the Regulator and on the 14th
December 2016 for final sign off of the Annual Plan submission. She
confirmed that it was intended to use the session on 23rd November for
a Risk Management Workshop as discussed at the September
Strategy Meeting.
Ms Grainger would advise of timings separately.
BCP/0104/14
6/16

OPENING MATTERS
(I) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None
(II) APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
As listed above.
(III)MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 27TH
JULY 2016
The minutes of the meeting held on 27th July 2016 were agreed as a
true and accurate record.
(IV)
None

MATTERS ARISING NOT ON THE AGENDA

(V) DECLARATION OF ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS TO BE
TRANSACTED
None
BCP/0104/14
7/16

COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH SURVEY
It was agreed to take item 6.4 next on the agenda.
Ms Anderson presented the report which provided an overview of the
National Mental Health service user’s 2016 survey results highlighting
key themes that had improved or remained the same. She reported
that the four top themes would be identified with patients and carers,
and an action log developed.
In response to a question from Mr Stenson, Ms Anderson confirmed
that work was being carried out with the recovery college to access
patients and provide their feedback
Ms Jeffrey highlighted that communication seemed to be a theme
raised by patients and suggested this be included as a key theme
through the action plan.
It was agreed that progress would be monitored through Quality and
Safety Committee.
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IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) progress to be monitored through Quality and Safety
Committee

BCP/0104/14
8/16

LOCAL HEALTH RESILIENCE PARTNERSHIPS (EMERGENCY
PREPAREDNESS)
It was agreed to take item 8.2 next on the agenda.
Mr Holmes presented the report which summarised the selfassessment process and demonstrates that the Trust remains
substantially compliant with the standards. He reported that risks are
being managed through the Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and
Response Group.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to approve the report for submission to NHS England
Ms Anderson and Mr Holmes left the meeting at 4.40pm

BCP/0104/14
9/16

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Ms Taylor presented the report and highlighted key areas.
In response to a question from Dr Walker, Ms Taylor agreed that she
had identified gaps and a risk around senior HR advice and support.
She confirmed that a very experienced HR Manager was in post
however felt there was a need to address the director role.
Ms Writtle commented that she took on the portfolio of operational HR
in February 2016 which was not a permanent arrangement, however
felt that it was important to have a subject expert, hence the recent
appointment of the Associate Director of Workforce.
Dr Walker asked where HR advice would be sought from if there was
an issue and expertise was not available internally. Ms Writtle
confirmed that she was part of the HR Director West Midlands Group
however felt it would be rare to have to approach for advice. She
confirmed that if required legal advisers provided advice.
Ms Cotterill raised that the Board should be mindful that in the event of
a transaction with the Trust being acquired, the organisation would
have responsibility to provide TUPE advice to staff which enhances the
requirement to have support at senior level.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i)

BCP/0104/15
0/16

To note the report

RISK AND ASSURANCE
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(I) BOARD ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK
Ms Lloyd presented the report. She referred to the Equality and
Inclusion risks, which were under review by the Equality and Inclusion
Steering Group.
Ms Lloyd Knight confirmed that there had been initial challenges with
the Equality and Inclusion Group however it now has the right
membership with clear representation at all levels.
Ms Newton welcomed the discussion as this had been previously
discussed at the Quality and safety Committee, where she had
proposed that the group had a direct line of sight to the board. Ms
Newton agreed to discuss future reporting with Mr Green outside the
meeting.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) Ms Newton to discuss future reporting of Equality and
Inclusion Board with Mr Green
(II) BOARD ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK - REDESIGN
Mr Green presented the revised format Board Assurance Framework
which had been redesigned to conform to audit recommendations. He
confirmed that a risk management workshop for the Board was to be
scheduled for November 2016.
Ms McAteer raised that it would be useful to see the trend between the
initial rating and current rating.
Ms Taylor suggested including a review date and any change in score
to reflect the timeline.
Mr Stenson felt that the report was better presented. He queried Risk
19 – Breach of Licence which had decreased although the risk of not
achieving CIP’s had increased. Ms Cotterill confirmed that the risk was
reduced following the closure of the investigation.
Ms Newton noted that some dates go back over 2 years and felt that
there may be a need to re-base to ensure risks were current.
Mr Green advised that this would be picked up as part of the risk
management workshop.
In response to a question from Ms Jeffrey, Mr Green confirmed that
mitigation plans were reviewed by the Board and sub-committees and
that the Board need to be satisfied that risks are mitigated.
Ms Lidher raised that risk 15 (Executive Management Capacity) and 16
(TCT Partnership – pace of delivery) should be for specific review of
the Board. It was agreed that risk 15 should be increased to a
consequence of 5 which would increase score to 20, and risk 16 should
remain the same at a score of 20.
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Ms Writtle left the meeting at 5.10pm.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to increase risk 15 to a score of 20
(ii) to note the report
(III)REPORT OF CHAIR OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
Dr Walker presented the report which provided an update from the
September 2016 Audit Committee meeting.
He reported that External Audit had provided an update to the
approach which would be taken for the next external audit, confirming
that the risks were similar to last year but of greater concern.
The Audit Committee had agreed to recommend that the Assembly of
Governors approve the extension of the appointment of Deloitte LLP as
External Auditor for a further year and supported the recommendation
of the External Auditors to review the year-end financial provisions and
significant estimates as part of its assessment criteria for STF funding.
Ms Cotterill reminded the Board that the accounting options suggested
by Monitor were previously discounted by the Board and Audit
Committee; however the accounting policy on asset valuation is being
reviewed in discussion with External Audit.
Ms Newton reiterated the importance of the Board fully understanding
the actual and projected financial position.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report
(IV)

REPORT OF CHAIR OF QUALITY AND SAFETY
COMMITTEE
Mr Fry presented the report which provided an update from the
October Quality and Safety Committee Meeting.
He reported that assurance was received on the rollout of ESR and
that implementation impacting on wage calculation of payments would
be delayed until April 2017 to avoid any risk to errors with wages prior
to managers being trained.
He confirmed that a detailed report on serious incidents was received
and the committee wanted to recommend to include this as part of full
Board reporting.
Mr Fry highlighted discussions from the Quality and Safety Steering
Group update relating to issues with safeguarding in both LD and
Children’s services, particularly in view of reported inadequacies of
resource within the Dudley borough.
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Dr Lidher reported that the committee received information on the
Research and Innovation Annual Report and noted the significant
progress made. She reported that Dr Qassem who was the current
lead was leaving the organisation and the post was in the process of
being recruited to.
She reminded the Board of the event on 4th November to showcase the
work of Research and Innovation and encouraged Board members to
attend to support.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report
( ) to review reporting of serious incidents to the full
board

BCP/0104/15
1/16

QUALITY AND PATIENT EXPERIENCE
(I) CQC INSPECTION: INITIAL FEEDBACK
Ms Lloyd provided an update following the CQC follow up visit during
week commencing 17th October 2016. She confirmed that the visit was
successful and staff worked very hard to accommodate and support
inspectors.
Ms Lloyd highlighted the initial concerns that had been fed back
following the visit and confirmed that all had either been resolved, were
being reviewed or had mitigation plans in place.
The board commended the work undertaken and commented on the
value and continuation of the KLOE visits
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the update
(II) STAFF SATISFACTION SURVEY ACTION PLAN
Ms Lloyd presented the report which provided an update on the
progress of monitoring Trust action plans following the National Staff
Survey 2015, and planned communications to engage staff with the
2016 survey.
She confirmed that all staff were being asked to complete the survey
this year, and there was now an option to complete online which was
proving successful.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report
(III)SAFE, SUSTAINABLE AND PRODUCTIVE STAFFING -
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SEPTEMBER 2016 DATA
Ms Lloyd presented the report in a revised format as previously agreed
by the Board. She confirmed that the report shows an emerging trend
of planned versus actual registered nursing and unregistered
healthcare support workers for a month on month analysis.
In response to a question from Ms Lloyd Knight, Ms Fletcher confirmed
that bank staff were engaged through an online questionnaire in order
to get feedback on their experiences.
In response to a question from Ms Taylor, Ms Fletcher confirmed that
the reason for unregistered staff consistently over filling was due to the
acuity of patients and the requirement for observations however
considerable work has been carried out to reduce the additional staff
required through risk assessments and monitoring.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i)

To note the report

(IV) REVIEW OF NURSING ESTABLISHMENT
This item was deferred.
BCP/0104/15
2/16

OPERATIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL PERFORMANCE
(I) QUARTER 2 2016/17 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE
REPORT (INCLUDING QUALITY DASHBOARD)
Ms Nolan presented the report and score card which provided a single
document linking between the Trusts Strategic Objectives and Key
Performance Measures. Ms Nolan reminded the Board that this was
the first draft and further improvements were required along with
ensuring data was linked into the BAF.
In response to a question from Ms Lloyd Knight, Ms Lloyd confirmed
that real time patient feedback was not collected however PAL’s and
patient experience data was available.
Ms Newton felt that it was important for the Board to have a better
understanding of patient engagement activity as part of the report.
Ms Nolan agreed that more detail on patient experience can be
included within the report.
Quality and Patient Experience Domain
Ms Lloyd highlighted the key issue being the requirement for the Trust
to deliver 75% of staff receiving the flu vaccination, which was being
negotiated with commissioners. She confirmed that a daily update was
being provided for each area.
In response to a question from Dr Walker, Ms Cotterill confirmed that
the financial risk was calculated on a sliding scale.
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Workforce and Efficiency Domain
Ms Cotterill confirmed that weekly payments for bank staff had been
implemented and whilst the overwhelming response was positive it had
caused unexpected tax issues for some staff. She confirmed that it had
been agreed that bank staff would be given the option of weekly or
monthly pay.
Financial Performance Domain
Ms Cotterill provided an update on the financial performance as
follows:
At month 6, the income and expenditure position was £970k deficit
against a planned deficit of £994k year to date. The forecast deficit for
the full year to 31st March 2017 was reported in line with the revised
planned deficit of £1,129k.
The new Oversight Framework Score had been published giving the
Trust a shadow score of 2 which was better than anticipated.
She confirmed that it had been agreed to submit worst case scenario
figures of £5.2m deficit for collation within the STP, however she felt it
unlikely that NHSI would accept the STP plan due to the phasing of
savings. She anticipates the draft plan to Board identifying c.£3m
deficit which is in excess of the proffered control total. Discussion
followed on implications and options.
Ms Cotterill confirmed that discussions were taking place with TCT
Directors of Finance as to whether the control totals could be delivered
across a collective of bodies and reported as such in each plan.
Ms Cotterill reported that the contracting round is progressing and it is
hoped that contracts will be signed by the year end. She reported that
the report had been submitted stating Wolverhampton CCG to be an
associate with Sandwell CCG however Wolverhampton CCG have now
decided against this.
Ms Cotterill provided assurance to the Board around provisions and
confirmed that a prudent approach had been taken over the last 2
years, being very transparent with External Audit. She confirmed that a
number of provisions have been released this year but assured the
Board that where a provision has been required it has been provided
for and no risks will be underprovided for at year end.
Ms Cotterill confirmed that she had met with NHSI to discuss the
following key areas:
•
•

•

Current financial position – reassured by the consistent
message
Confirmed agreement to the approach to forecasting on plan, as
there was possibility of known factors closing some or all of the
gap
2017/18 planning with regard to control totals
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•
•

Cash
TCT update

IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report
(II) CIP POSITION
Ms Taylor provided an update on the CIP position and confirmed the
position remained as a red/amber risk which may cause an issue with
the achievement of the control total.
She highlighted the importance of monitoring in detail at the Finance &
Investment Committee and Board in order to balance the risk and
confirmed that at the end of quarter 3, the Board would need to be in a
position to decide whether the control total was going to be achieved.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report
BCP/0104/15
3/16

REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE

(I) FUTURE REPORTING OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Ms Cotterill presented the report which provided a summary of the key
points outlined in a letter issued by NHSI on 7th October 2016,
concerning new reporting requirements and protocols in relation to
Strengthening Financial Performance and Accountability 2016/17,
which had been reported to the Finance and Investment Committee.
She confirmed that any changes in the financial forecast had previously
been at the discretion of the Board however new guidance states that
this can only be amended at the end of quarter 2 and quarter 3. She
advised that governance arrangements were being reviewed to ensure
adequate timescales.
Ms Cotterill requested that the Board approved delegated authority, if
required, to the Chief Executive, Chair and Director of Finance for
agency returns.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to approve delegated authority, if required, to the Chief
Executive, Chair and Director of Finance for the
submission of agency returns.

BCP/0104/15
4/16

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS
(I) MERIT PROGRESS REPORT
Ms Cadman presented the report which provided an update on the

Page
11
Page
9 of 11

Ref

Item

Action
MERIT programme. She highlighted that the Trust was not currently
signed up to the bed management programme policy on the basis of
the risks posed to the operational delivery and local ownership of bed
management.
Dr Lidher confirmed that where there was capacity beds would be
offered to MERIT partners however it was recognised that good
governance was needed in order for the risk not to be passed on to the
organisation. She confirmed that a central booking system had been
proposed which the Trust had not agreed with.
Ms Newton raised that a question had been raised by MERIT Chairs in
relation to the business plan which was agreed to be available for
October 2016. Ms Cadman confirmed that she would follow up and
provide an update.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) Ms Cadman to follow up on the business plan and
provide an update.

(II) BLACK COUNTRY SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRANSFORMATION PLAN
Ms Cotterill confirmed that the submission was submitted in
accordance with national timescales, and that the financial position was
consistent with expectations.
Ms Newton asked whether the Local Authority had signed up to the
STP. Ms Cotterill confirmed that they hadn’t officially signed up but an
agreement was made that the submission could contain specific
terminology recognising that it hasn’t been through the appropriate
governance channels.
Ms Newton felt that there was a risk in the process due to the
difference in governance between the NHS and Local Authority.
Ms Cotterill confirmed that she would feedback these concerns.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i)
BCP/0104/15
5/16

To note the update

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(I) FINANCE & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE TERMS OF
REFERENCE
Mr Green presented the report which proposed revised terms of
reference for the Finance and Investment Committee, following the
disestablishment of the Turnaround Committee.
IT WAS RESOLVED:

Page
Page 10 12
of 11

Ref

Item

Action
(i)

BCP/0104/15
6/16

To approve the amendments to the Finance &
Investment Committee Terms of Reference

MINUTES OF SUB-COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
(I) MINUTES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE HELD 13TH JULY
2016
Noted for information.

BCP/0104/15
7/16

ANY OTHER BUSINESS (AS DECLARED IN OPENING MATTERS)
None.

BCP/0104/15
8/16

SUMMARY OF ACTIONS AGREED
• Approved the Emergency Preparedness Plan
• Approved the BAF
• Equality and Inclusion reporting to be reviewed

BCP/0104/15
9/16

ITEMS TO REFER TO BOARD SUB-COMMITTEE'S
• Community Mental Health Survey Action Plan (Quality and
Safety Committee)

BCP/0104/16
0/16

ITEMS TO REFER TO ASSEMBLY OF GOVERNORS
• CQC Update
• MERIT update

BCP/0104/16
0/16
BCP/0104/16
1/16

RISKS IDENTIFIED
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
Mr Green confirmed that the concern raised by the CQC was minor
and has now been resolved. He advised that a FIT and Proper Persons
Policy had been approved however was not subject to Internal Audit
review.

BCP/0104/16
2/16

REVIEW OF MEETING

The Chair thanked all for attending the Committee and closed the meeting
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Action Ref

Action

Public Board Meeting Action Log
Lead

270716/BCP/0104/115/ Report of the Chief Executive
16
(i) Five Year Forward View
Receive a report at the next meeting to provide a view
on capacity and clear priorities
270716/BCP/0104/117( Sustainability and Transformation Plan
i)/16
Include the plan on the website as soon as possible

Page 15

261016/BCP/0104/150/ Board Assurance Framework
JN to discuss future reporting of Equality and
16(i)
Inclusion Board with AG
261016/BCP/0104/150/ Board Assurance Framework
16(ii)
Increase risk 15 to a score of 20
261016/BCP/0104/150/
16(iv)
Report of Chair of Quality and Safety Committee
review reporting of serious incidents to the Board
261016/BCP/0104/154/
MERIT Progress Report
16(i)
JC to follow up on buisness plan and provide update

Comments

Date
Completed

Status

T Taylor

Nov-16

J Cadman/T
Taylor

Update Nov16

J Newton/
A Green

Update Nov16
Update Nov16

Open

Update Nov16

Open

A Green
A Green
J Newton

Open

Open

Open

Open
J Cadman

Nov-16

Items scheduled as per cycle of business that have been deferred
Item
By Whom
Register of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality
Register of Trust Seal
Complaints, Concerns and Compliments
(6 monthly update)
BAF

Required
Completion
Date

Due

A Green
A Green
J Fletcher
A Green

to be reviewed following
Board Strategy Meeting
on 23.11.16

Deferred to
Oct-16 on agenda
Oct-16 on agenda
on agenda
Oct-16
Nov-16
Jan-17
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Encl. 4

Board of Directors
Reference:
Date of Meeting:
Document Title:

Agenda Item no:
2016
Chief Executive Report

Enclosure no: 4

Current Significant Issues
Transforming Care Together (TCT)
Enabling and clinical work-streams are continuing to develop benefits and opportunities of the
partnership. Medical and Nursing Directors have provided senior clinical leadership to support
the development of clinical benefits. An Outline business Case is to be presented to Board
November 2016. BCP continues to have Executive, NED and clinical representation at monthly
TCT Partnership Boards meetings.

Black Country Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)
The Black Country STP was launched to the public on 21st November, which is the start of
wider conversations and engagement with users, carers and the public. For further information
on the STP please follow the link below http://sandwellandwestbhamccg.nhs.uk/better-healthand-care

Financial Control Total
As part of the overall NHS Improvement financial plan, the Trust has been allocated a control
total of £863k deficit in 2017/18. The Board will see from the financial reports we believe this is
not achievable as it would require CIPs of c.6.5%, on this basis the control total has been
rejected in our draft submission to NHSI.
A challenging but more acceptable control total has been proposed by the Trust however the
Board will need to assure itself that this will be deliverable, particularly the cost improvement
programme required.

Environmental Scan
The Trust is operating in a complex environment with challenges and opportunities across the
Health and Social Care System a diagrammatic representation is on page 4 on the
environmental scan.

Overview of Matters Requiring Approval
Register of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality
Use of Trust Seal
Constitution of the Trust

Page 17

Page 1 of 5

Summary of Trust Performance

Overall performance
Quality, Safety and Patient Experience maintaining good performance.
Challenges persist with management of delayed transfer of care for our patients at 9.8%.
Readmission rates return to within target this month, an improvement of 4% in month.
All other nationally monitored waiting time indicators are performing well.
Workforce
The linked indicators of turnover, vacancy and bank and agency usage all show a marginal
improvement in the right direction this month, though the level of vacancy remains a concern.
Sickness remains static and slightly over target at 5.6%.
Mandatory training basic level achieved with more work to do in specialist areas of training.

Finance
The Trust is reporting a £1,021k deficit against a planned deficit of £1,029k.
Variances to plan relate to :
•
Income –£57.6 million, a £1.4million adverse position.
•
Expenditure – £56 million, a £1.5 million favourable position.
•
Non-Operating Expenditure- £2.6 million year to date, £0.1 million adverse position.

CIP progress
Year to date performance at October over achievement against plan of 97k.
Forecast full year gap of £900k against the £6.3m target.
Opportunities from the revaluation of the estate will be reported in full in November reports, as
mitigation for the gap.

Organisation Structure and Personnel
Staff Survey
With just a week to go before the survey closes on 2nd December, the response rate for Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, as of 18th November is 37%. This puts the Trust
slightly behind the average response rate for other mental organisations sitting at 38%.

Flu
As of 23rd November the trust has achieved 44% immunisation of front line staff against the
75% target. Efforts will continue until the 31st December target to increase this rate.
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Update on Strategy Implementation
MERIT Vanguard
Vanguard funding is being allocated separately to the STPs, and Vanguards are therefore
required to submit plans for 2017/18 in line with the annual plan timetable. The MERIT
Vanguard plan describes the planned clinical, safety and quality improvements; a clear
engagement plan; milestones across the planning period and the financial plan required to
deliver them.

Board Risk Workshop held on

23rd

Risk and Compliance
November 2016 and revisions to BAF agreed.
Matters for Noting

Autumn Statement 2016
Shaping an economy that works for everyone- building Britain’s long term future.
Sharp decline of potential growth by 2.4% as predicted by the Office for Budget Responsibility.
Focused on capital investment in infrastructure with few references to public services.
Weaker outlook for the economy –no longer predicting surplus by 2020/1- due to impact of
Brexit, weakness in tax receipts and higher than expected local authority spending.
Inflation forecast to peak at 2.6%

Issues for Health
No announcements specific to the Department of Health or its budgets but a general note
“with the deficit still sizeable, control of public spending and delivery of efficiencies is vital.”
This means no change from the Nov 2015 spending review announcements of £10bn promised
by 2020-21.
Did not confirm health budgets would be protected when he promised a review of public
spending.
Disappointingly there was no mention of social care funding increases but the Chancellor
referenced he would be discussing social care investment issues with the Secretaries of State
for Health and Local Government.
The full NHS Providers on the day briefing can be accessed with the link below:
https://www.nhsproviders.org/media/2431/autumn-statement-2016-otdb.pdf
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Encl. 5.3

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Report from Finance & Investment Committee held on 24th
November 2016

Presented by:
Committee

Kathy McAteer, NED – Chair of Finance & Investment

Author:

Kathy McAteer, NED

Purpose:

Information and Recommendations

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.
None
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x

Relationship to High Level Risks:
N/A

Recommendation(s):
To note the summary of proceedings from the meeting of the committee held on
24th November 2016 and receive for information.
To take into account the comments of the Committee in relation to the Annual Plan,
noting the high risks and lack of assurance that the proposed plan is achievable. It
is recommended that the BoD ensure that they fully understand the financial
assumptions and significant risks before approving the Annual Plan on 12 th
December.
Equality & Diversity implications:

There are no implications to consider.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
x

Monitor:

 All aspects of governance assurance

x

Care Quality
Commission:

 National patient information survey
 Information Governance Toolkit

Other:
None:

N/A
N/A

Previous consideration
Board

N/A

N/A

N/A

Business &
Performance
Other

Audit
Quality & Safety

N/A

None

N/A

N/A

Executive Summary
A meeting of the Finance & Investment Committee was held on 24th November 2016
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and discussed the following:
1. Annual Plan:
The Committee considered the Annual Plan, taking into account the tight timescale
for submission and noting that there has not yet been full discussion of the proposals
with the executive. The Committee concurs that the allocated control total is not
deliverable and supports the proposal for a larger planned deficit of £3.2m for
2017/18 and £2.9m for 2018/19. However, at this stage of the planning process the
Committee has not been assured that these figures are realistic or achievable,
and is not fully confident about the organisations ability to deliver the Plan. It is
recommended that the BoD consider the key financial assumptions in detail as well
as receiving a detailed risk analysis prior to approving the Annual Plan on 12th
December. Of particular concern is the proposed CIP delivery target of 4.2%. Whilst
the Committee is assured that better processes are in place for planning and
monitoring CIP schemes it should be noted by the BoD that there are no clear
plans to deliver the proposed CIP of £4,200k in place and also to note that the
Executive are not able to give assurance that this is realistic or achievable until the
Gateway process has been completed next week. Of particular concern to the
Committee was the proposal that significant savings can be made from deleting
vacant posts. The Committee has requested a detailed report on vacancies to fully
understand the value of: vacancies being recruited to and/or covered by
bank/agency; the value of vacancies being held during transformation of services as
non recurring savings and the forecast value of the recurrent savings; vacancies that
have an impact on income quantifying the net impact of loss of income v savings;
the quantifiable value of vacancies that can realistically be disestablished. It was
noted that information on vacancies is readily available as it is presented to the
Quality & Safety Committee to give assurance on safe staffing levels.
Risks identified:
The following key risks were identified and will need to be presented in more detail
to the BoD:
- Lack of costed CIP plans as set out above, and historic non recurrent savings
(to note that the allocated Control Total assumes all non recurrent savings will
become recurrent)
- Inflation is based on national directive but appears unrealistically low
- Limited contingency or headroom
- Budgets based on forecast outturn when only 6 months through the current
year
- Assumptions regarding contractual negotiations that are still ongoing
- Dudley MCP may impact on future business and income
- Agency staff continues to be a pressure
- Due to the early submission date, budget setting has not been fully completed
In summary, though the Committee approved the submission of the draft Annual
Plan in line with the national deadline, the Committee has no assurance that this is
realistic or achievable.
2. CIP Programme:
The Committee received a comprehensive CIP monitoring report that shows that the
forecast position has improved slightly, with the forecast CIP position now being
£943k adverse, compared to £1.1m last month. It was noted that the year to date
position remains favourable and there has been positive movement across all
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divisions. The Committee feels better assured regarding the c£1m gap following the
successful re-valuation of estate.
3. Financial Position
The financial forecast is still on plan overall. The 3 main issues contributing to the
financial position continue to be the CIP, pay costs and loss of revenue relating to
under occupancy in some services. It was noted that the PDC is still adverse until
the outcome of the re-valuation has been approved by the external auditor and
implemented. It was noted that cash is still ahead of plan and debtors has improved.
4. Other areas of reassurance
The Committee received detailed reports on Budget Setting, Contractual
performance, High Level Risk Register, and Fixed Assets Accounting Treatment.
5. Approvals
The Committee approved the OASIS PAS contract renewal, subject to the DoF
finalising negotiations. It was noted that this represents good value for the Trust.
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Encl. 6.1

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Draft Operational Plan 2017/18-2018/19

Presented by:

Tracey Cotterill, Finance Director
Jo Cadman, Strategy & Transformation Director

Author:

Kuli Kaur-Wilson, Head of Transformation PMO
Angus Hughes, Deputy Director of Finance

Purpose:

For Information

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.

√

We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

√

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.

√

Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.

√

Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

√

None

Relationship to High Level Risks:

N/A
1
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Recommendation(s):

The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note the content of the DRAFT operational plan 2017/18-2018/19 as submitted
to NHS Improvement on 24th November 2016.

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:


NHSI Finance :
Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit

Business & Performance
M H Legislation Scrutiny

Quality & Safety
Other

Charitable Funds
None

2
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Executive Summary


In line with national timelines the Trust submitted its draft operational plan for the
period 2017/18 – 2018/18 on 24th November 2016.



As the national timelines for the submission of the draft operational plan was in
advance of the November Board of Director’s meeting, there was not an
opportunity for full Board review.



A copy of the draft plan as submitted is contained in Appendix One.



High level assumptions made within this plan are summarised in Appendix Two.



To ensure that the Board do have the opportunity to review and approve the final
plan prior to submission, a meeting of the Board of Directors has been
specifically convened for 12th December 2016.

3
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1.0 Introduction
This paper shares with the Board of Directors the draft operational plan for the period
2017/18-2018/19, as submitted to NHS Improvement (NHSI) on 24th November 2016
in line with the “NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019”.
2.0 Background
The planning and contracting timetable was brought forward this year, with an
expectation that Trust’s submit draft two-year operational plans by 24th November
2016, followed by final plans by 23rd December 2016.
This timetable has been very challenging, and in particular for BCPFT in light of the
preparations for the Care Quality Commission having a significant impact on the
capacity of teams during the planning period.
As the national timelines for the submission of the draft operational plan was in
advance of the November Board of Director’s meeting, there was not an opportunity
for full Board review. However to ensure that the Board do have the opportunity to
review and approve the final plan prior to submission, a meeting of the Board of
Directors has been specifically convened for 12th December 2016.
Key expectations of the operational plans include:
 Consistency with the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP);
 That they be supported by contracts with commissioners, signed by 23rd
December 2016;
 That they be aligned to Mental Health Five Year Forward View and the
transformation of care for people with learning disabilities (“Building the Right
Support”); and
 That they are realistic and deliverable, underpinned by coherent and wellmodelled financial projections.
3.0 Draft Operational Plan submission
BCPFT’s draft operational plan as submitted to NHSI is attached in Appendix One.
The following are key-points to highlight about this draft submission:
 The plan is submitted as a stand-alone organisation and as such does not reflect
the potential impact of Transforming Care Together, and therefore provides a
counterfactual to the strategic plan being developed;
 As a stand-alone organisation the Trust is rejecting the control total issued by
NHSI for 2017/18 as this would require cost improvements (CIP) of circa.6.5%.
Instead a deficit for 2017/18 of £3.15m has been forecast which still depends on
a stretching CIP delivery target of 4.2% - well above the national guideline of 2%.
 Plans for how the Trust will deliver this level of CIP are still in early stages of
development, and as such the feasibility of successful delivery to this target has
still to be confirmed.
 The forecast assumes that the anticipated contract income is achieved in the ongoing contract negotiations and any variation from this assumption will need to be
reflected in the final version of this plan.
4
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The 2018/19 plan has an indicative deficit of £2.9m based on an extrapolation of
2017/18 with an additional 2% CIP.
The plan identifies that there is a reasonable expectation that if the partnership
proceeds to current timelines, the three partner organisations could achieve the
aggregate control total in both years.
The plan identifies that based on the planned deficit; the Trust will have a
requirement for additional cash which may be met via inter-organisational loans
or Department of Health (DH) interim support / planned term support from Q1
2017/18.
High level assumptions made within this plan are contained in Appendix Two.

4.0 Final Operational Plan submission
The final version of the operational plan will be presented to the Board of Directors
for review and approval prior to submission on the 23rd December 2016. Leading up
to this period;
 Contract negotiations with our commissioners will continue, and the anticipated
outcomes of this will be reflected in the plan as appropriate;
 The commercially sensitive version of the operational plan (which will include for
example the risk schedule) is due for submission to NHSI in January 2018. This
information will form part of the pack that the Board of Directors will review and
approve on 12th December 2016.
 The Groups have been supported to develop their draft business plans, and
these include the identification of an initial set of transformation priorities and cost
improvement opportunities. These opportunities are currently being further
refined and will be tested through new gateway processes which will challenge
the robustness of plans, their impact and strategic fit and ultimately gain
assurance that savings plans are deliverable recurrently. Whilst this will not be
complete for the whole CIP programme prior to the final submission of the
operational plan, it is likely that NHSI will require a level of further detail regarding
cost improvement plans in the final submission.
 The transformation plans under development align to Mental Health Five Year
Forward View priorities, a summary assessment of which is contained in
Appendix Three.
5.0 Recommendation
The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note the content of the DRAFT operational plan 2017/18-2018/19 as submitted
to NHS Improvement on 24th November 2016.

Kuli Kaur-Wilson
Angus Hughes

Head of Transformation Programme Management Office
Deputy Director of Finance

Appendix 1 – Draft Operational Plan 2017/18 – 2018/19
Appendix 2 – Draft Annual Plan summary of assumptions
Appendix 3 - Mental Health Five Year Forward View Priority Actions by 2020/21

5
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Draft Operational Plan Document for 2017/18-2018/19
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
DRAFT: Subject to Trust Board of Directors Approval
This draft plan is being submitted in accordance with national timelines, but has
not had the opportunity for full Board review, as the submission date is in advance
of the Trust Board of Directors meeting. This draft plan will be presented at the
Board meeting of 30th November 2016, and the final plan will be considered at a
specially convened Board meeting of 12th December 2016, to enable the
submission deadline of 23rd December 2016 to be met.
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Annual Plan for y/e 31 March 2019
This document compiled by (and NHSI queries to be directed to):
Contact One
Name

Kuli Kaur-Wilson

Job Title

Head of Transformation Programme Management Office

e-mail address

Kuli.Kaur-wilson@bcpft.nhs.uk

Tel. no. for contact

0121 612 8126

Date

24th November 2016

Contact Two
Name

Angus Hughes

Job Title

Deputy Director of Finance

e-mail address

Angus.Hughes@bcpft.nhs.uk

Tel. no. for contact

0121 612 8076

Date

24th November 2016

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors by:
Name
(Chair)

Not signed
Draft document is still subject to Board of Directors approval

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors by:
Name
Not signed
(Chief Executive)
Draft document is still subject to Board of Directors approval
• This draft plan will be presented at the Board meeting of 30th November 2016, and the final plan will be
th

considered at a specially convened Board meeting of 12 December 2016, to enable the submission deadline of
rd
23 December 2016 to be met.
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1.0 Introduction
This plan describes and triangulates Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s
short-medium term operational objectives in line with the strategic ambitions of the Black
Country Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 2016-2019.
In October 2016 inspectors from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertook a second
assessment of whether the Trust’s services were safe, caring, effective, well led and
responsive. Whilst the Trust still awaits the results of this inspection, initial feedback from the
inspectors included:
• Praise that our staff were consistently caring, driven, motivated and innovative,
• That they consistently found good care plans and risk assessments across all
services,
• That Patient feedback had been exceptionally positive,
• That Physical health care in the planned care services was excellent.
The final report and any areas for further development will inform our priorities over this
planning period.
The Trust has a number of workforce priorities aligned to our staff opinion survey with key
themes including levels of staff engagement, team working, systems for raising concerns,
staff well-being and the experience of our workforce (e.g. equality of opportunity). The
organisation has engaged with the workforce and implemented a number of solutions
aligned to these priorities including the development of ‘speak up champions’, a healthy
eating campaign, complimentary exercise classes, executive-led job/career pathways
discussions and ensuring that staff know how to raise concerns. All developments are
communicated to the workforce through a ‘you said, we did’ approach.
At a time of unprecedented change the Trust has continued to lead, and engage in, an
increasing number of partnerships across the local health economy. This extended
collaboration underpins our ambitions for service transformation, productivity and efficiency
at local level, and enhances our ability to drive sustainable improvements described in the
Five Year Forward View for Mental Health:
• Through the route map of the Black Country STP, we are seeking to realise a reduction
in unwarranted variation in quality of care, to standardise services and to enable
improved resource utilisation across our Black Country footprint,
• Through the ‘Transforming Care Together’ (TCT) strategic partnership between
Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, Dudley & Walsall Mental
Health Partnership NHS Trust and our Trust, we continue to harness the strengths of our
uniquely aligned services (Mental Health, Learning Disabilities & Children’s Young
People and Families) to identify and deliver synergies that will benefit our communities,
our staff and our stakeholders, and
• Through the Mental Health Excellence, Resilience, Innovation and Training (MERIT)
vanguard we are driving improvements to Adult Mental Health services through crisis
care, and developing approaches to enhance and embed recovery practices and
community engagement.
At the heart of all of our partnerships remains our commitment to ensuring that service
developments are designed and delivered in the best interest of our local communities, to
deliver the right care, at the right time, delivered in the right place, by the right people long
into the future.
The financial position of the Trust has continued to deteriorate, with a deficit forecast for
2016/17 leading to increased pressure on cash. Whilst a number of efficiencies have been
delivered in the current financial year, many of them were non-recurrent and therefore it is
anticipated that there will be an increase in the deficit until a strategic partnership solution
can be delivered. It was hoped that the new partnership would be able to take effect from
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April 2017, but this is now not likely to be until quarter three of 2017/18. As a stand alone
organisation the Trust would not be able to achieve the £863k deficit control total (before
Sustainability and Transformation Funding), as this would require CIPs of c.6.5% which the
Board does not believe is credible. Instead a deficit for 2017/18 of £3.15m has been forecast
which still depends on a stretching CIP delivery target of 4.2% (well above the national
guideline of 2%), and for which plans are still in the early stages of development resulting in
the feasibility of delivery still to be determined. The forecast also assumes that anticipated
contract income is achieved in the on-going contract negotiations and any variation from this
assumption will need to be reflected in the final version of this plan. There is, however, a
reasonable expectation that if the partnership proceeds to current timelines, the three
partner organisations could achieve the aggregate control total.
The Trust will not have sufficient cash to meet its needs in the year ahead, and is in
discussion with organisations in the local health economy to support liquidity; however this
support will be dependent upon the strategic partnership being achieved to provide the
mechanism for repayment. There may be a requirement for access to the working capital
fund and/or distressed finance in year. The template has been completed based on the
assumption that working capital funding will be drawn down in year to avoid negative cash
balances.

4
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2.0 Activity Planning
The Trust continues to deliver services in both hospital and community settings. Inpatient
services are monitored in terms of occupied bed days, and community activity through a
combination of outpatient attendances and community contacts. Contracts with main
commissioners are primarily set on a block basis, with activity reported for information.
Annual plans have been set on forecast outturn, adjusted to reflect any agreed service
changes arising from developments or efficiency targets. There is an agreement with
commissioners to commence a review of the currencies and tariffs across service lines in
order to move towards cost and volume in the future, with the initial period being a shadow
format. The following summarises the Trust’s draft activity plan for this planning period:

•

•

•

•

•

The Trust is just above the national average of number of Mental Health beds (Adult and
Older People), and it is particularly difficult to predict peaks and troughs in demand with
admission not following the recognised patterns seen in physical health. In general,
occupancy of 85% is planned for these beds;
In line with national direction of ‘Building the Right Support’ the Trust is planning on
reviewing the number of Learning Disability Assessment and Treatment beds it provides
during 2017/18, and will work closely with Commissioners to ensure that the complex
needs of this service user group continue to be met;
Our Acute beds are high turnover beds and as such significant focus is given to the
patient’s pathway through acute beds ensuring that their length of stay is managed and
robust discharge planning is in place. This supports both the need for bed availability for
emergency admissions, and a reduced reliance on out-of-area placements;
Our Specialist beds have a lower turnover and the potential for waiting lists and as such
aim to be 100% occupied. The trust employs a marketing strategy to ensure
commissioners are aware of the current bed state and any upcoming discharges;
Community contacts have a direct correlation with the workforce available to deliver the
contacts, and as such activity mapping is undertaken as part of each contracting round
focussing primarily on services which are newly developed have undergone changes in
working practice, or services where activity performance is not within the agreed
tolerances. Activity modelling includes use of recognised capacity demand modelling e.g.
CAPA (Choice and Partnership Approach);

5
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•

•

•

Delayed Transfer of Care continue to be a significant issue for the Trust with the main
impact being around Mental Health and specifically older adult services. The Trust has
been proactive in trying to manage and reduce the number of delays and has instigated
a number of new processes to ensure that delays are identified and flagged to all
relevant partners and commissioners on a weekly basis as well as escalating the
ongoing issues both from a clinical perspective but also a contractual one.
The Trust has also reviewed the way in which bed management is approached and
actively approached commissioners and local authority representatives to be part of our
weekly meetings in reviewing all cases, to ensure any blocks are addressed and
removed to allow for patient transition. In addition, we are continually looking to review
supporting policies to identify opportunities to strengthen the discharge process and
improve the approach to discharge to ensure that patients do not get delayed.
The Trust is using the emergence nationally of A&E boards as an opportunity to tackle
the delays we are currently experiencing, and in particular Sandwell and Wolverhampton
A&E boards have agreed to support the Trust in a focused piece of work to reduce
delays which will ultimately have a positive impact across the Health economy.
Mental Health core access standards:
o The Trust has continued to perform well in delivering core mental health access
standards in Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services;
o In line with local transformation plans the Trust is continuing to address underperformance in relation to Early Intervention access, and in particular the key
challenge of DNA rates. Whilst all referrals are offered an appointment within two
weeks, the Trust has developed and implemented a number of interventions to
increase the likelihood of attendance (e.g. extended opening hours) and will
continue to develop this approach over this planning period.
o A further priority of the Trust over the planning period will be to plan for, and seek
to deliver against, anticipated access targets in Eating Disorder services.

3.0 Quality Planning
3.1 Approach to Quality Governance
Led by the Executive Director of Nursing, Allied Health Professionals and Governance the
Trust has developed a range of policies, systems and processes, which together comprise
an integrated assurance and escalation framework for quality and performance. Utilising the
three dimensions of quality defined in ‘High Quality Care for All’, the Trust has embedded a
clear definition of quality and quality governance. The Trust routinely reports quality
measures from ward to board level, through clinical quality scorecards and reports. Data
quality is assured through the Trust’s data quality governance structures, with the Board of
Directors confirming a statement of compliance within the Trust’s Quality Report.
3.2 Quality Improvement Plan
The Trust’s quality improvement plan in relation to local and national initiatives includes:
National
The Trust participates in the National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes
clinical audits Programme. Due to the paucity of national audits for mental health
services, the Trust also participates in the Royal College of Psychiatrists
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health, which provides the nearest
equivalent. This commitment will continue over the planning period, as
participation enables the Trust to benchmark its performance against
nationally agreed standards with up to 55 other mental health trusts.
Safe staffing
The Trust has implemented a score card approach for reporting Safer
Sustainable and Productive Staffing, this approach has embraced the
principles set out in the new guidance building on the existing triangulation
of data with a more strategic longitudinal oversight. It reflects more timely
access to data and builds on the current ward to board review of safe,
sustainable and productive staffing. Clinical front line ward managers and
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teams are fully engaged in this agenda and contribute to local safe staffing
reporting for their specific wards with reporting through the Quality and
Safety Groups and Quality and Safety Steering Group.
The Trust also undertook a self-assessment using the ‘Monitor/TDA (NHSI)
Diagnostic Tool to reduce the use of Agency’ with the overall aim of
eliminating agency use. This has resulted in a number of on-going
developments including:
• ‘At a Glance’ Carter style dashboard reports which have been
developed at ward level to ensure staff teams are fully engaged and
understand the financial as well as the quality impacts of safe staffing,
supporting solution focused discussions at the front line.
• A recruitment campaign targeting agency workers to join the Trust as
permanent staff and/or the Trust bank.
• Roster management workshops incorporating recent national guidance
and Lord Carter recommendations regarding making the best use of
roster management systems to support flexibility in deployment and
redeployment of staff.
• Safe Staffing Escalation meetings across clinical Groups to monitor use
of bank/agency to understand the clinical risks and to support staff
redeployment. In addition, a ‘sign off’ process has been put in place for
agency usage requests.
The Trust will participate in the NHSI Mental Health Collaborative focused
on the reduction of use of clinical observations in the autumn of 2016.
The Trust will continue to participate in a number of service improvement
Mental
exercises aimed at ensuring compliance with, and achieving excellence in
Health
mental health standards. This includes:
Standards
• Following participation in the National Audit of Early Intervention in
Psychosis (EIP) Services, the Trust is participating in a Royal College
of Psychiatrists quality assessment and improvement programme.
Based on the new national standards for EIP Services this programme
will provide the Trust with a framework, self-assessment tool and a
performance assessment scale to embed and sustain improvements.
• The National Association of Psychiatric Intensive Care Units (NAPICU)
audit of practice standards,
• The Forensic Quality Network (Mental Health Services) annual peer
review and self-assessment by NHS England’s Specialist
Commissioners Quality Surveillance Programme,
• The annual Royal College of Psychiatrists ECT Accreditation Service to
assure and improve the quality of electroconvulsive therapy,
• The West Midlands Quality Review Service to develop pathways and
quality standards for mental health services,
• The Institute of Psychiatry’s Safewards Initiative.
Better Births In line with this priority agenda the Trust intends to continue to work with its
partnerships to develop a perinatal mental health services clinical pathway.
review
In response to the Mazars report into the deaths of patients receiving
Quality of
services from Southern Healthcare NHS FT, the Trust undertook a review
mortality
of existing processes to report, investigate and learn lessons from both
review, and
expected and unexpected deaths.
Serious
The review provided assurance to the board that appropriate systems and
Incident
investigation. processes were in place and that all unexpected deaths are reported and
investigated in line with current guidance.
Led by NHSE and CQC, the Trust is also actively involved in the national
development of a mortality tool for mental health and learning disabilities..
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Reducing
restrictive
interventions

Safeguarding

Improving
safety and
reducing
harm

Improving
clinical
effectiveness
and
outcomes

The Trust has implemented its ‘Restrictive Intervention Reduction
Programme’ and delivered against the majority of the recommendations
outlined within Department of Health Positive and Proactive (2014)
guidance. In addition further local objectives relating to blanket restrictions
across inpatient areas, and the implementation of Safe-wards ensuring that
in patient areas provide environmentally safe and therapeutic spaces have
been progressed. Assurance against delivery of this programme will
continue through the Quality and Safety Steering Groups.
The Trust’s philosophy in safeguarding children and adults in our care is
based on the ‘think family’ model. To embed this model the Trust has a
Safeguarding strategy in place, and has created a link worker role in
clinical areas. In particular to note, the Trust has developed and
implemented an action plan to train staff in the recognition,
management, and escalation of the two key priorities of Female Genital
Mutilation, and Child sexual exploitation.
The Trust’s has implemented and embedded systems and processes to
improve safety and reduce harm, including:
• Continued compliance with the regulatory standards of the Care Quality
Commission, NHS Litigation Authority, National Patient Safety Agency,
Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency and Health
Protection Agency,
• Surveillance and weekly monitoring of the incidence of infections
across each division, and wherever possible prevention and control of
the risk of infection to people who use our services,
• Appointment of risk facilitators to work with clinical staff within each
division,
• Further development of the Trust’s incident reporting system to enable
full use of its functionality,
• Monthly review of all serious untoward incidents with commissioners,
• Focus on what lessons staff can learn from serious incidents that have
taken place,
• Root cause analysis training and workshops for clinical staff.
Across the Trust, clinical teams engage in continuous, evidence-based
quality improvement, making use of the best evidence based practice to
provide improved outcomes for people who use our services. The Trust
demonstrates its progress in this area to service users and other
stakeholders, and listens to, and act upon their feedback through a number
of means and this is monitored through:
• clinical quality dashboards and scorecard,
• Monthly divisional quality and safety reports,
• Annual compliance reports from committees e.g.: clinical audit,
research, medicines management, and infection prevention/control,
• Successful delivery of CQUIN,
• Participation in national clinical audits and research
• Review of current quality standards and accreditation schemes,
• Continued compliance with regulatory quality standards,
• Engagement of Assembly of Governors.
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Improving
service user
and carer
experience

Improving the
accessibility
and quality of
information
available to
service users
and carers

The feedback that the Trust receives about the quality of the experience of
service users is integral, and central to this is an acknowledgement that
wherever possible, the Trust will seek to recruit people who have used our
services, or similar services, to carry out this role and act independently
and empathetically with the person they are asking the views and opinions
of. In particular, their expertise seeks to positively impact any reluctance to
comment on the more negative aspects of care, which if left unaddressed
could hinder opportunities for learning and service improvement.
The Black Country is an ethnically diverse area made up of people from
many different cultures, communities, and backgrounds. Being responsive
to the diverse range of people in the Black Country is a responsibility the
Trust takes very seriously, and aims to provide person-centred, accessible,
and effective services for all people. The Trust is committed to promoting
equality and diversity, both in the services we provide and as an employer.
To ensure equality of access we recognise that patient information must be
provided in alternative formats to meet the specific requirements of
different service user groups e.g. large print, the use of more symbols and
pictures, braille, as well as in other languages for people whose first
language is not English. This is in place, together with development of and
accessible website for patients with a learning disability.

3.3 Quality Impact Assessment Process
In order to support the development of meaningful efficiency and transformation
programmes the Trust is intending to strengthen its gateway processes which will assess
how likely a project is to deliver its anticipated outcomes, including without adversely
impacting on the quality and safety of services. The gateway panels will provide an
opportunity to challenge the robustness of plans, their impact and strategic fit and ultimately
to gain assurance that plans are deliverable recurrently. They will provide a forum for joinedup Executive-level oversight of the cost improvement programme (CIP) and an opportunity
to gain assurance on plans ahead of implementation. The responsibility to develop and
present plans for change and their probable impact will remain with divisional and clinical
leads, and at all stages of the gateway process plans for change will be presented hand-inhand with relevant quality indicators that can be monitored through the life of the project.
CIP’s are risk assessed in line with the Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) and Equality
Impact Assessment (EIA) process, with QIA’s being assessed against the CQC domains.
Any high level risks identified are recorded as appropriate on the Trust Risk Register, which
is then reported monthly to Trust Board. All plans are reviewed at six monthly intervals and
then again after implementation, when they again have a QIA and EIA completed.
3.4 Triangulation of quality with workforce and finance
The Trust has systems and processes in place (as described in the Board Assurance
Escalation Framework), to monitor quality, activity, financial and workforce data, and the
Trust is taking steps to improve its overall performance approach, e.g. in October 2016 the
Trust introduced a new integrated performance report which will enhance the ability of the
Board to triangulate key performance indicators, enabling the identification and prioritisation
of trends, issues or concerns for action. The introduction of a Trust level balanced scorecard
has identified appropriate performance targets that will be measured and reported, this will
support triangulation of quality, workforce and finance as the scorecard includes a range of
performance measures that relate to Safety, Quality, Patient Experience, Workforce and
Efficiency.
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4.0 Workforce planning
Across the Trust Divisions take a lead in developing their business plans articulating their
priorities over the planning period including those that relate to their transformational,
financial, and quality priorities, as aligned to the overall strategic objectives of the Trust.
Based on these plans the Trust models its workforce requirements, which are summarised
below for the year ahead:

*The planning assumptions made above will be further developed within the transformation programme.

The Trust’s Workforce Committee overseas a range of strategic priorities including:
• Aligned to the 5 Year Forward View for Mental Health the Trust is delivering
transformational change across a range of priority areas including IAPT, CAMHS,
Early Intervention and Eating Disorders services with a key objective of improving
access to mental health services. These developments have attracted
transformational funding from our main commissioners, and a key priority for the
Trust is ensuring that we have a sufficient pool of suitably qualified staff to meet
these needs;
• Developing plans to deliver against the Apprenticeship Levy, with a key focus on
addressing the infrastructure required to support this development agenda in addition
to the financial impact on the Trust;
• Improving staff engagement and communication to support the developing
organisational development agenda;
• The development of leadership and teams at all levels as part of our shaping our
future programme, supported by a range of external programmes for senior leaders
utilising the National Leadership Academy and wider partners;
• Undertaking a cultural diagnostic across the organisation alongside a range of other
NHS Trust’s in the Black Country to determine not only where our cultures align, but
where we can work together more effectively in partnerships to provide better
outcomes and cost improvements;
• Addressing recruitment and retention challenges, identifying innovative solutions to
reduce high vacancy levels including improvements to the time taken to appoint;
• Embedding a culture of staff health and wellbeing, ensuring full CQUIN compliance
and as a planned outcome reducing sickness absence levels across the Trust;
• Improving efficiency of workforce systems: implementation and further development
of Electronic Staff Record (ESR) ‘Manager self-service’;
• Addressing the challenges of an ageing workforce with the development of new roles
and succession planning;
• Improving the response rate to the staff survey through a variety of staff engagement
methods for example the use of electronic surveys to make access easier for staff;
and delivering a more outcome focussed approach to the detailed feedback the
survey provides;
• Implementation of the new junior doctors contract in line with national timeframe, and
• Reducing reliance on temporary staffing ensuring compliance with national agency
caps.
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The Trust is operating within NHS Improvement guidelines in relation to the use of
framework agencies, and the agency rate caps, furthermore,
• DePoel have been appointed as the Trust’s ‘neutral vendor’ in order to provide a
consistent approach to requesting and booking agency workers and standardised rates.
• The Trust has in place an electronic rostering system which enables the Trust to report
on safe staffing levels and maximise resource utilisation supporting the continued
reduction in bank and agency spend across the Trust.
• Rosters for inpatient areas are developed eight weeks in advance, however to further
reduce reliance on agency a number of actions are being taken by the Trust including to
reduce the length of time to fill vacancies, and to increase the numbers of staff available
on the internal bank (e.g. through the introduction of weekly bank pay and an on-going
recruitment campaign).
• The reduction of agency spend is also a key priority within the Trust’s strategic
partnerships of MERIT and TCT where joint solutions for recruitment and bank use are
being explored and implemented.
The Trust is actively working with a number of partners to achieve workforce efficiencies and
service transformation to ensure organisational sustainability moving forward including as a
partner in the Mental Health Alliance for Excellence, Resilience, Innovation and Training
(MERIT) Vanguard where the Trust is actively leading the workforce agenda across the
region. Through the Trust’s strategic partnership programme (Transforming Care Together)
the Trust will develop opportunities to deliver workforce (and in particular back-office)
efficiencies, aligned to the STP, and in partnership with Dudley Multispecialty Community
Provider the Trust will manage any impact of the proposed new model of care on our
existing workforce.
5.0 Financial planning
5.1 Financial Forecasts and Modelling
5.1.1 2016/17 Outturn
The 2016/17 plan reported a financial deficit of £1,129k, underpinned by a number of risks
as this was understood to be a challenging target. It is recognised that the Trust is unlikely to
be financially sustainable in its current form in the longer term, and the Board of Directors
continue to review the strategic partnership options available to determine the future
sustainability of the services it provides.
The 2016/17 forecast outturn is in line with plan, and will be reviewed at Q3 in line with
recent NHSI guidance. There continue to be challenges in meeting the deficit of £1,129k
due to the difficulty in identifying cost improvement savings. The total value of non-recurrent
savings will also have an adverse impact on the performance target for 2017/18.
The Trust’s forecast financial position for 2016/17 gives a Financial Sustainability Risk
Rating (FSRR) score of 2, in line with the plan. Adopting the new approach introduced in the
Single Oversight Framework, the Trust is forecasting a Finance and Use of Resources
metric of 3, although the shadow rating from NHSI is 2. The measures are not comparable
due to changes in the metric criteria. The risk rating has been adversely affected by the
introduction of a metric to measure agency spending against the annual cap. The Trust is
forecasting to exceed this cap.
5.1.2 Assumptions within Operational Annual Plan 2017/18 & 2018/19
As part of the overall NHS Improvement financial plan, the Trust has been allocated a
control total of £241k deficit in 2017/18, followed by £669k surplus for 2018/19. These
targets include an allocation from the Sustainability and Transformation Fund of £622k in
each year, which is dependent upon achieving the control total in each year.
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As a stand-alone organisation the Trust cannot achieve the control total as this would require
CIPs of c.6.5% which the Board does not believe is credible. Instead a deficit for 2017/18 of
£3.15m has been forecast which still depends on a stretching CIP delivery target of 4.2% well above the national guideline of 2%. Similarly, 2018/19 plan has an indicative deficit of
£2.9m based on an extrapolation of 2017/18 with an additional 2% CIP. There is, however, a
reasonable expectation that if the partnership proceeds to current timelines, the three
partner organisations could achieve the aggregate control total in both years. The
partnership agreement is progressing with outline business cases being presented to all
partner Boards imminently.
In preparing the annual plan the Trust has incorporated assumptions made within the five
year Black Country STP submission in order to ensure consistency is applied, and that all
planning forums are effectively tri-angulated. However, the organisational plan does not
reflect the potential impact of the partnership, and therefore this plan provides a
counterfactual to the strategic plan being developed. There are some assumptions around
contract income whilst negotiations are on-going, and this may require adjustment in the final
plan.
Based on the planned deficit, the Trust will have a requirement for additional cash which
may be met via inter-organisational loans or Department of Health (DH) interim support /
planned term support from Q1 2017/18.

Operating Income
Operating Expenses
Non-operating
Surplus/Deficit

Q1
£m
24.798
(24.945)
(0.892)
(1.039)

Q2
£m
24.798
(24.798)
(0.892)
(0.892)

Q3
£m
24.798
(24.624)
(0.892)
(0.718)

Q4
£m
24.798
(24.401)
(0.892)
(0.495)

2017/18
£m
99.190
(98.768)
(3.567)
(3.145)

2018/19
£m
99.289
(98.534)
(3.624)
(2.869)

Whilst the two year plan is based on current knowledge and status of existing negotiations,
there are still significant risks to be mitigated within the planning assumptions:
• The planned income position is set at a realistic level however a reduction in the planned
income could have a negative impact on the operating position, with many costs
associated with the income fixed.
• The CIP challenge is exacerbated by historic Non-Recurrent delivery of plans.
• The ability for the Trust to operate as a going concern will deteriorate due to the planned
deficit leading to liquidity issues.
• Given the cash constraints the capital plans for 2017/18 and 2018/19 have been scaled
back from previous submissions, with clinical risk and patient safety spend given priority.
The information within the financial plan reported below highlights the assumptions and
outputs from the Trust’s financial model. The assumptions will be considered and assessed
through the Board of Directors and its relevant sub-committees.
5.1.3 Income
The following table shows the income position included in the 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial
plan, with 2016/17 figures for comparative purposes:
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Element

2016/17 Out
Turn £000's

Baseline
Service Development
Sustainability Funding

99,079
0
450

2017/18
2018/19
%
%
Value in
Value in
Movement
Movement
Plan £000's
Plan £000's
99,003
0%
99,102
0%
187
100%
187
0%
0
-100%
0
0%

99,529

99,190

0%

99,289

0%

The anticipated values for the main contracts by Commissioner are shown in the table below
(developments and income generation are not included within this table). All contracts are
due to be signed by 23rd December 2016. The plan is based on the most recent discussions
with commissioners where this has been possible within the timescales set in the operational
planning guidance for 2017/19.
Key variances from 2016/17 out-turn to 2017/18 plan relate to:
• An overall 0.1% net inflationary uplift in income of £0.09m;
o Efficiency in tariff of £(1.9)m
o Gross inflationary uplift of £2m
• Service Developments in 2017/18 of £0.2m;
• Reduction for Sustainability and Transformation funding of £(0.5)m;
• Impact of underlying demand and volume changes £0.3m;
• FYE of 2016/17 service development in Home Treatment of £0.2m;
• Decommissioning of one service £(0.1)m
• CQUIN Risk reserve of £(0.4)m conditional on delivery of prior year control total;
• Other changes totalling a reduction of £(0.1)m;
• 2018/19 Income assumes the Trust will successfully retain all services that are to be
transferred into the Multi-specialty Community Provider plan within Dudley.
Contract (Contract values excluding
developments and income generation)

2017/18 % of Trusts 2018/19 % of Trusts
Value in
Income
Value in
Income
Plan £000's
17/18
Plan £000's
18/19

Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG

35,620

36%

35,656

36%

Wolverhampton CCG

29,545

30%

29,575

30%

Dudley CCG

12,021

12%

12,033

12%

NHS England - West Midlands
Commissioning Hub (Gerry Simon, NHS
Liaison and Police diversion)
Walsall CCG & MBC

3,979

4%

3,983

4%

2,637

3%

2,640

3%

Spot Purchases & Non Contract Activity

2,293

2%

2,295

2%

Birmingham CCG

3,792

4%

3,796

4%

Dudley Public Health

4,786

5%

4,791

5%

Education & Training

1,940

2%

1,942

2%

Other Contracts (individually less than 1% of
income each)

2,389

2%

2,391

2%

99,003

99,102

5.1.4 Expenditure
Given the timing of the submission of the annual plan, the unaudited month 6 forecast
position for 2016/17 has been used as the indicative out-turn.
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The following table reflects the expected costs in 2017-19 including the impact of inflation,
known adjustments identified through budget setting, service developments and cost
improvement programmes.

Element
Pay (inc Agency & Bank)
Drugs
Clinical Supplies
Non-Clinical Supplies
Non-Operating Costs

2016/17 Out
Turn £000's
81,111
1,413
719
13,002
4,411
100,656

2017/18
2018/19
%
%
Value in
Value in
Movement
Movement
Plan £000's
Plan £000's
81,441
0%
81,027
-1%
1,417
0%
1,431
1%
825
15%
833
1%
15,085
16%
15,242
1%
3,567
-19%
3,624
2%
102,335
2%
102,158
0%

The key variances between the 2017/18 plan and the 2016/17 draft outturn relate to:
• 2017/18 Pay Inflation of £1.2m (includes incremental drift)
• 2017/18 Cost Improvement Programmes (CIP) of (£4.2m);
• 2017/18 Annual Apprenticeship Levy £0.3m
• 2016/17 Non-Recurrent CIP achievement £3.6m;
• 2016/17 CAMHS Non-Recurrent Transformation Spend (£0.5m)
• 2016/17 Non Recurrent Benefits £2.9m
• Reduction in Bank & Agency Spend (£1.8)
The 2018/19 movements are driven by inflation, with 2% CIP offsetting 1.5% pay inflation.
Planned agency and bank pay costs are lower than 2016/17 forecast out-turn. This
difference arises from the continued and improving control of agency staff usage. The bank
budget has been set at £3,199k and the agency budget has been set at £3,534k for both
years of the plan, the agency budget being set in accordance with the agency cap. The
Trust has seen a downward trend through the current year, and anticipates further
reductions over coming months before stabilising at a sustainable level.
Expenditure is based upon operational expectations for 2017-19, with £100k set aside within
the plan for sustainability costs. The established partnership between ourselves, BCHC
NHSFT and DWMHP NHST is progressing well and there is an expectation that central
funding may be required to support restructuring and investment in transformation. The
underlying principle of the need for material support from an external source is clear. We
request that this is noted by NHS Improvement and discussed with the partnership in the
regular review meetings.
5.1.5 Inflation
National guidance includes an overall net inflator of 0.1%, composed of tariff inflation of
2.1% less an efficiency factor of 2.0%. This results in an increase in income of £0.09m.
Expenditure inflation has been applied as follows:
• Pay inflation – 1.0%; in line with the national guidance.
• Non Pay inflation – 0%; RPI is currently at 2% (September 2016; CPI 1%).
5.1.6 Non-operating items - Depreciation and PDC Dividend
The full year deprecation charge for 2017/18 is planned at £1,796k, a reduction of £361k
from the forecast 2016/17 annual charge and £1,909k for 2018/19. In 2016/17 the Trust is
adopting the modern equivalent asset approach to valuing its land and buildings. This will
result in a significant reduction in the asset base, associated annual depreciation charge and
PDC charges going forward. The savings in depreciation are partially offset by the transfer of
IT capital schemes from WIP to Assets in use.
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Depreciation
PDC
Finance Costs

Q1
£m
(0.449)
(0.318)
(0.125)
(0.892)

Q2
£m
(0.449)
(0.318)
(0.125)
(0.892)

Q3
£m
(0.449)
(0.318)
(0.125)
(0.892)

Q4
£m
(0.449)
(0.318)
(0.125)
(0.892)

2017/18
£m
(1.796)
(1.271)
(0.500)
(3.567)

2018/19
£m
(1.909)
(1.215)
(0.500)
(3.624)

The PDC dividend has been estimated on the basis of the average forecast net asset values
at 31st March 2017 and 31st March 2018 with a deduction made for the average cash
balance over the financial year. The plan reflects a decrease of £459k to £1,271k in
2017/18. A similar approach is applied to 2018/19 leading to a charge of £1,215k.
5.1.7 Cash Balances
The movement in the cash balance over the twelve month period reflects the forecast deficit,
anticipated movements in working capital and capital expenditure (capital expenditure is
largely offset by the full year depreciation charge).

Cash Balances pre drawdown
Drawdown facility
Cash Balances post drawdown

2016/17
2018/19
2017/18 Plan
FOT
Plan
Q4 £000's Q1 £000's Q2 £000's Q3 £000's Q4 £000's Q4 £000's
716
61
(1,297)
(1,726)
(2,558)
(4,746)
0
1,500
2,200
3,000
5,000
716
61
203
474
442
254

The cash balance reflects use of working capital facility, with £3m funding required in
2017/18 and an incremental £2m in 2018/19 to bring the total to £5m. The financial template
has been completed on the basis that drawdowns will be made as required, however, the
Trust will aim to secure short term cash support within the local health economy to support
liquidity if possible. Any local support will be dependent upon the strategic partnership being
achieved to provide the mechanism for repayment.
The 2016/17 forecast out-turn cash position is £0.2m above plan. This is attributable to
phasing of cash payments relating to transformational projects which were planned for early
in 2016/17 but are yet to be fully incurred. In addition to this the Trust is managing cash
closely with tight controls on creditor payments and effective debt management processes.
5.1.8 Finance and Use of Resources Metric
The Finance and use of Resources metric shadow rating from NHSI is 2 but this is expected
to be at 3 by the end of 2017/18. The implications of this could be increased scrutiny by
Monitor of the Trust’s financial performance, planning and sustainability initiatives. However,
the Trust has been working closely with Monitor and NHSI over the last year and been able
to provide assurance over the initiatives being taken.
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Capital Service Capacity

2016/17
FOT
Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2018/19
Plan
Q4

2

4

4

4

4

4

4
4
4
3
4

4
4
4
2
4

4
4
4
2
4

4
4
4
1
3

4
4
4
1
3

2017/18 Plan

Liquidity
1
I&E Margin
1
Variance in I&E Margin
3
Agency spend - distance from cap
Use of Resource
*2
* Financial Sustainability Risk Rating for M6 FOT

5.2 Efficiency savings for 2017/18 & 2018/19
5.2.1 Cost Improvement Programme
As previously noted the plan requires a challenging CIP target for 2017/18 at £4,200k or c.
4.2%. A further CIP target of 2% is incorporated in 2018/19 in line with national guidelines.
This will be reviewed for the final submission.
Efficiency savings plans are currently in early stages of development to ascertain whether
these targets can be delivered. The plans are anticipated to focus on cost reduction plans
where possible, but also identify potential opportunities for revenue generation.
Benchmarking metrics will be considered to ensure that all opportunities for efficiency
improvements are planned for, and additional opportunities for efficiency improvements from
STP or other local partnership arrangements will be identified and incorporated into the
savings plan as they arise.
5.2.2 Agency Rules
Agency reduction is a key priority of the professional boards across the Trust, and a key
objective of Executive leads. Monitoring of agency spend takes place at various levels of the
organisation, with daily and weekly reports at divisional level, and monthly reporting through
to Finance and Investment Committee and other Board sub-committees. The process and
resource for agency bookings is centralised and there are intentions to strengthen this to
ensure increased compliance. Rosters for inpatient areas are developed eight weeks in
advance, however to further reduce reliance on agency a number of actions are being taken
by the Trust; including to reduce the length of time to fill vacancies, and to increase the
numbers of staff available on the internal bank (e.g. through the introduction of weekly bank
pay and an on-going recruitment campaign). The reduction of agency spend is also a key
priority within the Trust’s strategic partnerships of MERIT and TCT where joint solutions for
recruitment and bank use are being explored and implemented.
5.3 Capital Planning
5.3.1 Requirement for capital investment in infrastructure
There have been significant improvements in the IT infrastructure predominately financed
during 2015-17, but additional investment is required to support electronic health records
and the digital roadmap. Capital expenditure on Trust estate needs to be balanced between
financial sustainability and the risk of adversely impacting service delivery. It is anticipated
that the Trust’s strategic partnership will have a positive effect on the estate and IT
strategies, and as this is in the preliminary stages, potential opportunities arising from the
partnership are not included within this submission.
5.3.2 Capital Programme
The table below shows the Capital Expenditure plan for 2017-19 analysed across the main
schemes. The capital plan of £2m has been recommended to the Board of Directors. The
focus of the estate expenditure will be based on clinical need and priorities as well as in
remedying ‘significant’ and ‘high’ defects associated with the physical condition, fire and
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statutory standards of the estate. IT investment will be used to replace aged stock and
consideration is being given to extending the scope and use of the Trust’s internally
developed electronic health record.
Capital Programme

2017/18
Plan
£000's
500
250
250
637
363
2,000

Better Services Better Care
Clinical Risk
Estates Strategy
IT - Operational
IT - Developmet
Total

2018/19
Plan
£000's
500
150
350
650
350
2,000

Current plans do not assume the disposal of any assets over the upcoming financial years
with additions being £2m each year, offset by depreciation. This results in a net asset
increase of £204k before impairment or revaluation for 2017/18 and £91k for 2018/19,
leading to the following fixed asset values being recorded on the Statement of Financial
Position (SoFP):
2016/17
FOT

2018/19
Plan

2017/18 Plan

Q4 £000's Q1 £000's Q2 £000's Q3 £000's Q4 £000's Q4 £000's
Fixed Asset Value

54,399

54,603

54,623

54,647

54,596

54,687

6.0 Alignment to local emerging Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)
The Trust is an integral part of the Black Country Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(STP) as a partner on the sponsorship group, and as a key member of the Mental Health
and Learning Disability workstream, as well as involvement where appropriate on the other
key themes of the STP. The plan describes how the members can build on existing
strengths, accelerating learning from innovation, to create a sustainable health system with
improved health outcomes and a better patient experience of services.
The key themes of the plan are:
• To implement local place-based models of care for each community that deliver
improved access to local services for the whole population, greater continuity of care for
those with on-going conditions and more coordinated care for those with the most
complex needs.
• To create, through extended collaboration between service providers, a coordinated
system of care across the Black Country and West Birmingham to improve quality and to
deliver efficiencies on a scale not accessible to individual organisations.
• To take coordinated action to address the particular challenges faced by our population
in terms of maternal and infant health, and to create a single Black Country and West
Birmingham maternity plan that inter-relates with Birmingham and Solihull where
necessary;
• To work together on key enablers that will enable us to achieve significant workforce
efficiency and transformation, to deliver the digital infrastructure required for modern
patient-centred services, to rationalise public sector estate utilisation, and to streamline
commissioning functions; and
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•

To act together, and in partnership with the West Midlands Combined Authority, to
address the wider determinants of health such as employment, education and
housing.

Key strategic partnerships enabling delivery of the STP include:
• The Trust is actively engaged in working with partners in developing the Dudley
Multispecialty Community Provider vanguard, to ensure that changes are developed in
the best interests of service users and carers, and highlighting any risks to be mitigated
during the transformation.
• Health and care providers and commissioners in Wolverhampton have been working
closely on implementing changes through the Better Care Fund, which is now being built
on through the recent development of the Wolverhampton Transition Board (WTB). The
WTB is committed to taking a collaborative approach to improve the healthcare
experience and health outcomes of the local community by working with Wolverhampton
people to design and deliver services which promote health and wellbeing, enabling
people to live longer and healthier lives.
• During 2015/16 the Trust embarked on a sustainability strategy to ensure that the users,
carers and communities the Trust represent continued to receive high quality,
sustainable services long into the future. At the beginning of 2016 the Trust announced
the chosen partners, namely Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
(BCHC) and Dudley and Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (DWMH), and
began to develop the vision, principles and plans around the benefits this partnership
could deliver across Birmingham and the Black Country. The partnership, now called
‘Transforming Care Together’ was already developing plans for sustainability and
transformation of Mental Health and Learning Disability services across the Black
Country prior to the setting up of the STP, and therefore influenced the development of
the plans for the Mental Health and Learning Disability workstream.
Clinical Workstream projects from the TCT programme link directly to the work of the STP
and include the following areas that will be further developed, consulted on, and
implemented during this planning period. Some of this transformational work will also be
critical in delivering the challenging cost improvement agenda for the Trust:
•

Become One Commissioner - By agreeing common specifications and models we
will develop standardised and potentially more cost effective solutions, and minimise
service variation, including putting in place a recovery model that supports people to
avoid crisis and manage their own care as much as possible, whilst supporting them
at times of need. The clinical engagement sessions from TCT identified that this was
the single most important factor required to support transformation across services.

•

Building the right support for Learning Disabilities - Transforming Care
Partnership (TCP) is a partnership of local authorities, CCGs and NHSE (Specialised
Commissioning) working together to deliver the vision set out in Building the Right
Support and the National Service Model. The work being developed as part of TCT
across providers in Birmingham and Black Country will need to be aligned to this
work during the planning period.

•

Improve Bed Utilisation and stop Out of Area Treatments – the ambition is to
ensure that patients receive hospital care only when their health needs require it by
commissioning appropriate consistent crisis services across the Black Country and
West Birmingham. When admission is required it is (where possible) local ensuring
that links are maintained with local support networks. We will determine the optimum
bed requirement for existing services provided by NHS providers, which should
support development of new highly specialised services. This project builds on the
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work already underway in the MERIT vanguard and through the TCT Adult Mental
Health workstream ensuring that the Black Country has the optimum number of beds
to meet demand.
•

Deliver the West Midlands’ Combined Authority Mental Health Challenges - In
the Black Country and West Birmingham, the rate of employment for people with
mental health issues is lower than the national average, and is particularly low in
Wolverhampton. Assuming the Black Country and West Birmingham could achieve
the employment rate for people with mental health issues achieved in England
(adjusted for the overall lower employment rate in the Black Country and West
Birmingham) then an additional 4,000 people with mental health issues would be in
employment in the Black Country and West Birmingham. At average full-time
employment wage rates in the Black Country and West Birmingham, this would
equate to an additional £100m of income less reductions in benefits. Again this work
builds on the MERIT vanguard recovery workstream that the Trust leads on, and
influences the work being developed by TCT.

•

Deliver Extended Efficiencies through Transforming Care Together Partnership
A larger footprint will allow the partnership to benefits from economies of scale to aim
to deliver the required level of efficiencies from back-office and improvement across
all overhead functions, limiting the impact for direct patient care enabling reinvestment in services to improve care, access and address current service gaps.

7.0 Membership and Elections
Membership development, including recruitment and engagement activities is overseen by a
steering group of Governors, led by an Associate Non-Executive Director and supported by
a newly created post of Membership Services Manager. Governor elections were held in the
summer of 2016; further elections to fill the remaining two public (out of twenty two) and
three (out of seven) staff governor seats are planned in the fourth quarter of 2016/17 and it is
anticipated that all vacancies will be filled. The elections in the fourth quarter will also cover
vacancies occurring in the first two months of 2017/18. The Trust uses an online training
needs analysis tool, the output from which informs the training and development plan for
governors. Governors have the opportunity to attend relevant training and network sessions
as well as the opportunity to refresh their annual induction training.
The Trust has a broad base of membership, with pockets of under-representation,
specifically children and young people under 16 years of age. Efforts to address this are built
into engagement development plans. The key priority of the Membership Development
Strategy, an update of which was approved by the Board of Directors in April 2015, remains
the delivery strong and robust engagement with Trust members. Plans to achieve this
include:
• More targeted engagement through collecting information on members’ interests to
involve them more closely in Trust work;
• Establishing regular public member constituency meetings;
• Development of special interest, e.g. carer, drop-in sessions;
• Redesign of the membership package, with the aim of both maintaining and developing
interest of current members and improving the offer to new members;
• Improving the frequency of communications and introducing new channels for contact;
and
• Involving members in small interest groups and in consultations about service
developments.
• Governors will be provided with appropriate support from the Trust in engagement
activities, a new governor information pack will be developed and governors will also be
supported in communications with their members.
(End)
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APPENDIX TWO

DRAFT ANNUAL PLAN 2017/18 – Key notes
Income & Expenditure

Expense Type

Sub Expense Type

Income
Pay

Income
Agency Pay
Bank Pay
Substansive Pay
Pay
Non Pay
Depreciation
Dividend on PDC
Interest Payable
Interest Receivable

Pay Total
Non Pay
Non Operating Exp

Non Operating Exp Total
Grand Total

Sum of
Forecast @ M6
£k
(99,529)
3,875
4,609
72,293
80,777
15,468
2,157
1,730
533
(9)
4,411
1,128

Sum of 1718
Start Point
£k
(99,190)
3,534
16
77,891
81,442
17,327
1,796
1,271
503
(3)
3,568
3,146

Division
Mental Health
- margin
Learning Disabilities
- margin
CYP&F
- margin
Corporate
Estates & Facilities
Operational Support
Clinical Support Services
CIP
- margin

Sum of Forecast
@ M6
£k
(13,917)
26%
(5,582)
26%
(4,643)
21%
10,572
11,194
1,489
954
0
67
0%

Sum of 1718
Start Point
£k
(13,023)
24%
(6,559)
30%
(4,031)
18%
10,861
11,447
1,840
1,476
(4,200)
(2,190)
2%

4,411
(3,350)
1,128

3,568
1,769
3,146

Non Operating
Reserves
Grand Total

Operational performance
Sum of 1718 Start Point
£k

Expense Type
Income
Pay
Non Pay
Reserves
CIP
Contribution
Contribution %
Non Operating Costs
Depreciation
Dividend on PDC
Interest Payable
Interest Receivable
Total Deficit

Division
Mental
Learning
Health Disabilities
(54,457)
(22,119)
38,748
14,854
2,686
705

(13,023)
24%

(6,559)
30%

CYP&F
(22,783)
17,571
1,170

(4,042)
18%

Estates & Operational
Facilities
Support
(387)
0
3,468
1,695
8,366
144

11,447

1,840

Clinical
Support
Services
(94)
919
661

1,486

Corporate
(809)
7,756
3,915
1,769
(4,200)
8,431

Total
(100,649)
85,012
17,647
1,769
(4,200)
(421)
0%
1,796
1,271
503
(3)
3,146

Cash Position

Cash Balances pre drawdown
Drawdown facility
Cash Balances post drawdown

2016/17
2018/19
2017/18 Plan
FOT
Plan
Q4 £000's Q1 £000's Q2 £000's Q3 £000's Q4 £000's Q4 £000's
716
61
(1,297)
(1,726)
(2,558)
(4,746)
0
1,500
2,200
3,000
5,000
716
61
203
474
442
254
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Key Assumptions
Based on stand-alone organisation – the counterfactual
Rejection of control total for 2017/18 and 2018/19
Delivery of 2016/17 plan
Adoption of the revaluation of the estate
Net contract Inflation of 0.1% in each year
Additional income forecast relating to observation costs
Small amount of additional income relating to service developments offset by decommissioned services
CQUIN 0.5% reserve held
Occupancy levels of 85% in Inpatient Areas – problematic for LD division
No new service contracts awarded
No loss of service contracts – e.g. assumes retain all MCP business at current rates
Pay inflation of c. 1.5% in each year
Non-Pay inflation of 1.0% in each year.
CIP target of 4.2% 2017/18 and a further 2.0% 2018/19
Agency Cap of £3,534k per annum will be achieved.
Cash will be available via the working capital facility to support liquidity
Debtors and Creditors remain constant
Capital expenditure of c. £2m per annum
Cashflow assumptions remain consistent with those applied in 2016/17
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Encl. 6.2

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30 November 2016

Subject:

MERIT Programme Board Report

Presented by:

Jo Cadman, Strategy & Transformation Director

Author:

Lee Walker, Project Manager, PMO

Purpose:

To receive

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

Relationship to High Level Risks:

N/A
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√

Recommendation(s):

The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note progress against the regional MERIT programme plan.

Equality & Diversity implications:
An EIA for the Recovery Work stream to be completed in December.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:


NHSI Finance :
Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration


Board
Audit



Quality & Safety
Other

Business & Performance
M H Legislation Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None
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Executive Summary


This report is to update the Board on the headlines from the MERIT programme
as at November 2016.



The regional MERIT Programme Lead’s update report is attached in Appendix
1.



This describes the current status of the programme and highlights that the
programme RAG rating remains as ‘amber’.



NHS England requested all existing Vanguards complete and submit 2017/18
funding bids by 24 November 2016. This included a Quality Improvement Plan
that outlined progress to date and plans to improve outcomes during 2017/18.
These plans have not been through local committee or Board approval.



Interim cover for the programme’s workforce lead (owing to staff absence) has
now been confirmed which will enable this element of the programme to recommence.



Progress against the recovery work stream work is against plan, with all 4 Trusts
local implementation groups progressing the Refocus recovery framework and
ReQol outcomes tool. Plans are being reviewed for 2017/18 milestones as
specific to recovery.



The first community connections (replacing community engagement) sub group
met. The draft community model is due to be completed by University of Warwick
in December 2016 which will drive future developments. Mental Health First Aid
‘Train the Trainer’ is taking place during November and December with a view to
the trainers rolling out sessions during 2017. The work stream will be developing
a plan to integrate into the wider Public Health, Third sector/community group
networks.



The crisis work stream bed management policy remains unsupported in its
current format across the 4 Trusts and presents a risk that could stall progress
against the overall programme plan. Further engagement is planned with Trusts.



One of the main risks to the programme has been a continued debate about
funding for 17/18. Irrespective of the funding decision, BCP intends to continue
to build on the developments and learning to embed recovery practices into TCT
and local Transformation plans.

3
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1.0 Introduction


The regional MERIT Programme Lead’s update report for November 2016 is
attached in Appendix 1.



This describes the current status of the programme and highlights that the
programme RAG rating remains as ‘Amber’.



NHS England has requested all existing Vanguards complete and submit
2017/18 funding bids by 24th November 2016. This is to include a Quality
Improvement Plan that will outline progress to date and plans to improve
outcomes during 2017/18.



The first BCPFT MERIT leads group is planned for 16th December 2016 with the
Associate Director of Governance as Chair. This group will share local
information, progress on plans, review risks and supports internal reporting and
triangulation to the Board and the Business & Performance committee.

Highlights for this period:
Crisis Care
 The position relating to the Joint Bed management policy remains unchanged.
Concerns have been raised regarding the risk to the work stream should
organisations fail to agree on solutions. Version four of the policy didn’t progress
at the Clinical Oversight & Scrutiny board or the MERIT Steering Group due to
the concerns regarding operational delivery/ local ownership of bed management
decision making. Project leads for crisis care; Bed Managers and Medical
Directors are reviewing bed usage/ sharing thresholds with a view to agreeing
standards and developing a memorandum of understanding.
 Dudley & Walsall Mental Health Trust (DWMHT) have been named as project
leads for the Critical Care pathway, and this work will complement the existing
systems work currently being delivered.
Recovery
 The first draft of the recovery practices model has been completed. Further
research is being completed examining the community engagement evidence
base by University of Warwick.
 The Refocus recovery framework and ReQol quality of life outcome measure
have been presented to BCPFT Quality and Safety Community and Mental
Health Divisional Management Board. All four trusts will be looking to build the
framework into respective recovery practices and transformation plans for
2017/18. Plans will be developed to ensure training, governance, assessment/
care planning paperwork embed this evidence based framework into practice.
 On the 2nd November 2016 BCPFT service representatives and leads attended a
workshop which introduced the Refocus framework/ ReQol tool. Future meetings
are planned across the Trust’s Urgent & Planned Care services to continue the
recovery practices dialogue and initiate local action plans.
 Merit funded Mental Health First Aid train the trainer courses are planned for
November/ December. BCPFT allocated two places. DWMHT have been unable
4
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to support the initiative which will impact on the subsequent delivery of training
across the areas.
IPS services were reviewed across the Trusts. As the West Midlands Combined
Authority are leading on IPS development there have been concerns around
duplication and a proposal is to be submitted to remove IPS from the scope of the
recovery work stream. The Trusts will continue to support IPS but its
development would not be seen as a MERIT outcome.
BCPFT and DWMHT, with a view to running joint recovery practices planning
group. This would also support the TCT adult Mental Health work stream.
DWMHT have requested a terms of reference for the proposal.
Dorset services are promoted as a beacon recovery orientated treatment system.
The workstream aims to develop a MERIT event in the New Year that will review
some of the practices and steps Dorset (and potentially other Trusts) have taken
in developing approaches.

Workforce
 Interim cover for the programme’s workforce lead (owing to staff absence) has
now been confirmed.
 The MERIT recruitment event on the 12th November 2016 at Birmingham library
took place with over 50 prospective nursing candidates attending. An evaluation
of the event will be completed, and feedback from all Trusts has been positive.
 Allocate (e-rostering software provider) are hosting a workshop to present
findings following a review of the MERIT Trusts bank recording systems. The
workforce group are looking to improve options for sharing of bank staff and
increasing the pool of staff available to work across the Trusts. Allocate are in
the process of building a module that will support the next steps and as
development partners there will be minimal or no cost to providers. Following the
appointment of an interim lead, a meeting will be scheduled with Allocate and
MERIT partners to progress.
IT
 The functional specification for the shared e-patient record has been drafted and
is currently out for consideration. This will support the next stage of procurement.
BCPFT’s proposal to develop in-house solution looks unlikely to be accepted.
 The bed management systems specification requires confirmation of the bed
management policy/MOU before further progress can be made.
Governance
 Development of a mock inspection tool and app is nearing completion.
 MOU for Governance, Safety and Quality Framework, is out for consultation and
to be agreed in November.
Communications
 MERIT website to go live during November 2016. The website will initially focus
on providing a West Midlands wide resource for what to do in the event of a
crisis.
 Further work is required with the CSU lead to develop a Communication plan
that reviews effective internal and external stakeholder engagement during 2017.
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2.0 Recommendation
The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note the progress against the regional MERIT programme plan.
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APPENDIX ONE
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Encl. 6.3
Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30 November 2016

Subject:

Black Country Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Communication and Engagement Briefing Note

Presented by:

Jo Cadman, Director of Strategy

Author:

Kate Pritchard, Head of Communications

Purpose:

For information

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.

X

We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

X

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.

x

Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.

x

Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

x

Relationship to High Level Risks:
None

Recommendation(s):
To note the report for information
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Equality & Diversity implications:

There are no implications to consider.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
Monitor:
Care Quality
Commission:

x

Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds

Audit
Quality & Safety
x

Other

AOG

None
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Executive Summary
The draft Black Country Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 2016-2021 was made
public on Monday 21 November 2016.
This report is an update on the communications and engagement responsibilities for Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (BCPFT) as a partner in this STP.
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1.

Background and guidance

NHS England have published a guide: Engaging local people: A guide for local areas
developing Sustainability and Transformation Plans which clarifies the expectations on
stakeholder involvement, in particular patient and public participation for teams developing
STPs in each of the 44 footprint areas. As STP footprints are not statutory bodies, this
guidance supports the STP process but does not replace each organisation’s own legal
responsibilities to involve the public. This guide follows on from the expectations that were
set out in the June 2016 STP submission guidance.
Involving people, communities and stakeholders in developing plans is the right thing to do
to ensure that the plans and their implementation are robust and meet the needs of people
and communities. Building on the six principles for engaging people and communities
developed by the Five Year Forward View People and Communities Board, STP partners
should work with the knowledge, skills and experience of people in their communities,
working in co-production to improve access and outcomes.
STP partners in every area should have an ongoing dialogue with patients, volunteers,
carers, clinicians and other staff, citizens, the local voluntary and community sector, local
government officers and local politicians, including those representing health and wellbeing
boards and scrutiny committees and MPS.
Working together with existing networks and channels will help to maximise efficiency and
effectiveness, and ensure a cohesive and coordinated approach.
The guidance includes the stages for engagement.

Case for
change

Solution
generation

Proposals for
change

Public
consultation
on proposals

Decisionmaking and
implementation

STPs should be able to document involvement that has taken place at every stage and each
stage should be supported by ongoing engagement with stakeholders.

2.

Communications and engagement network and strategy

A Black Country STP Communication and Engagement Leads Network is in place which
includes representation from the 18 partner organisations. It is chaired by the Head of
Engagement at Sandwell and West Birmingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and
the Interim Head of Communications for BCPFT is a member.
The network has developed a concordat with six aims:
1. Raise awareness, create understanding and build reputation
2. Involve all of our stakeholders and listen to feedback so that our decision making is
informed
3. Foster effective relationships and a culture of two-way communications with all
stakeholder groups
4. Support the development of a responsible, healthy community
5. Creating a well-informed workforce
It has developed a Black Country STP Communications and Engagement Strategy which
was approved by the STP sponsor group in August 2016. This strategy proposes two levels
of support:
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1. STP programme level: high level communications and engagement activity in support
of the programme
2. STP workstream level: supporting the STP workstreams to develop and implement
operational communications and engagement plans to support their specific work
Communication and engagement leads are integral to STP workstreams, and are working
closely with the workstream leads to ensure early and ongoing engagement while plans are
at a formative stage.
The network is working on a communications and engagement action plan to outline how the
strategy will be delivered. Key actions will be reported to the STP sponsor group, and all
activity logged on the communications and engagement tracker.
All documents are held in a shared repository to ensure consistency of materials.
3.

Communications and engagement to date

The majority of engagement and consultation (where appropriate) will be undertaken through
local partner organisations in their local areas. Across the partners we have started to inform
and engage our stakeholders, using existing channels, and governance and assurance
processes. This has included STP briefings and updates to: governing bodies, organisational
boards, health and wellbeing boards, overview and scrutiny councils, MP meetings, public
meetings and forums, staff meetings and forums, and through publications and online
channels.
Some communication and engagement - including events - will be on a Black Country
footprint.
4.

Draft publication ‘go live’

On Monday 21 November 2016 the draft Black Country STP was published. In preparation,
the communications and engagement network prepared a toolkit which included: easier to
read version of the plan, launch press release, staff message, frequently asked questions,
stakeholder letter, social media pack and more. The communication timetable was 9.30am
for staff communications with media release / online publication of the plan at 12.00 noon.
Each partner organisation could use elements of the toolkit and the guide timing as
appropriate to their local needs.
At BCPFT we sent an all-staff which we also shared with our governors and non-executive
directors. We have included information on our website and intranet, with links to the plan on
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG website. We have also shared content on our social
media channels (including sharing our partner’s content).
MP, Councillor and media communications have taken place via the local authority and CCG
leads.
To date we have received no direct enquiries (to BCPFT) from our audiences, including the
local media.
5.

Public engagement event

On Tuesday 6 December 2016 there will be a Black Country public engagement event. The
event: Black Country STP - Better Health and Care for people across the Black Country and
West Birmingham will include:
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Background and content led by Andy Williams, Accountable Officer, Sandwell and
West Birmingham CCG and Black Country STP lead
How we are going to make it happen: transformation areas / workstreams
Breakout workshops
o Mental health and learning disabilities
o Maternity and infant health
o Hospitals working better together
o Place based care
Feedback from the workshops
Questions and next steps

The format for the workshops will be:
 Welcome and introductions
 Scale and complexity of the challenge
 Highlighting existing good practice through partnerships
 Exploring the thinking / approach so far – what do they think?
 Does this resonate with them? Do they understand the need / benefits?
 Sharing their thoughts and solutions
 Key things we need to do to take the work forward
6.

Reputational risks

Due to timescales and the inability to share the plans publicly (prior to the public launch)
there may be some concern that genuine engagement has not taken place. There has been
some limited service user and carer involvement in the mental health and learning disability
plans (as part of the Transforming Care Partnerships and Transforming Care Together
programmes).
There has recently been national media coverage about STPs, including concerns raised
about the lack of transparency and consultation by bodies such as the King’s Fund and The
British Medical Association.





7.

Patients and staff shut out of NHS transformation plans, says thinktank (The
Guardian, 13 November 2016)
NHS savings plans ‘being kept secret’, says King’s Fund (Financial Times, 14
November 2016)
Two thirds of doctors not consulted on NHS plans to cut A&Es and beds (The
Telegraph, 20 November 2016)
NHS transformation plans may be used as cover for cuts, says BMA (The Guardian,
21 November 2016)
Next steps

As a partner organisation we will continue to play an active role in the communications and
engagement network, helping to deliver the strategy and plan. We will ensure that the Black
Country STP remains a constant part of our own Trust communications and engagement
activity (where appropriate to the needs of the plan), and provide regular updates and
assurances to Trust Board.
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Encl. 6.4

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Charitable Accounts 2015/16

Presented by:

Tracey Cotterill, Director of Finance

Author:

Karanjit Chung, Financial Controller

Purpose:

approve

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

X

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.
Relationship to High Level Risks:
N/A

Recommendation(s):
For approval
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X

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has/has not been completed.
The following implications are considered:
There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
NHSI/Monitor:

X

Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Charity Commission

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Other

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None

X

Executive Summary
The Charity Accounts and Annual report for year ending 31st March 2016 are
attached for approval.
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AUDITED CHARITY ACCOUNTS FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2015-16
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1.

Foreword to the Annual Report

As a NHS Charity we are required to perform our duties in furtherance of the Charity’s purpose and in
accordance with relevant legislation. This report provides an outline as to how the Charity has
operated and fulfilled its obligations, as reflected in its financial statements.

Signed …………………………………………………………………
Tracey Cotterill,
Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance, Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, as
Corporate Trustee

Date
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2.

About the Charitable Funds

The Charitable Fund was established in November 1996 under a Special Purpose Charity Declaration
of Trust and registered with the Charity Commission under registration number 1060039. There was a
name change to the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund in 2011.
The purpose of the charity is to apply income, and at the Trustee’s discretion, so far as may be
permissible, the capital for any charitable purpose or purposes relating to the National Health Service
wholly or mainly for the service provided by Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
The Charity applies the following principles:
Principle 1 – There must be identifiable benefit or benefits
Throughout the year the Charitable Trust has applied donations received towards:



Crockery, stationery and recreational items
Therapy materials

These purchases funded by donations help to enhance the stay of service users, making it as
pleasant and as enjoyable as possible.
Principle 2 – Benefit must be to the public, or a section of the public.
The Charitable Funds should be used for the benefit of users of services managed through Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and staff involved in the provision of those services.
3.

Governance Arrangements

The Foundation Trust’s Corporate Trustee responsibilities are distinct from its responsibilities for
exchequer funds and may not necessarily be discharged in the same manner though there is
adherence to the overriding general principles of financial regularity, prudence and propriety.
The Trustee controls the Charitable Fund through its Board of Directors. The names and roles of the
Board of Directors at 31st March 2016 are detailed below
Name

Role

Mrs Joanna Newton

Chair (Non-Executive)

Ms Karen Dowman

Chief Executive Officer (retired 31st August 2016)

Mrs Tracey Cotterill

Director of Finance/Deputy Chief Executive

Dr Jas Lidher

Medical Director

Mrs Shelia Lloyd

Director of Nursing, Allied Health Professionals & Governance

Mrs Lesley Writtle

Director of Operations

Mr Parmjit Sahota

Non-Executive Director

Dr Duncan Walker

Non-Executive Director

Mrs Kathy McAteer

Non-Executive Director

Mr Fayaz Malik

Non-Executive Director

Mr Andrew Fry

Non-Executive Director

Mrs Joy Jeffrey

Non-Executive Director
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The address of the Trust is:
Delta House
Greets Green Road
West Bromwich
West Midlands
B70 9PL
The Charitable Funds Committee receives reports on the performance of funds, which comprises of
the fund balance and narrative of both expenditure and income in relation to those funds. The annual
accounts of the Charity are independently examined by the external body appointed to provide
internal audit services to the Foundation Trust.
Other relevant advisers to the Charity include:
Banks:
National Westminster Bank PLC
High Street Branch
West Bromwich
B70 8LX

Triodos Bank
Deanery Road
Bristol
BS1 5AS

Nationwide Building Society
265 High Street
West Bromwich
West Midlands
B70 7LX

Castle & Crystal Credit Union
25 New Streets
Dudley
West Midlands
DY1 1LT

Independent Examiners:

West Midlands Internal Audit Consortium,
C/o West Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Millennium Point, Waterfront Business Park
Brierley Hill
West Midlands
DY5 1LX

Legal Advisers:

Mills and Reeve LLP
78 – 84 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2AB

Organisational structure and decisions:
There are no employees working for the Charity. Decisions are made by the Corporate Trustee of the
Charity and by delegation through the Charitable Funds Committee and designated fund managers.
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Reserves policy:
The Trustee is under a general legal duty to apply (expend) charitable funds within a reasonable time
of receiving them. Adherence to the policy is monitored via regular reports to the Trustee. There is no
target held for the level of reserves the Charity holds and it is reviewed annually.
Risks applicable to Funds Held on Trust:
Risks around financial controls have been mitigated by the operation of set financial procedures
around the activities of the Funds Held on Trust, and by commissioning the Trust's internal auditors to
review these systems.
Risks in relation to Funds Held on Trust are reported to the Corporate Trustee. The Corporate Trustee
makes recommendations in order to manage risks around Funds held on Trust. At this point in time
the Corporate Trustees consider the controls in place sufficient to address the risks to the Charity.
4.

Financial Information

The Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2016 have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Special Purpose Charity Declaration of Trust to give a ‘true and fair’ view and
have departed from the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent
required to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has involved following Accounting and
Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 rather than the
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice effective from 1 April
2005 which has since been withdrawn.
The Charity made a deficit for the year amounting to £5k. All funds held were designated to be
applied as and when deemed necessary for the benefit and comfort of all the public who use the
services provided by Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
5.

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HM Treasury previously granted an exemption for NHS bodies applying ‘International Accounting
Standard (IAS) 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised)’ to their NHS
charitable funds. From 2013/14, the Treasury dispensation is no longer available and NHS foundation
trusts will therefore need to consolidate any NHS charitable funds which they determine to be
subsidiaries.
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Charity will not be consolidated with Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Parent due to the balance of the funds being below the level of
materiality and significance to the overall parent account.
6.

Two Year Focus 2015/16 and 2016/17

During 2015/16, the Trustees have successfully delivered a number of the objectives set for the year.
These include consolidating the charity sub-funds in line with the services offered by the organisation
so as to provide a complementary programme of support. Each sub-fund has been allocated a subfund manager to consider the best application of the funds held. An authorised signatory list has been
produced in accordance with the Standing Financial Instructions, to enable sub-fund managers to
authorise expenditure within their delegated authority. The charity company has been set-up within
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the accounting system to automate the financial process and thereby facilitate the efficient recording
of expenditure of funds.
During the year, the Trustee agreed to extend the membership of its Charitable Funds Committee to
include two governors of the NHS Foundation Trust who could bring their experience of engagement
and working within the wider charity sector to the development of the Charity.
Considerable effort has been invested in reviewing fundraising opportunities, resulting in the
development of a new visual identity for the charity which will feature on new posters and collection
tins to be placed around the organisation’s sites during 2016/17. It is expected that improved
promotion of the Charity within and outside the Trust will assist in meeting its purpose.
7. Foreword to the Financial Statements and Notes
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and comply with the Trust
Deed.
STATUTORY BACKGROUND
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of the Funds Held on
Trust under paragraph 16c of Schedule 2 of the NHS and Community Care Act 1990. Funds Held on
Trust are registered with the Charity Commission.
MAIN PURPOSE OF THE FUNDS HELD ON TRUST
The main purpose of the Charitable Funds Held on Trust is to apply income for any charitable
purpose relating to the National Health Service wholly or mainly for the services provided by the Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
8. Statement of Corporate Trustees’ responsibilities in respect of the Corporate Trustees’
Annual Report and the Financial Statements.
Under the Trust deed and rules of the Charity and Charity Law, the Corporate Trustee is responsible
for preparing the Trustee’s Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.
The Financial Statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Charity and of the excess of income over expenditure for that period.
In preparing these Financial Statements, generally accepted accounting practice requires that the
Corporate Trustee:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and the Statement of Recommended Practice
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Financial
Statements;
• state whether the Financial Statements comply with the Trust Deed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements; and
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• prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Charity will continue in business.
The directors of the NHS Foundation Trust acting on behalf of the Corporate Trustee are required to
act in accordance with the Trust Deed and the rules of the Charity, within the framework of Charity
law. They are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, sufficient to disclose at any time,
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Charity at the time. The directors are also
responsible for ensuring that where statements of account are prepared by them under section 42 (1)
of the Charities Act 1993 and 2006, those statements of account comply with the requirements of
regulations under that provision.
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Charity and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Corporate Trustee is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the financial information
and other information included on the charity's website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Signed: ------------------------------------------------------------Tracey Cotterill,
Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance, Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, as
Corporate Trustee

Date:
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9.

Statement of Financial Activities and Notes

Statement of financial activities for year ending 31st March 2016
Note

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds

Endowment
Funds

Total
Funds

Prior Period
Total Funds

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Income and endowment from:
Donations and legacies

2

13

Charitable activities

-

Other trading activities

-

Investments

3

1

Other

-

Total

14

13

13

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14

13

-

-

-

-

-

Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Charitable activities

4

Other

6

Total

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

(15)

-

-

(15)

(4)

(4)

-

-

(4)

(4)

(19)

-

-

(19)

(8)

Net gains/(losses) on
investments

-

Net income/(expenditure)
Transfer between funds
Other recognised
gains/(losses):

(5)

-

-

(5)

5

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gains/(losses) on revaluation of
fixed assets

-

-

-

-

-

Other gains/(losses)

-

-

-

-

-

(5)

-

-

(5)

5

Net movement in funds
Reconciliation of funds:

-

Total funds brought forward

114

82

-

196

191

Total funds carried forward

109

82

-

191

196

The notes at pages 11 to 14 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2016
Note

Year Ending Year Ending
31 March 2016 31 March 2015
Restated
£'000
£'000

Current Assets
Debtors

7

10

8

19

19

Cash at bank and in hand

195

184

Total Current Assets

224

211

(33)

(15)

Total Current Liabilities

(33)

(15)

Net Current Assets

191

196

9

109

114

10

82

82

191

196

Investment Account

Current Liabilities
Creditors

8

Funds of the Charity
Income Funds: Unrestricted
Restricted

Total Funds

The financial statements on pages 9 to 10 were approved by the Corporate Trustee on 19th October
2016 and were signed on its behalf by:
Signed:

------------------------------------------------------------Tracey Cotterill, as Corporate Trustee

Date:
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 Accounting Convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, with the exception of
investments which are included at market value. The accounts (financial statements) have been
prepared to give a ‘true and fair’ view and have departed from the Charities (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 only to the extent required to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has
involved following Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on
16 July 2014 rather than the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended
Practice effective from 1 April 2005 which has since been withdrawn.

1.2 Structure of Funds
Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified as
a restricted income fund where the donor has provided for the donation to be spent in furtherance of a
specified charitable purpose.
Those funds which are not restricted income funds are unrestricted income funds which are sub
analysed between designated (earmarked) funds where the donor has made known their non binding
wishes or where the Corporate Trustee, at their discretion, has created a specific fund for a specific
purpose, and wholly unrestricted funds which are wholly at the Corporate Trustees unfettered
discretion.
The Charitable Trust restricted funds are as disclosed in note 10 and unrestricted funds as disclosed
in note 9.
Transfers between funds are approved from time to time normally following a request from an
individual fund holder. These will be sanctioned only after full consideration to ensure that the donor's
wishes are not compromised and that the transfer will result in the funds being committed more
quickly for the purpose for which they were given.
1.3 Incoming Resources
All incoming resources are included in the Statement of Financial Activities when the Charity is legally
entitled to the income and the amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy.
Incoming Resources from Legacies are accounted for as incoming resources either upon receipt or
where the receipt of the legacy is reasonably certain. This will be once confirmation has been
received from the representatives of the estate(s) that payment of the legacy will be made or property
transferred and once all conditions attached to the legacy have been fulfilled.
Legacies which have been notified but not recognised as incoming resources, where material, have
not been included in the Statement of Financial Activities but are disclosed in a separate note to the
accounts with an estimate of the amount receivable.
A £1k gift in kind to create a Reminiscence Room has been accounted for in these accounts.
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1.4 Resources Expended
The funds held on trust accounts are prepared in accordance with the accruals concept. All
expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third
party. Management and administrative costs are accounted for on an accruals basis and are
recharges of appropriate proportions of staff time from Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust and the Independent Examiners time.
1.5 Irrecoverable VAT
Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was incurred.
1.6 Charitable Expenditure
Charitable expenditure comprises all expenditure identified as wholly or mainly incurred in the pursuit
of the charitable objects of the Charity. Additionally there may be indirect costs together with an
apportionment of overhead and support costs as disclosed in notes 4-6.
1.7 Allocation of Overheads and Support Costs
Overheads and support costs have been allocated to governance costs. Costs which are not wholly
attributable to an expenditure type have been apportioned. The analysis of overhead and support
costs and the basis of allocation are shown in note 6.
1.8 Governance Costs
These are all costs identifiable as wholly or mainly attributable to ensuring the public accountability of
the Charity and its compliance with regulation and good practice. These costs are for management
and staff of Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for administrating the Charitable Fund
and preparing the annual report. Included within the costs of the Independent Examiner there is a
charge for reviewing the Annual Report and Accounts, a notional value of 50% of the charge (50% of
£4,446 being £2,223) is assumed to relate to this review.
1.9 Change in the basis of accounting
There have been no changes in the basis of accounting during the year.
1.10 Related Party Transactions
During the financial year none of the Corporate Trustee Board members or members of the key
management staff or parties related to them was beneficiaries from the Charity.
Neither the Corporate Trustee or any member of its Board received honoraria, emoluments or
expenses from the Charity in the year and the Corporate Trustee has not purchased trustee indemnity
insurance.
1.11 Volunteers
The Trust Fund currently does not have any volunteers supporting the activities, charity activities are
coordinated by the staff of Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000
5
7
1
1
14

2. Analysis of Voluntary Income
Sub-Fund
Mental Health
Learning Disabilities
CYPF
Corporate
Total voluntary income

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
10
3
13

Included in the Mental Health Sub-Fund income is the Funds of £1k for the creation of Reminiscent
room.
3. Analysis of Investment Income
Investment income is wholly in relation to bank interest.
Interest of £675.31 has been received from cash held in the Charity's bank accounts for 2015/16
(£58.51, 2014/15)
4. Analysis of Staff and Patient Welfare
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000
7
8
15

Division
Mental Health
Learning Disabilities
CYPF
Corporate
Total

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
2
2
4

Staff and Patient Welfare amounted to corporate £7.6k (£2.1k crockery, £0.6k Play Station, £1.0k
Basketball Hoops, £2.2k Christmas buffet, £1.7k other) and Mental Health £6.8k (£3.7k Crockery,
£0.8k Gardening, £1k Table Tennis equipment, £1.0k used by service user in the creation of
reminiscence room and £0.3k other).
Bank charges included amounted to £95.98 in 2015/16 (£99.17, 2014/15)
The Charity did not undertake any direct charitable activities during the year. The costs of activities
for charitable objectives comprise recreational activities and the purchase of decorative items for
wards, furniture and appliances.
5. Analysis of Staff Costs
There were no staff employed by the Charity in 2015/16 (nil 2014/15) No remuneration expenses
were paid to the Corporate Trustee in 2015/16 (nil 2014/15)
6. Governance Costs
Governance costs for 2015/16 amounted to £4,445.89 (£4,443.90, 2014/15). These costs are
apportioned to individual funds based on average balances.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000

7. Analysis of Current
Assets
7.1 Debtors
Debtors
Total debtors falling due within one year

10
10

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
Restated
8
8

The debtor balances are all due from BCPFT and arose as funds relating to the Charity are yet to be
transferred from BCPFT bank account.
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000

8. Analysis of Current Creditors

8.1 Creditors
Creditors
Creditors falling due within one year

(33)
(33)

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
Restated
(15)
(15)

There were no long-term creditors as at 31 March 2016. The short term creditors above relates to
money owed to BCPFT by the Charitable Funds. The creditors arose as a result of payments made
by BCPFT on behalf of the Charity, as well as funds relating to BCP yet to be transferred from the
Charity’s bank account.
9. Unrestricted Funds
The following designated funds are held for staff and patient welfare and are expended in accordance
with the Charity's objectives and at the discretion of the Corporate Trustee.
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000
71
15
19
4
109

Division
Mental Health
Learning Disabilities
CYPF
Corporate
Total

Incoming
Resources
£'000
5
7
1
1
14

Resources
Expended
£'000
(10)
(9)
(19)

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
76
8
18
12
114

10. Restricted Funds
Sandy Parker - Capital in Perpetuity
Year Ending
31 March
2016
£'000
82
82

Division
Learning Disabilities
Total
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Incoming
Resources
£'000
-

Resources
Expended
£'000
-

Year Ending
31 March
2015
£'000
82
82

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Charitable Funds
Internal Audit Assurance Report
BCP17-029

Page 85

Internal Audit Service
This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be
recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written
consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not
been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose.
Our work is compliant with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and
represents our opinions and findings at the time of testing based upon the work
undertaken.

Consultation & Distribution
Draft issued 26th August 2016
Management Agreement
29th September 2016
Received
Final Report issued 25th October 2016

Distribution:
J Billingham

Head of Financial Services

K Chung

Financial Controller

A Hughes

Interim Deputy Director of Finance

T Cotterill

Director of Finance

C Passmore

Head of Communications

Members Of
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The co-operation and assistance of all staff involved is greatly appreciated.
Where agreed recommendation deadlines are not met, the Audit Committee can
request you to attend to discuss & clarify the reasons in order to comply with the
Monitor Well-Led Framework.
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Executive Summary
Our Assurance Opinion: Substantial
Monitor Approx. Equivalent RAG Rating:
No. of Assurances Over Control Areas Reviewed
Optimal

Substantial

0

4

0

Requires
Improvement

Insufficient

Amber-Green

No. of Recommendatins & Priorities
Total

High

Medium

3
0
7
0
5
Broadly equivalent 15/16 Assurance: Requires Improvement
1
6
0
7
0
4

Low

Total

2

7

1

5

Aim and Headline Context
Aim
As part of the Trust’s internal audit plan for 2016/17, to evaluate the Trust’s
arrangements for charitable funds, specifically with regard to expenditure controls
and funds reporting arrangements. We also examined the 2015/16 charitable
funds accounts in accordance with the Charity Commissions guidance for
examiners (CC32).
Headline Context
The 2015/16 accounts reported:
 income of £14k
 expenditure of £19k (including £4k governance costs)
 closing fund balances of £191k (£82k is the restricted Sandy Parker Fund)

Objectives and Testing
Control Objectives
1. To review the extent to which funds are available to be spent
2. To review the extent to which expenditure is only for the purpose intended
and is affordable by the relevant fund
3. To review the extent to which payments are valid and accounted for
4. To review the extent to which sufficient relevant, reliable information on
delegated funds is available to fund managers
5. To review the extent to which there is adequate control over centrally
managed income and expenditure
6. To review the extent to which reliable financial information is reported to the
trustees on a regular basis
7. To review the regularity and effectiveness of trustee involvement
Audit Tests and Sampling
Sampling/testing to support the level of assurance provided include:
 4/34 donations value £7198
 5/39 expense items value £1,890
 Review of minutes of Charitable Funds Committee (CFC)
 Review of Terms of Reference for CFC
 Control account reconciliations
 Fund balances review
 Review of finance working papers
 Management/bank charges and allocations
 Independent examination of Charity Commission Accounts and Annual Report.
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Summary of Risk/Control Issues
Owing to the relatively high public profile donated funds attract, it is essential that
the governance arrangements and statutory (Charity Commission) requirements
are maintained and appropriately managed via effective internal controls.
Sign off the Independent Examiners Report to confirm the accounting records and
accounts were compliant with the Charities Act, when the Trust files the accounts
with the Charity Commission. This has taken into account the HFMA guidance on
the early adoption of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 and Charities
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) that has replaced SORP 2005.
The key risks associated with expenditure are that it may be inappropriate to the
purpose of a fund (with the consequent reputational risk), or may exceed available
funds, or may be misappropriated.
Our review focused on the 2015/16 transactions and has taken into account the
overall systems and governance arrangements; there are no significant issues to
report under the Charities Act. We have assessed 4/7 of the internal controls as
Substantial (to give an overall Substantial level of assurance), with 3 remaining as
Requires Improvement.
Although not raised as a recommendation, to better support charitable funds other
Trusts have introduced a staff lottery whereby staff pay over a set amount per
month from their salary into a lottery fund. This has proved effective at other Trusts
and could be considered by the Trustees.
The key issues identified are:
 3/4 donations received, no evidence of acknowledgement found
 2/5 items of expenditure, no evidence of receipting found
 Changes are required to ensure on-going compliance with the new Charities
SORP
 Funds have been consolidated in year and there is a potential reputational
risk some donated ‘designated’ funds may have been included
*******
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2. Objective & Scope
2.1 As part of the Trust’s internal audit plan for 2016/17, to evaluate the
Trust’s arrangements for charitable funds, specifically with regard to
expenditure controls and funds reporting arrangements . We also
examined the 2015/16 charitable funds accounts in accordance with the
Charity Commissions guidance for examiners (CC32).
2.2 The Terms of Reference for this review are essentially reflected in Table
1 overleaf.

3. Significance
3.1 We examined the 2015/16 charitable funds accounts in accordance with
the Charity Commissions guidance for examiners (CC32), and signed off
the Independent Examiners Report to confirm the accounting records
and accounts were compliant with the Charities Act. This has taken into
account the HFMA guidance on the early adoption of Financial Reporting
Standard (FRS) 102 and the new Charities Statement of Recommended
Practice (SORP) that has replaced SORP 2005.
3.2 The 2015/16 accounts reported:
 income of £14k
 expenditure of £19k (including £4k governance costs)
 closing fund balances of £191k (of which £82k is the restricted
Sandy Parker Fund).
3.3 Owing to the relatively high public profile donated funds attract, it is
essential that the governance arrangements and statutory (Charity
Commission) requirements are maintained and appropriately managed
via effective internal controls.
3.4 The key risks associated with expenditure are that it may be
inappropriate to the purpose of a fund (with the consequent reputational
risk), may exceed available funds, or may be misappropriated.
3.5 This report assesses the internal controls on expenditure and fund
reporting / governance arrangements.

4. Our Opinion
4.1. On the basis of the work undertaken management can be provided with
an overall level of assurance as defined in Table 1 below:
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Table 1
OVERALL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION RATING: SUBSTANTIAL
Risk Objectives
1. To review the extent to which funds are

available to be spent
2. To review the extent to which expenditure is
only for the purpose intended and is affordable
by the relevant fund
3. To review the extent to which payments are
valid and accounted for
4. To review the extent to which sufficient relevant,
reliable information on delegated funds is
available to fund managers
5. To review the extent to which there is adequate
control over centrally managed income and
expenditure
6. To review the extent to which reliable financial
information is reported to the trustees on a
regular basis
7. To review the regularity and effectiveness of
trustee involvement

Assurance
Opinion

Rec.
Ref.

Substantial

6

Requires
Improvement

6,7

Substantial

7

Substantial

6

Requires
Improvement

2,3,4,7

Requires
Improvement

1,3,5,6

Substantial

6

5. Our Findings
5.1

Fund Availability

5.1.1 A movement of funds into an interest bearing account has taken place.
£85,000 has been placed with Nationwide Building Society with £17.70
interest earned for 15/16. £75,000 has been placed with Triodos and
has earned £15.33, and £18766.00 is held in Castle & Crystal. A total
of £178799.03 is now held in interest bearing accounts.

5.2

Purpose of Expenditure

5.2.1 Accounting arrangements
Transactions applicable to charitable funds were separately coded and
recorded in a spreadsheet workbook, however the process was
transferred mid-year and the ledger is now used for recording
transactions. This caused some one-off additional work in preparing
and reviewing the 2015/16 accounts. In addition re-working has been
required to ensure compliance with FRS102 and the new Charities
SORP.
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The Monthly reconciliations are completed for the balances in the
ledger and bank. Transfers between exchequer and charitable funds
bank accounts are being held as debtor and creditor balances rather
than being cleared through bank transactions; at 31/3/16 creditors and
debtors related to 2014/15 and 2015/16.
Recommendation 1
Low
To action bank transfers between exchequer and charitable funds on a
timely (at least quarterly) basis.
Copies of all donations received and expenditure requests from across
the Trust are now held centrally. The system for obtaining finance has
changed and expenditure is approved only if its use is considered to be
within the spirit of the use of charitable funds. Localities are required to
request a form from Finance for expenditure above £30 (petty cash
limit), stating the reason and amount. If Finance can see that sufficient
funds are not available then they will not issue a form.

5.2.2 Income
Income received by the Trust via donations during the year amounted
to circa £14k. Donors are now able to make donations on line through
My Donate which was set up during the financial year; to date a total of
£965.80 has been received.
The website is not able to offer donors the opportunity to indicate that
their donation should include ‘Gift Aid.’ The page says “Unfortunately,
this donation is not eligible for Gift Aid. This may be because the
charity isn't registered or hasn't asked MyDonate to collect it for
them, or the fundraising activity may not be eligible.”
Recommendation 2

Medium

To establish the reason for donations not being appropriate for ‘Gift Aid’ and
make any necessary changes to enable ‘Gift Aid’ to be collected
A donation of £1,000 was made by the family of a patient to the
Therapy and Recovery Unit (TARU) at Edward Street Hospital. The
money has been used to create a reminiscence room for the benefit of
patients attending the dementia unit. The room was officially unveiled
on 27th January 2016 and the article made front page news of the
March 2016 addition of Grapevine, the in-house magazine. No
evidence of the money being received has been found, but we have
been advised that no monies were formally paid over to the Trust, the
family asked what they could buy for the unit up to the value of £1,000.
We have reviewed the new SORP (Statement of Recommended
Practice) requirements and under Financial Reporting Standard (FRS)
102 and the Charities SORP, paragraphs 6.13-6.19 for Accounting for
donated Facilities and Services state:

Trust us to deliver

Page 92

Page 8

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Charitable Funds

Final Report

“If a charity is given facilities and services for its own use which it would
otherwise have purchased, these must be included in the charity’s
accounts when received, provided the value of the gift can be
measured reliably.
Donated facilities and services that are consumed immediately must be
recognised as income, with an equivalent amount recognised as an
expense under the appropriate heading in the statement of financial
activities (SoFA).”
Recommendation 3

Medium

Senior finance staff need to ensure there is an appropriate mechanism for
recording non-financial donations both within the internal financial system
(Integra) and the Charitable Fund accounts.

Review of 4 donations, total value £7198.19 identified the following:
Amount
£
20.00

1266.77
4911.42
1000.00

Designated Fund
Mental Health Urgent
Care donation from
patient’s family
Dudley General Fund
from League of Friends
Dudley General Fund
from League of Friends
Meadow Ward – MH
Urgent Care donation
from patient’s family

Recommendation 4

Donation
Acknowledged
Evidenced

No evidence of
acknowledgement found
No evidence
acknowledgement found
No evidence of
acknowledgement found

Low

Ensure all monies donated directly to the Trust are appropriately
acknowledged and donors formally thanked for their contributions
Gerry Simon are now offering a small range of goods which can be
purchased; in accordance with the new Charities SORP the income
and expenditure for these items, and other similar fundraising activities
will need to be presented in the Annual accounts Statement of
Financial Activities (SoFA) as “charitable activities”.
Recommendation 5

Medium

Senior finance staff need to make provision both in the internal working
papers and the CC accounts to identify income and expenditure attributable
to ‘charitable activities’

5.3

Expenditure
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Monies expended by the Trust, excluding the £4k management fee
charged to Charitable Funds, was circa £15k.
Review of 4 items of expenditure, value £1,890.00 identified the
following:
Application for Trust Fund
Monies completed &
appropriately authorised
A
N/A
B
Y
C
Y
D
Y
E
N/A
* Petty cash receipt only.
Item

Amount
£

Invoiced/
Receipted

30
60
600
1,000
200

Y*
Y
N
N
N

The £1,600 (items C & D above) used to purchase the table tennis
table and PS3’s in May 2015 came from the Health & Wellbeing fund
which had a nil balance at the time of the purchase. This fund has now
been amalgamated into the Mental Health Planned Care fund.
Petty cash monies is appropriately used for smaller items of
expenditure, limit is £30. Where petty cash money is paid out prior to
expenditure being incurred, i.e. member of staff asks for money to buy
a raffle prize to the value of £30, then whoever has signed for the
money should provide copies of receipts to support the £30 or pay back
into petty cash the difference if only £29 has been spent.
Recommendation 7

Medium

For petty cash purchases receipts confirming expenditure to be retained by
Finance to ensure any unspent cash is credited to the appropriate account.
For planned expenditure copy invoices to be retained centrally.
The Charitable Funds Committee agreed in September 2015 to the
consolidation of funds, which resulted in 137 individual funds being
consolidated into 14 funds each with a defined budget holder/fund
manager. Fund managers were supportive of merging funds since
many of the funds are so small it is not possible to use the money
effectively to benefit patients.
By consolidating the funds there are
currently no funds overdrawn and with fewer fund managers
expenditure should be more easily controlled.
Whilst is it known that some of the funds were set up because
donations, although not restricted, were given for a specific purpose;
not technically a restricted donation but a ‘designated’ donation, it has
not been impossible to go back and validate the extent of such
designation. Therefore the Trust will have to accept there may be a
risk of a former patient’s relative approaching the Trust to ask why
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money has not been spent in accordance with their relative’s wishes.
In future, the Trust should validate all donations to ensure they are
suitably recorded
Recommendation 6

Medium

Future donations to be suitably recorded to ensure any specific patient
wishes are adhered to by the Trust
It was noted from minutes of the September 2015 Charitable Funds
Committee meetings that the following 2 items of expenditure were
agreed:

5.4



£360 for the annual subscription for 5 users to access the
Photosymbols on-line website which assists with communication
for people with learning disabilities.



£5,300 for developing a website known as ‘Accessible Health’
for people with learning disabilities

Financial information is reported to Trustees

5.4.1 Charitable Funds Committee
During 2015/16 the Committee met on a quarterly basis during the
year, June, September, December 2015 and March 2016. The issue
of re-branding was raised at the early meetings and a suggested way
forward agreed. The re-branding has not yet taken place but a new
name has been suggested ‘Black Country Helping Hands.’ Once the
name has been approved by the Trust Board the Communications
Department is planning to launch the Charity to provide an opportunity
to promote the use of funding and shine a light on how donations have
been used in a positive way.

5.5

Regularity and effectiveness of Trustee involvement
The ‘Activities’ section of the Charity Commission website for Black
Country Partnership states “TO ENSURE THAT ALL INCOME
RECEIVED FROM DONATIONS IS USED FOR BENEFIT AND
COMFORT OF ALL WHO USE THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY
BLACK COUNTRY PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST.”
It was noted that collectively over the last 3 years the Trust has
received circa £48k and spent circa £31k. The main objective of any
charitable fund is to use donated monies for the benefit of service users
and whilst the Trust needs to be financially prudent in these challenging
fiscal times, expenditure and income over the year should be managed
effectively and staff encouraged to apply for funds to better support
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patient well-being. The promoting of the new charity should address
this issue.
To better support charitable funds other Trusts have introduced a staff
lottery whereby staff pay over a set amount per month from their salary
into a lottery fund. This has proved effective at other Trusts and could
be considered by the Trustees.

Trust us to deliver
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Charitable Funds

Management Action Plan
Recommendation

Low

1

To action bank transfers between exchequer and
charitable funds on a timely (at least quarterly)
basis.

Priority

Agreed Action

Transfers have been
completed for April –
September 2016, to continue
to action at least quarterly.

2*

Senior finance staff need to ensure there is an
appropriate mechanism for recording non-financial
donations both within the internal financial system
(Integra) and the Charitable Fund accounts

Trust us to deliver

Medium

3

To establish the reason for donations not being
appropriate for ‘Gift Aid’ and make any necessary
changes to enable ‘Gift Aid’ to be collected

Medium
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Claim Gift Aid retrospectively.

Ensure website is set up to
enable the application of Gift
Aid in future.
To update the CF policy to
specify notification of nonfinancial donations.
Tick-box form (detailed in rec 5
below) to include provision for
appropriate recording of nonfinancial donations
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Lead Officer /
Lead Director

Due Date

Financial
Accounting
Manager /
Financial
Controller;
Director of
Finance

Complete

Financial
Controller;
Director of
Finance

31st March
2017

Head of
Communications

Financial
Accounting
Manager;
Director of
Finance

31st
December
2016

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Final Report – Appendix 1

Charitable Funds
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5

Future donations to be suitably recorded to ensure
any specific patient wishes are adhered to by the
Trust

Trust us to deliver

Policy states that donations
should be acknowledged with
thank you letters. Tick-box
form detailed below (rec 5)
should address this issue.

Financial
Accounting
Manager;
Director of
Finance

30th
November
2016

Tick-box Form to be
documented establishing
whether deposits are
charitable/fund raising; nonfinancial donation; thank-you
letter has been sent; if
proceeds are designated etc.

Financial
Accounting
Manager;
Director of
Finance

30th
November
2016

As rec 5 above

Financial
Accounting
Manager /
Financial
Controller;
Director of
Finance

30th
November
2016

Priority

Medium

6

Senior finance staff need to make provision both in
the internal working papers and the CC accounts to
identify income and expenditure attributable to
‘charitable activities’

Due Date

Medium

4

Ensure all monies donated directly to the Trust are
appropriately acknowledged and donors formally
thanked for their contributions

Lead Officer /
Lead Director

Low

Recommendation

Agreed Action
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Charitable Funds

Recommendation

Medium

7

For petty cash purchases receipts confirming
expenditure to be retained by Finance to ensure any
unspent cash is credited to the appropriate account.
For planned expenditure copy invoices to be
retained centrally

Priority

Agreed Action
Reminder to be issued to
General Office staff.
Copies of all evidence to be
retained centrally by Finance.

Lead Officer /
Lead Director

Due Date

Financial
Accounting
Manager;
Director of
Finance

30th
November
2016
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*Whilst this recommendation does not represent a control risk it would be imprudent not to seek to maximise the Trusts charitable
income.w
*

Trust us to deliver
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Assurance Opinion

Optimal

Substantial

Requires
Improvement

Insufficient

Priority Rating

Definition

•In our opinion there is a sound system of
internal controls designed to ensure that the
business is able to achieve its objectives.

•In our opinion isolated areas of control
weakness were identified which, whilst not
systemic, put some business objectives at
risk.
•In our opinion systemic and/or
material control weaknesses were identified
such that some business objectives are put
at significant risk

•In our opinion the control environment was
considered inadequate to ensure that the
business is able to achieve its objectives

Definition

Low

•The system has not achieved best possible
practice but has most of the appropriate
arrangements/controls in place to reduce the
likelihood and impact of the relevant risks to
an acceptable level.

Medium

•Some of the arrangements/controls in place
are considered weak and/or inappropriate
such that there is exposure to low impact
risks.

High

•The arrangements/controls in place are not
sufficient and there is exposure to high
impact risks.

Trust us to deliver

Page 100

Page 16

Encl. 7.1

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30 November 2016

Subject:

Review of Nursing Establishment

Presented by:

Joyce Fletcher, Executive Director of Nursing AHP’s,
Psychology and Governance (Interim)

Author:

Joyce Fletcher, Head of Nursing, Interim Executive
Director of Nursing AHP’s, Psychology and Governance,
Heidi Cater, Head of Nursing and Judy McDonald, Head
of Nursing

Purpose:

For information and assurance

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.

X

We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

X

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.

X

Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.

X

Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

X

Relationship to High Level Risks:

BAF4
Recommendation(s):
That the Board receive and note this report

Page 1 of 5

Page 101

Equality & Diversity implications:

There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
Monitor:
X

Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds

Audit
Quality & Safety
Other
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QSSG

None
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Executive Summary
1.0

Introduction

There is a national requirement to review nursing registered and unregistered
HCSWS staff levels on a six monthly basis. This report sets out an update of the
review of staffing establishment for the Mental Health and Learning Disability
divisions (October 2016) and builds on previous reports submitted to the Board.
An update of the National Safer Staffing programme was shared at the Board of
Directors in July 2016 which set out the revised national guidance from the National
Quality Board (NQB) on Safe, Sustainable and Productive staffing. This guidance
includes the three NQB expectations that form a ‘triangulated’ approach (right staff,
right skills, right place and time) to staffing decisions. This approach looks at
staffing levels based on patients’ needs, acuity and risks, which are monitored from
the ‘ward to the board’ which will enable NHS provider boards to make appropriate
judgements about delivering safe sustainable and productive staffing.
The NQB report highlights how CQC supports this triangulated approach to staff
decisions, rather than making judgements based solely on numbers of staff to
patients. This is the approach taken in the enclosed reporting process.
2.0
Overview of Mental Health and Learning Disability Review of Inpatient
Nursing Establishment, Capacity and Capability Review
The staffing levels are monitored closely on a shift by shift basis and wards continue
to maintain safe staffing level numbers against planned versus actual with the
rostering of additional healthcare support workers and registered nursing staff where
registered nurse vacancies remain a challenge.
The Divisions demonstrate a commitment to achieving a reduction in bank and zero
agency usage with the implementation of a range of proactive actions previously
reported to Board of Directors; showing a downward trend in use of agency.
There is an overall commitment to actively engage in the activities/subgroups aligned
to Workforce Development and the Professional Nursing Board to support
recruitment to vacant substantive posts and retention of existing staff.
Workforce changes are being reviewed including effective management of all
changes including retirement, succession planning whilst taking the opportunity to
explore skill mixing and working in new ways.
The review also includes continued engagement at a local level with clinical teams to
be creative in recruitment processes focussing on target audiences, i.e. learner
nurses pending registration, apprentices, regular temporary staff, registered general
nurses and the introduction of new roles including assistant practitioners.
Sickness levels are being monitored working towards the Trust target of 4.5%.
Sickness performance targets will also be closely monitored within the Divisional
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Management Board and Performance Days (engaging Service and General
Managers) on a monthly basis.
2.1
Mental Health Review of Inpatient The paper outlines current funded
nursing establishment for the nine inpatient wards within the Mental Health Division.
The content gives a focus to the ongoing challenges faced with the recruitment of
registered nurses particularly Macarthur, Dale and Abbey and progress in relation to
current initiatives to support addressing this.
Shift pattern reviews have occurred during 2016 for both Macarthur and Hallam
Street Hospital. The Division proposes a further review utilising the learning from
previous service experiences at both Penn and Edward Street Hospitals from
January 2017.
An options appraisal is underway to explore an increase to the current funded
establishment for Brook Ward, Penn. Patient acuity and incidents of physical
violence and aggression being the catalyst for this piece of work.
The paper also highlights some proposed key recommendations that have been
considered and approved by members of the Divisional Quality and Safety Group
and shared at Quality Safety Steering Group.
2.2 Learning Disabilities Review of Inpatient Nursing Establishment, Capacity
and Capability Review (Appendix 2)
The main service changes that have occurred since the March 2016 safer staffing
review includes the closure of Pond Lane and the opening of The Pines (Female
Step Down forensic Service)
Due to low occupancy of assessment and treatment units a review of the
assessment and treatment beds is underway.
Night staffing was reviewed following the last Nursing Establishment Review in
March 2016 review and mitigation clearly identified however there still remains an
issue in terms of breaks. The inpatient review may necessitate the need for staff
redeployment which would resolve the night staffing concern. Recruiting
substantively at this point may disadvantage staff who may need future
redeployment. Unit managers have the autonomy to book extra night staff as and
when required to ensure the safe and effective running of the unit.
The report also includes the average staffing levels for each inpatient area by
registered and un-registered staff (Sept 2015 – August 2016). Variance in registered
staff may result from recruitment challenges at the Larches (opened in November
2015) along with recent sickness. Significant differences between planned and
actual utilisation of HCSW are indicative of the observation challenge within LD
inpatient services.
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Summary
The above report presents the six monthly review of Safe, Sustainable and
Productive Staffing – Nursing Establishment, Capacity and Capability Review
(Appendix 1 and 2)
It is important to note, wards continue to maintain safe staffing level numbers against
planned versus actual with the rostering of additional registered nursing and
healthcare support workers where registered nurse vacancies remain a challenge.
Following further implementation of the above recommendations and those specific
to each Division a further Nursing Establishment review will be undertaken March
2017.
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Appendix 1

Review of Inpatient Nursing Establishment,
Capacity and Capability
Mental Health Division
September 2016
Review date March 2017
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Author: Heidi Cater, Head of Nursing, Mental Health
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Review of Inpatient Nursing Establishment, Capacity and
Capability, Mental Health
1.0 Introduction
There is an organisational requirement to review nursing staff levels on a six monthly
basis across the Mental Health Inpatient services. This paper has been refreshed to
reflect progress and provide an updated position for the Division.
The paper outlines the current funded nursing establishment and agreed minimum
safe staffing levels required to support the bed occupancy, patient acuity and deliver
safe and effective care.
The Mental Health Division has nine inpatient wards across four hospital sites:
-

Edward Street Hospital; Sandwell - Older adults

-

Hallam Street Hospital; Sandwell - Adults of working age

-

Penn Hospital; Wolverhampton, Adults and Older Adults

-

Macarthur Centre; Sandwell , Male Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU)

The inpatient service is described in more detail in table 1
1.1 Table 1 – Mental Health Inpatient Services - Urgent Care
Ward

Speciality

Edward Street Hospital
Salter Ward

Older adults with functional disorders assessment
and treatment ward

Chance Ward

Older adults with organic disorders (complex needs),
assessment and treatment ward.

Hallam Street Hospital
Charlemont Ward

Adults of working age

Friar Ward

Adults of working age

Abbey Ward

Adults of working age

Penn Hospital
Older adults assessment and treatment ward
(Functional and Organic disorders )

Dale Ward

Adult of working age (female)

Brook Ward

Adults of working age (male)

Macarthur Centre

Male Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit

Page
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Meadow Ward
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2.0 Shift Patterns Review
Revised shift patterns have been implemented within both Macarthur , January 2016
and Hallam Street March 2016.
The shift systems introduced were staff led and offer greater choice and flexibility to
the nursing team. Additional benefits include:
-Continuity of patient care delivery achieved with the long days.
-Staff rest days being together each week.
-Elimination of long stretches ie 6 days plus.
-Improved work life balance/general wellbeing and increased down time.
-Potential reduction in sickness absence
The Division proposes a further review of existing shift patterns utilising the learning
from previous sites at both Penn and Edward Street hospitals from January 2017.
3.0 Funded Nursing Establishment
3.1 Table 2 : Funded Registered Nursing Establishment Urgent Care August
2016
Substantive Registered Nurses

228
241
212
242
214
246
306
304
Grand
Total

Charlemont
House
PICU
Brook Ward
Friar House
Dale Ward
Abbey House
Meadow Ward
Salter Ward
Chance Ward

WTE
Budget

WTE
Actual

15.5

12.59

2.91

7.29

19.87
17.38
14.43
17.38
15.5
15.91
14.6
14.97

12.85
13.95
12.55
12.6
10.8
13.0
13.6
12.98

7.02
3.43
1.88
4.78
4.7
2.91
1.0
1.99

6.79
6.03
5.45
4.78
3.68
2.91
1.18
0.99

145.54

114.92

30.62

39.1

4

213

Report Name

Variance
WTE
February
2016

Page

Report No

Variance
WTE August
2016
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3.2 Table 3 : Funded Healthcare Support Worker Establishment Urgent Care
August 2016

Report No
228
306
242
246

213
214
241
212
304
Grand
Total

Report Name
PICU
Salter Ward
Dale Ward
Meadow Ward

Charlemont
House
Abbey House
Brook Ward
Friar House
Chance Ward

WTE
Budget

WTE
Actual

Variance
WTE August
2016

11.68
10.54
10.92
9.43

12.0
8.8
10.0
10.55

-0.32
1.74
0.92
-1.12

Variance
WTE
February
2016
1.52
1.12
1.12
0.88

11.31

10.8

0.51

-0.88

12.34
10.92
12.03
16.38

10.88
10.97
11.63
16.63

1.46
-0.05
0.4
-0.25

-0.96
-1.05
-1.11
-1.28

105.55

102.26

3.29

-0.64

Tables 2 and 3 outline the current funded establishments for both registered nurses
and healthcare support workers.
There remains a significant variance of 30.62 wte registered nurse posts vacant
against the 145.54 funded within the establishments .The variance February 2016
was 39.1 It is recognised whilst some clinical areas have successfully recruited to
registered nurse posts during the last six months ie Charlemont and Friar, other
teams have been unable to recruit to vacant posts ie Macarthur, Dale and Abbey.
Retention of existing registered nurses has also impacted on the overall substantive
post picture in the main due to ie retirement, promotion opportunities.

Page

4.0 Recruitment and Retention Challenges
There has been significant progress within a range of actions and initiatives
supporting the recruitment and retention challenges over the last six months. These
are being led by workforce sub groups and local level activities and are monitored
via both Nursing Board and Workforce Committee.

5

Recruitment and retention of registered mental health nurses particularly at Band 5
remains an ongoing challenge for the Division It is important to note this is not
unique to BCPFT and mirrors the national picture. However, recruitment and
retention of Healthcare Support Workers maintains a positive position.
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Examples include

Achieve a ‘time to hire” of 8 weeks in line with the Regional Streamlining.
Now monitored by set KPIs.

Electronic vacancy approval form developed Now in use.

Back log of contracts cleared. Contracts are now prepared prior to start
date.

Accurate tracking of posts through the whole process Recruitment database
currently being developed to include vacancy approval to appointment.

A ‘target’ date for appointment based on 10 weeks from advert. This will be
built into the recruitment database.

All vacancy adverts to be forwarded to bank workers . This is made available
via the job bulletin and shared widely.

All job bulletins to be available for displaying in clinical areas. Ward
Managers and Team Leads receive and print off.

Arrangements to be made for recruitment checks to be undertaken on the day
of interviews where appropriate. Introducing one stop shop model.

Improved communications with successful candidates. Monitored via the
new KPIs.

Development of a Standard Operating Procedure to outline the roles and
responsibilities within the process. SOP developed and available.

Development of the Recruitment and Retention Strategy Draft strategy
complete along with action plan, to be tabled at Workforce Committee
November 2016 for approval.


Recruitment Campaign Initiatives New material developed and agreed.
First recruitment campaign using this will be the MERIT joint recruitment
event on 12th November at Birmingham Library.



Diagnostic Tool Framework. Activity monitored via the Nursing Board.



Explore potential recruitment of existing agency workers to substantive posts.
Successful recruitment to both internal bank and substantive posts
continues to be given a focus.


.


Introduction of weekly pay for bank work implemented
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 Progress Agency National Safe Staff Arrangements CAP
 “Shaping our Future”, development of a Modern Nursing Career Pathway Model.
Actively monitored via Nursing Board.

6

Explore self-rostering opportunities for staff Work undertaken around
improving rostering. Rosters now completed in line with the 8 week
timescale. Roster workshops held to support managers with effective
roster management. Audit tool now being implemented on an individual
ward basis.

In addition, the recruitment and retention sub group are working through the action
plan to include:
 All new starters to receive a survey to gain feedback on the recruitment
process via survey monkey.
 A survey developed for recruitment managers to gain feedback on the
recruitment process, via survey monkey.
 A 6 monthly survey to gain further feedback to ensure full induction has taken
place.
 Recruitment website to be reviewed and further developed by December.
 Annual recruitment planner/calendar developed.
 New recruitment policy and managers guidance completed and
agreed/uploaded to intranet.
 Section on e-bulletin to identify where jobs can be located.
 The use of social media for adverts where appropriate.
5.0 Safe Staffing Levels
5.1 Table 4 : Safe Staffing Levels
Ward

Beds

Early

Late

Night

Salter

20

5

5

4

Chance

18

6

6

4

Charlemont

18

5

5

4

Friar

18

5

5

4

Abbey

18

5

5

4

Meadow

16

5

5

4

Dale

16

5

5

4

Brook

20

5

5

4

Macarthur

12

7

7

6

Table 4 outlines the minimum safe staff levels for each ward on a shift by shift basis.
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It is to be noted that Dale ward staff levels factor in the additional function of
supporting the 136 Suite activity on Penn Hospital site. However ,it is recognised the
current staff to patient ratio of 1 : 3.2 ( early and late shifts ) and 1:4 ( nights ) can

7

5.2 Work in progress

create challenges for the clinical team when supporting the function of a facility
external to the ward This identified resource pressure needs to be raised within the
2017 contracting round with commissioners.
Brook ward has 20 male beds and the clinical team have been working with the
Service Manager and Head of Nursing and finance to explore an increase to the
current funded establishment of 554 to 664. Patient acuity and incidents of physical
violence and aggression have been the catalyst. This is a piece of work which will
be supported by an options appraisal in relation to the makeup of the additional
nursing posts i.e. Band 4, Band 3, Band 2 and will be delivered to Quality and Safety
Group Jan 2017. It is anticipated the increase in staff levels will offset the bank and
agency use and deliver potential cost savings.
Penn Hospital currently operates a supernumerary Duty Senior Nurse rota for late
shifts and nights. To ensure continuity this model is being considered and costed for
implementation at Hallam Street .
*Each ward has a full time Ward Manager in addition to minimum staff levels and
functions in a supernumerary capacity.
5.3 Skill mix
5.4 Table 5 – Staff Skill Mix

Chance
Charlemont
Friar
Abbey
Meadow
Dale
Brook
Macarthur

Late

Night

3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
3 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
4 HCSW

3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
3 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
4 HCSW

2 Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
2Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
2 Registered
2 HCSW
3 Registered
3 HCSW

8

Salter

Early

Page

Ward

Page 114

Table 5 outlines the desired skill mix ratio of registered to non-registered staff .
However, in the current climate of registered nurse vacancies this is not always
achieved. Nevertheless, it must be noted wards continue to maintain their safe
staffing level numbers against Planned versus Actual with the rostering of additional
healthcare support workers .Compliance is monitored and evidenced monthly by the
Safe , Sustainable and Productive Staffing Survey that is then uploaded to the
National Unify System.
5.5 Safe Staffing Evidence based Tools/Safe Care Pilot
The Mental Health Group participated in a West Midlands Safe Staffing pilot in early
2015 to support the development of evidence based Safer Staffing tools.
The wards participating in the second phase of the pilot are:
Brook ward – Penn
Charlemont – Hallam Street
Chance ward - Edward Street
Data collection commenced on 1st June 2016 with the wards providing daily
information to the bank and rostering team pertaining to each patient’s dependency
level for each shift.
Nursing teams have raised concerns that the tool is flawed in that it does not
accurately reflect the dependency of mental health patients with the tool being
predominantly acute care focused. Therefore, the data may produce inaccurate
staffing ratios. This has been raised at nursing Board and requires further discussion
as to the value of continuing with this activity.
Further national work is underway in relation to Mental Health safe staffing and the
Trust awaits the outcome in support of any local opportunity to participate.
6.0 Sickness Absence
Sickness absence levels for the Trust as a whole remain higher than the KPI target
of 4.5%, for the Mental Health Division the year to date prediction stands at 5.42%
and is a combined figure for both long and short term sickness levels. The Division
continues to fluctuate in its sickness absence levels, for August 2016 the combined
figure is at 5.13%, Long term sickness totalling 3.17% and short term sickness
1.96%.
The primary reason recorded for short term sickness continues to be for
musculoskeletal problems whilst the primary reason for long term absences remains
stress, anxiety and depression.
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A significant amount of good practice aimed to reduce absence levels linked to the
Health and Wellbeing Committee continues to be developed and progressed
including ESR Project which will be implemented from November 2016 onwards to

9

As previously reported Sickness Absence continues to be actively managed in line
with the revised Managing Attendance Policy and is monitored on a monthly basis
through the Quality and Safety Board, Divisional Management Board and within the
Divisions Performance Assurance meetings.

support the effective use of the ESR and e-rostering self-service system with
managers able to have real-time reporting.
The Division will continue to focus on embedding staff health and wellbeing and
encourage staff personal responsibility for their own health and wellbeing.
6.1 Table 6 – Inpatient Ward Sickness Levels – March 2016 – August 2016

Hospital
Edward
Street
Hallam
Street
Heath
Lane
Penn

Ward
Chance
Salter
Abbey
Charlemont
Friar
Macarthur

Mar-16 Apr-16 May-16
7.60% 7.80%
6.35%
0.93% 4.02%
4.47%
4.60% 7.77%
6.50%
0.89% 5.53% 14.36%
3.62% 3.35%
0.64%
11.63% 10.42%
7.98%

Jul-16 Aug-16
9.95% 11.22%
0.55% 0.11%
9.23% 4.48%
6.27% 3.60%
5.39% 5.16%
7.50% 11.80%

Sickness
Levels
YTD
9.02%
1.86%
6.48%
7.34%
3.17%
8.82%

Brook
Dale
Meadow

11.96% 9.14%
7.81% 8.26% 12.60% 12.31%
2.89% 9.44%
6.22% 5.56% 4.54% 5.13%
6.99% 12.63% 14.12% 14.89% 12.46% 8.47%

10.05%
6.14%
12.51%

Jun-16
9.87%
0.11%
4.33%
6.69%
0.87%
6.50%

7. Bank and Agency Use
7.1 Table 7 :Bank and Agency Use
Report
Number
228
306
242
246
213
214
241
212
304
Grand Total

Report Name
PICU
Salter Ward
Dale Ward
Meadow Ward
Charlemont House
Abbey House
Brook Ward
Friar House
Chance Ward

Agency
Spend
£'000
124
12
78
161
16
28
86
32
86
623

Bank Spend
£'000
188
69
35
178
56
68
67
93
203
957

Total
£'000
312
81
113
339
72
96
153
125
289
1,580
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The annual expenditure on bank and agency staff reached £3.6 million in 2014-15
across the nine inpatient wards. The figure for 2015-16 saw a further increase to
£3.9 million.

10

The expenditure on bank and agency staff April to August 2016 has reached £1.6
million across the nine inpatient wards.

Factors that have influenced continued use of temporary staff in order to maintain
safe staff levels often exceeding the minimum baseline staffing include:




Registered nurse vacancies and recruitment challenges across all inpatient
sites
Clinical Observations at Level 3 and Level 4 due to patient clinical
presentations requiring support and management of significant risks ie
violence and aggression, self-harm
Cover for staffing shortfalls relating to sickness absence and time out, for
example, training.

7.2 Table 8 - Bank and Agency Spend April 16 – August 16 (forecast
September 16 – March 17)

MH Division Bank & Agency Spend
£350,000
£300,000
£250,000
£200,000
£150,000
£100,000
£50,000
£0
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

Agency

Bank

Vacancies remain the majority reason for registered bank and agency use, whilst
clinical observations remain the reason for unregistered.
It is important to note the proportion of agency use has decreased month on month
from July to September 2016and the forecast shows an ongoing trend in reduction.
The Division maintains a commitment to achieving a reduction in Bank and zero
Agency usage with the implementation of a range of proactive recommendations
including regular safe staffing dial-ins facilitated by the Head of Nursing.
8.0 Recommendations
Following this current review of the Inpatient Nursing Establishment the Mental
Health Division will :

Workforce Development and Nursing Board to support recruitment to vacant
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substantive posts and retention of existing staff
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1. Continue to actively engage in the activities / sub groups aligned to
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2. Continue to engage at local level with clinical teams to be creative in
recruitment processes focussing on target audiences. ie learner nurses
pending registration, apprentices, regular temporary staff, registered general
nurses and the introduction of new roles including assistant practitioners.
3. Effectively manage all workforce changes ie retirement, succession planning.
4. Participate and influence the” Shaping our Future “, development of a
Modern Nursing Career Pathway Model and its implementation.
5. Review existing shift patterns for Edward Street and Penn January 2017.
6. Complete an options appraisal for the proposed increase in staffing levels on
Brook ward.
7. Liaise with commissioners (Wolverhampton) regarding resource to support
136 Suite at Penn.
8. Explore introduction of a supernumerary Duty Senior Nurse model at Hallam
Street to align to Penn.
9. Monitor and analyse the data collected from the Safe Care Phase 2 pilot sites
and review its value and effectiveness.
10. Actively explore the potential to recruit posts over the funded establishment
as and when the opportunity within teams arises.
11. Minimise the risk of overspend by:
a. The continued management of sickness levels towards the Trust target
of 4.5%
b. Continue to closely monitor the performance against this target within
both the Divisions Management Board and Performance Days
(engaging Service and General managers) on a monthly basis.
12. Continue to engage the nursing and medical team in implementation of the
Clinical Observation Policy and monitor compliance with regular review of
observation levels.
13.Introduce a formalised approach at local level to a programme of work to
support ward managers with effective roster management.
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Establishment review will be undertaken March 2017.

12

Following implementation of the above recommendations a further Nursing
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Appendix 2

Review of Inpatient Nursing Establishment,
Capacity and Capability Review
Learning Disability Group
September 2016
Review March 2017
Author: Judy McDonald Head of Nursing LD & CYPF
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Review of Nursing Staffing Capacity, Capability and
Establishment Update – Learning Disability
1. Introduction
There is an organisational requirement to review nursing staff levels on a six monthly
basis across the learning disability inpatient services. A full review was undertaken in
September 2015 and was reviewed in March 2016 with the introduction of two new
inpatient facilities The Pines and The Larches.
The paper outlines the current funded nursing establishment and agreed minimum
safe staffing levels required to support the bed occupancy, patient acuity and deliver
safe effective care.
2. Background
The Learning Disabilities Division continues to face a number of challenges in
respect of the delivery of assessment and treatment and forensic inpatient beds
across the four boroughs of the Black Country, including:
•

Financial challenges in 2016/17.

•

Occupancy variances and income for bed day costs with the prospect of spot
purchasing in the future means that the staffing ratio and numbers per shift
and per patient needs to be safe, viable and consistent in the future. This will
ensure sustainability. A current review of bed day costs is being undertaken
to ensure we meet our contribution

•

Culture and practice of units need to be continually challenged to ensure
financial sustainability and management accountability against establishments
and reduction in bank and agency use.

•

The group now need to work on a stepped model of care to ensure
establishments and safe staffing numbers reflect occupancy levels and
efficient use of staff resources.

•

Following the last review of staffing establishment the Trust has seen a
closure of one of its units Pond Lane in Wolverhampton.

•

The current national agenda for learning disabilities is to see a reduction of all
assessment and treatment beds nationally, in line with this agenda there is
currently a review of the assessment and treatment beds across the service.
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3. Learning Disability Inpatient Services - Assessment and Treatment
Unit

Location

Penrose House
Ridge Hill

Heath
Lane
Sandwell
Dudley

Orchard Hills

Walsall

Number of Beds
Hospital 10
5
8

4. Learning Disability Inpatient Services- Forensic

Unit

Location

Number of Beds

Gerry Simon Clinic Low Heath Lane Hospital 16
Secure Service
Sandwell
The Larches male step Hallam Street Hospital 14
up / step down
Sandwell
The Pines
Hallam Street Hospital
4
Female step down
5. Shift Patterns

The shift patterns on each unit varies slightly which has been based on either
ongoing review of shift patterns and the introduction of twilight shifts such as
at Gerry Simon or based on historical shift patterns that staff have opted to
remain with.
The nursing establishment has been set in accordance to these existing shift
patterns are not currently scheduled for review
The agreed safe staffing levels for each unit were therefore agreed as follows:
Assessment and Treatment Units
Each unit also has a full-time Band 7 Ward Manager in addition (supernumerary) to
safe staffing levels.
*Penrose, Daisy Bank, currently operate a long day shift pattern
Unit

Early

Late

Night

Penrose*

6

4

Daisy Bank*

5

3

Ridge Hill
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7
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5

Forensic Units
Gerry Simon Unit has 3 day care coordinators who are supernumerary and a
psychologist within the staff team who work 9-5
The Pines and The Larches have an occupational therapist and a psychologist within
the staff team who work 9-5.
Unit

Early

Late

Night

Gerry Simon Clinic

8

8

6

The Pines

3

3

2

The larches

6

6

4

The safe staffing levels are broken down by registered nursing staff and unregistered
nursing staff as follows:
Assessment and Treatment Units

Unit

Early

Late

Penrose

2 Registered Nurses
4 unregistered Nursing staff

Daisy Bank

2 Registered Nurses
3 unregistered nursing staff

Ridge Hill
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2 Registered
Nurses
5 unregistered
nursing staff

2 Registered
Nurses
5 unregistered
nursing staff
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Night
1 Registered Nurse
3 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered
Nurses
2 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered Nurse
4 unregistered
nursing staff

Forensic Units
Unit
Gerry Simon Clinic

The Pines

The larches

Early

Late

Night

3 Registered
Nurses
5 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered Nurse
2 unregistered
nursing staff
2 Registered
Nurses
4 unregistered
nursing staff

3 Registered
Nurses
5 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered nurse
2 unregistered
nursing staff
2 Registered
Nurses
4 unregistered
nursing staff

2 Registered
Nurses
4 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered Nurse
1 unregistered
nursing staff
1 Registered Nurse
3 unregistered
nursing staff

6. Funded Nursing Establishment September 2016 (not included vacancies
recruited in September)
Expense Code Desc

(All)

Report Desc from QV
Forensic Gerry Simon

Expense Code Desc2
Unregistered
Registered

Forensic Gerry Simon Total
Larch Ward

Larch Ward Total
Orchards Hills - Behavioural

Orchards Hills - Behavioural Total
Penrose House
Penrose House Total
Ridgehill Client Services
Ridgehill Client Services Total
The Pines
The Pines Total
Grand Total
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Values
Sum of WTE Budget Sum of WTE Actual Sum of WTE Vacancy
30.83
28.39
2.44
15.07
15.52
-0.45
45.9
43.91
1.99
ADMIN & CLERICAL BAND 2
0.4
0
0.4
Unregistered
14.1
17.57
-3.47
Registered
14.1
10.97
3.13
28.6
28.54
0.06
DRIVERS BAND 2
1
1
0
Unregistered
13.83
11.35
2.48
Registered
7.7
8
-0.3
22.53
20.35
2.18
Unregistered
18.97
16.52
2.45
Registered
8.5
9.23
-0.73
27.47
25.75
1.72
Unregistered
27.5
22.23
5.27
Registered
9.33
8.8
0.53
36.83
31.03
5.8
Unregistered
8.57
6
2.57
Registered
5.53
5
0.53
14.1
11
3.1
175.43
160.58
14.85

Page 124

7.0 Shift utilisation

Shift Utilisation Analysis
August 2016

Registered

Unregistered

Gerry Simon

Orchard Hills

Penrose House

Ridge Hill

The Larches

The Pines

Gerry Simon

Orchard Hills

Penrose House

Ridge Hill

The Larches

The Pines

3
3
2

2
2
1

2
2
1

2
2
1

3
3
2

1
1
1

5
5
4

3
3
2

4
4
3

5
5
4

3
3
2

2
2
1

Annual Average Staff EARLY
Annual Average Staff LATE
Annual Average Staff NIGHT

3.6
3.2
2.0

2.0
2.0
1.0

2.2
2.2
1.1

1.6
1.5
1.0

2.4
2.3
2.0

0.9
1.0
1.0

8.1
8.2
4.8

3.6
3.6
3.0

7.1
7.1
5.8

4.5
4.6
4.2

6.3
5.8
3.2

2.1
2.0
1.0

Under/over Average EARLY
Under/over Average LATE
Under/over Average NIGHT

0.6
0.2
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.2
0.2
0.1

-0.4
-0.5
0.0

-0.6
-0.7
0.0

-0.1
0.0
0.0

3.1
3.2
0.8

0.6
0.6
1.0

3.1
3.1
2.8

-0.5
-0.4
0.2

3.3
2.8
1.2

0.1
0.0
0.0

Current as of
last review

YEAR

Learning Disability

Planned Staff EARLY
Planned Staff LATE
Planned Staff NIGHT

Shift Type

No. of Shifts

Month (15/16)

Learning Disability

The table above shows the average staffing levels for each inpatient area by
registered and un-registered staff (sept 2015 – August 2016). Variance in registered
staff may result from recruitment challenges at the Larches (opened in November
2015) along with recent sickness. Significant difference between planned and actual
utilisation of HCSW are indicative of the observation challenge within LD inpatient
services.
8. Night Staffing establishment
A number of questions were raised at QSSG following the last establishment review
in March 2016, around the night staffing levels, particularly having only one
registered nurse per shift. The units affected by this were Ridge Hill, Daisy Bank,
Pond Lane and Penrose. QSSG raised the following concerns:
1. Whether the safety of the service users compromised with only one
registered nurse.
2. How can the registered nurse have a break with no one to relieve them of
their duties.
A review of these issues were carried out by Judy McDonald Head of Nursing LD,
CYPF and Scott Humphries General Manager LD.
8.1 Review
The review consisted of:
1. Reviewing reported incidents over a 6 month period (the time period of the
report covered) to look at incidents occurring within night hours and
considering the impact on the incidents of having an additional registered
nurse.
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2. Reviewed CQC report on safety.
3. Reviewed current practice to support additional clinical need.
4. Met with the unit managers and Matron to discuss how breaks were currently
being managed.
5. Scope of other services
8.2 Datix review


87 recorded incidents during the 6 months within the nightshift period
(accounts for 21% of the 407 total recorded incidents for the affected units)



97% of the 87 incidents are rated as minor or insignificant



3% rated as level 3 moderate but they relate to community issues reported to
inpatient staff



Following clinical review of the incidents it is conclude that 4 of the 87 may
have benefited from an additional qualified accounting for only 5% of the 87
recorded incidents)

8.3 CQC Report
CQC reported staffing levels as safe stating “ward staffing levels were safe and ward
managers had option of increasing levels as required”
8.4 Current Practice
Admissions to the assessment and treatment units are planned within working hours.
The current practice is if clinical need dictates staffing levels are increased to
accommodate any additional clinical need and if required extra registered nurses are
rostered on.
8.5 Unit Manager meeting
The unit managers were able to confirm that the registered nurse on nights does not
have a break.
Within Walsall (Daisy Bank) it had been agreed to pay staff for their break as
opposed to them taking it, this is not the case for the other units.
The unit managers felt that numbers of service users on the unit did not clinically
warrant two registered nurses and the service users were often asleep at night. On
occasions where the clinical requirement was for additional registered nurse this has
been facilitated. On occasions this has meant utilising a registered mental health
nurse with the registered learning disability nurse leading the shift. This was felt
acceptable by the team.
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The unit managers did accept that it was not appropriate for staff to work twelve
hours without a break and could impact on clinical judgement.

8.6 Scope of similar services
A scope of similar services was carried out through learning disability networks and
approaching colleagues in surrounding Trusts.
One of the Trusts approached had closed their out lying units in line with the
Transforming care agenda. Within the bigger sites they had set up a buddy system
where the staffing establishment had been reviewed over a number of units e.g
three registered nurses for two units, the additional nurse would facilitate breaks and
support where clinical need was most pressing.
Other services offered more social care than health care so were not comparable.
8.7 Recommendation
The inpatient review would look at may necessitate the need for staff redeployment
which would resolve the night staffing concern. Recruiting substantively at this point
may disadvantage staff who need future redeployment.
Unit managers have the autonomy to book extra night staff as and when required to
ensure the safe and effective running of the unit.
9.0 bank and agency
Agency
For the Learning Disabilities Group, the allocation of agency premium budget for
2016/17 is £316k.
To date the LD Group has spent £353k on agency. Table 5 overleaf provides a
breakdown of this spend by staff group.
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Table 5: YTD Agency Spend by Staff Group as % of Substantive Spend

Staff Group
AHP's
A&C
Nursing Qualified
Nursing Unqualified
Medical
Psychology
Pharmacy
Estates & Facilities
Other Staff Groups

Agency
Spend YTD

Substantive
Spend YTD

%

29
4
85
221
13
0
0
0
0
353

574
372
2,086
1,602
836
309
0
10
15
5,804

4.78%
1.15%
3.93%
12.12%
1.56%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
5.73%

Controlling Agency spend is a priority for the Trust and the Learning Disabilities
Group and current forecasts, as illustrated in the graph below, do indicate a
downward trend on the assumptions that recruitment drives will be successful and
tighter controls on agency bookings will take effect over the coming months.
One of the challenges is a lack of registered learning disability nurses on the Trust
bank. The service is actively recruiting to the bank and looking at the Transforming
Care Together partnership to share trust bank staff across the learning disability
work force.
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Table 6: 2016-17 Forecasted Agency Spend

The LD Group is forecasting Agency Spend to be £623k by year-end.

10. Recruitment and Retention Challenges
There are many actions and initiatives currently being implemented to support the
recruitment and retention challenges being faced across the organisation. These are
being delivered via a range of workforce sub groups and local level activities and are
monitored via both Nursing Board and Workforce Committee.
Examples include:


A detailed review and improvements to the recruitment process



Achieve a ‘time to hire’ of 8 weeks in line with the Regional Streamlining.



Electronic vacancy approval form developed and implemented.



Back log of contracts cleared.



Accurate tracking of posts through the process



Recruitment team to identify a ‘target’ date for appointment based on 10
weeks from advert.



All vacancy adverts to be forwarded to bank workers directly.



All job bulletins to be available for displaying in clinical areas.
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Arrangements to be made for recruitment checks to be undertaken on the day
of interviews where appropriate.



Timescales in recruitment process improved to give an optimum advert to in
post of 10 weeks (including one months notice)



Improved communications with successful candidates.



Development of a standard operating procedure to outline the roles and
responsibilities of the process.



Development of the Recruitment and Retention Strategy



Recruitment Campaign Initiatives



Diagnostic Tool Framework



Explore potential recruitment of existing agency workers to substantive posts.



Explore self rostering opportunities for staff.



Progress Agency National Safe Staff Arrangements CAP



Strengthen existing roster management processes within inpatient services.



” Shaping our Future “, development of a Modern Nursing Career Pathway
Model

11. Sickness levels
Sickness levels are currently significantly higher than the Trust target of 4.5%. This is
due to a combination of both long and short term sickness. Sickness Absence for
the group is at 9.73% (July 2016 data) which increased on the previous month which
was 7.03%. Work continues to be undertaken with managers to ensure early
engagement with staff is taking place, to avoid lengthy absences. Long term 7.12%
(4.76% previous month) Short term 2.62% (2.27% previous month year to date
(YTD) 7.69%.

The increase sickness levels have been primarily on The Larches the primary reason
for long-term absence continues to be Stress/Anxiety/Depression.
A development plan is in place to support the staff team and to enhance
psychological support to the team.
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Sickness/ Absence continues to be actively supported in line with the Managing
Attendance Policy and is monitored on a monthly basis through both Quality and
Safety and Group Management Board.

12. Recommendations


In line with the national agenda and occupancy levels currently within the
assessment and treatment units a review should take place of the current
inpatient services with a view of consolidating them where possible.



Following the night staffing establishment review, a review of the current
assessment and treatment units in relation to bed occupancy is currently
taking place and will to take into account the isolation of the units and the
risks associated with the isolation.



The review of safe staffing on each unit is scrutinised on a daily basis and
reported monthly through Divisional and wider Trust governance processes.



Actively engage in the activities / sub groups aligned to Workforce
Development and Nursing Board to support recruitment to vacant substantive
posts and retention of existing staff



Continue to engage at local level with clinical teams to be creative in
recruitment processes focussing on target audiences. ie learner nurses
pending registration, apprentices, regular temporary staff, registered general
nurses and the introduction of new roles including assistant practitioners.



Effectively manage all workforce changes ie retirement, succession planning.



Actively explore the potential to recruit posts over the funded establishment as
and when the opportunity within teams arises .



Minimise the risk of overspend by:
o The continued management of sickness levels towards the Trust target
of 4.5%
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o Continue to closely monitor the performance against this target within
both the Group Management Board and Performance Days (engaging
Service and General managers) on a monthly basis.


Audit the implementation, compliance and effectiveness of the revised Clinical
Observation and Engagement Policy.



Introduce a formalised approach at local level to a programme of work to
support ward managers with effective roster management.



Following implementation of the above recommendations a further Nursing
Establishment review will be undertaken March 2017
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Encl. 7.2

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30 November 2016

Subject:

Patient Experience and Involvement Annual Report

Presented by:

Joyce Fletcher, Executive Director of Nursing, AHP’s, Psychology and
Governance (Interim)

Author:

Gil Murphy, Associate Director for Quality and Governance

Purpose:

For assurance

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.

x

We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

x

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

Relationship to High Level Risks:

None.
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Recommendation(s):

To receive as assurance that Patient Experience and Involvement strategy 20142017 implementation is progressing

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed for this report

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
X

Monitor:

X

Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
X
x

Quality & Safety
Other
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August 2016
QSSG July
2016

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None
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Executive Summary
Since the launch of the Patient Experience and Involvement Strategy in May 2014, a
considerable amount of work has already taken place implementing the 8 objectives.
Progress is on target for all objectives being fully implemented by 2017.
No
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Objective
Collect timely and relevant patient experience information
Learning from concerns, complaints and compliments
Access to information
Increased staff involvement and awareness
Continuously improve leadership
Review systems and processes that link service users, carers and
families with teams to help make service improvements
Identify opportunities for improvement
Continue engagement with hard-to-reach groups

Progress RAG

This report describes some of the work completed during 2015/2016 and planned during
2016/2017 for all 8 objectives. However, for the purpose of compliance to providing an
Annual Complaint, Concerns and Compliments report, additional detail is provided in
relation to objective 2, for which the key points are:
The Trust Complaints policy has 2 key performance indicators with compliance during 2015
/ 2016 as follows:


Responding to complainant within 3 days - 81%
112/138 were responded within the 3 days. There are exceptions wherein acknowledge
letters have taken up to 2 weeks to complete. These are the result of internal staffing
and process efficiencies and are being rectified.



Completion of complaint response within 6 months – 98.6%
2 complaints breached the 6 months all of which were complex and delay was
unavoidable.

There is no specific consequence in not meeting these KPI’s. There is a plan in place to
rectify these issues to ensure recovery and compliance to the 2 KPIs.
The table below identifies the number of complaints, concerns and compliments received by
division, during 2015/2016
141

150
100
100
50

10

21

17

Formal Complaints
9

9

4

0
Mental Health
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Learning
Disabilities

Children, Young
People &
Families

Corporate
Services
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Concerns

Of the 138 complaints received during 2015/2016








37 upheld
35 partially upheld
37 not upheld
Main themes care, attitude of staff, outpatient appointments, delayed or cancelled
and communication.
4 cases referred by complainants to Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman
(PHSO) of which all were investigated and one partially upheld.
3% decrease in complaints received, in comparison to 2014/2015
Complaints received equate to 0.037% of trust activity.

A total of 182 concerns were managed during 2015/2016, a slight increase (170) from
2014/2015. The themes were similar to complaints.
The management of complaints changed through 2014/2015 with all complaints and
concerns received, shared with the group’s Clinical Director, Head of Nursing and Director,
for allocation and management. This had given greater ownership to the groups and will
continue with the support of the PEI team going forward. Complainants have been
contacted by the Head of Nursing or Matron and offered ‘face to face’ meetings, to discuss
their complaint. This has often led to the compliant being managed quickly with more
immediate actions.
A total of 488 compliments were received during 2015/2016 an increase (343) from the
previous year. The Datix module is being utilised to improve the capture of the number of
compliments received by clinical teams, which has supported staff to document in a timely
manner and has resulted in an increase in recording.

The committee are asked to support this report and the identified work going forward.
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Patient Experience and Involvement Strategy
Annual Report on Activity 2015/16
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Introduction
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s (BCPFT) vision is to improve health and wellbeing for people of all ages across
the Black Country. In Sandwell and Wolverhampton, we care for and support people of all ages who have mental health needs. We
provide a range of specialist health services for people with learning disabilities in Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell and Wolverhampton.
We also provide community healthcare services for children, young people and families in Dudley. We are committed to ensuring
that service users, carers and their families are involved in developing, planning and monitoring services.
The aim of the Patient Experience and Involvement Strategy 2014 -2017, is to develop and support a culture that places the quality
of the patient experience at the very heart of all that we do, following the principle of “no decision made about me, without me”.
The strategy, developed in partnership with our patients, carers and families, was approved and launched by the Board of Directors
in May 2014. To manage the implementation a Patient Experience and Involvement Steering Group (PEI) was established in July
2014, reporting to the Quality and Safety Steering Group, a sub-group of the Quality and Safety Committee. The group is chaired
by the Associate Director for Quality and Governance and has both staff and stakeholder members.
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This report outlines the progress during 2015 /2016, against the 8 objectives described in the strategy. And provides and annual
update in particular in complaints and concerns received.
Objective 1 - Collect timely and relevant patient experience information
Information is an important part of service user, carer and families’ journeys and is central to the quality of each person’s
experience of our services.
What we said we will do
Work with each division to
carry out an audit of current
systems to collect
information
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Progress during 15/16
Work continues to use national tools and develop local
processes to collect and collate feedback. The group
developed and implemented a carers questionnaire in the
Autumn 2015. Response from Sandwell was good but very
low in Wolverhampton and Walsall, despite using their carers
network to circulate and advocate the questionnaire. The
findings from the questionnaire where shared with mental
health teams to consider the recommendations and change
practice. (did this happen).
Feedback from Healthwatch – Walsall user survey was good

Plans going forward into 16/17
To work with local Healthwatch
groups to improve data collection.
To launch the ‘App’ across Dudley
and then agree a process for it be
used across the whole trust.

and has been shared with LD teams.

Take stock of that feedback
and evaluate what is
working well
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Report on the effectiveness
of the information

Strengthen patient
experience feedback
mechanisms
Respond to feedback from
other sources such as NHS
Choices and Patient
Opinion
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The PEI have worked with Dudley CCG to develop an ‘App’ to
support patient, carer and families feedback.
Following the meeting in September 15 – what worked well
and was agreed to progress:
15 steps
Friends and family test
Community mental health national survey
PLACE
Play fair strategy
Learning disability partnership board
Quality standards developed by ‘changing our lives’
Ward in-patient forums
Workshops with specific focus on service development eg:
‘lighthouse event for CYP’
Divisional monthly reports in place since July 14, reporting
specifically on patient experience. Opportunity for staff and
service user feedback to be reviewed, challenged and
presented as assurance within the trust and with our
commissioners
Clinical teams report on what changes have happened as a
result of engagement eg:
MH have engaged with the patient experience and
improvement group to look at and develop a discharge pack
for inpatients across BCPFT.
Internal process in place to collect and collate feedback which
is shared through monthly divisional quality and safety reports

The trust continually reviews feedback and national
directives.
A gap analysis was completed in relation to ‘My Expectations
for raising concerns and complaints’ which identified the trust

Continue to work with service users
and stakeholders, through the
patient experience and involvement
steering group to ensure their voice
is heard and if necessary system
change to facilitate

Clinical teams will continue to review
and action how they gain patient /
family / carer feedback to improve
services and ensure patient centred
care is delivered.

Work continues to ensure feedback
mechanisms are robust and clinical
teams get the feedback in a timely
manner
To respond to the issues raised by
CQC in a timely way.
To improve partnership working with

policy and procedure was in line with national guidance The
benchmarking project the trust took part in during 14/15, did
not give any indication of failings but numbers were very
small.

Healthwatch across all 4 boroughs.

We regularly review ‘patient choices’, having 6 comments
uploaded during 2015/16.
Feedback of how responsive the trust is from the CQC
planned inspection in November 2015, was very positive
being rated GOOD overall for Responsive with Community
based services for older adults rated OUTSTANDING.
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Decide if further
developments will be
required for service users,
carers and their families to
share their views and
experiences of services
such as through network
opportunities, drop-in
sessions, web based
feedback
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key areas identified being:
 Cognitive stimulation groups with West Bromwich
Albion FC, and a specific group for Punjabi speaking
families
 Patient information leaflets in 6 different languages
 MH crisis had clear referral pathways
 Robust procedures for patients who fail to attend
 Patients having access where appropriate to mobile
phones
 Patient and carers reported being confident that
complaints and concerns raised would be dealt with
Are actively engaging with service users to take part in some
activities eg:
 15 steps
 Clinical per reviews
 PLACE
 Focus groups
 Workshops
 CQC preparation / CREWS leads

Work to continue to improve
processes for feedback utilising in
particular social media.
Explore Healthwatch to Facilitate
focus groups with service users and
their families

Develop and circulate an
agreed plan for each
division to work towards

Baseline plan in place through work completed around the
monthly divisional quality and safety reports.

Plans in place to review the process
across the divisions and encourage
more cross divisional work going
forward.

Objective 2 - Learning from Concerns, Complaints and Compliments
Concerns and complaints provide an opportunity for us to put things right and to learn new approaches in order to improve our
services.
What we said we will do
Continue to build on
lessons learnt

Progress during 15/16
Implemented lessons learned bulletin during 2014, now on
issue 9.

Plans going forward into 16/17
Review systems and processes in
place to continually support clinical
teams
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Electronic risk management database – DATIX, utilised to
support PEI and clinical teams.
DATIX module role out to clinical teams to manage concerns,
complaints and compliments.
Real time upload of action plans / lessons learned and
changes in practice as a result of patient feedback.
Set up the "You Said, We
Did" posters initiative to
inform proactive service
improvement

This has been completed in clinical areas
(example below)

Promote concerns,
complaints and
compliments including
providing services with

Promoted through the monthly quality and safety reports.
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‘You said - we did’ boards in place

Due to the amount of feedback /
information required to share with
patients / service users, creative
strategy lead working with matrons
to develop consistent approach
across all areas.
Continue to promote ‘time to shine’
and share good practice across all
areas

posters - providing
information to the divisions,
highlighting themes and
trends.

Divisional newsletters in place
Implemented ‘time to shine’ through intranet as a vehicle to
share and learn through patient stories / feedback etc
Utilising meeting room ‘wall space’ to share time to shine
stories.
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Continue to provide
divisions with themes and
trends resulting from
concerns, complaints and
compliments.
Act on information sources.

This has been implemented through monthly divisional quality
and safety reports

Roll out the complaints
Datix model to divisions to
evidence where actions
have been taken for a local
resolution

Work has been started and the module has been
implemented within the PEI team
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This has been implemented through monthly divisional quality
and safety reports
Role out Datix module across
divisions

Specific feedback received during 2015 / 2016
Patient feedback is very important to BCPFT and clinical teams constantly listen and learn from concerns and complaints raised.
Table 1 describes the activity across the trust during 2015/16

Table 1 Trust Activity 15/16
Type

Totals

Admissions

1,690

Outpatient appointments

29,580

Contacts with people in the community

306,506
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The chart below identifies the numbers of Formal Complaints and Concerns received by all divisions during 2015/16.
Chart 1 Number of complaints and concerns received 2015/16
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Learning
Disabilities

Children, Young
People & Families

Corporate
Services

The number of complaints received is 0.04% of activity and shows a 3% decrease in the number of complaints received compared
to the same period last year as depicted in table 2 below
Table 2 Complaints received by Quarter April 2013 – March 2016
Month

Complaints
2013/2014

Complaints
2014/2015

Complaints
2015/2016

Quarter 1 (Apr-Jun)
Quarter 2 (Jul-Sep)
Quarter 3 (Oct-Dec)
Quarter 4 (Jan-Mar)
Total

46
43
30
42
161

38
40
33
31
142

34
48
18
38
138
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Complaints are handled in a timely fashion with prompt investigations undertaken by the allocated clinician. Monthly details of all
complaints are shared through the divisional quality and safety reports, with targeted trend analysis undertaken when required.
Chart 2 below identifies the trends in complaints received during 2015 /16.
Chart 2 Trend in Complaints received 15/16
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The Attitude of Staff, Care and Treatment and communication remain the main causes for complaint and this theme has been
consistent for some time. BCPFT take poor staff attitude very seriously and have developed ‘Our Promise – Our Trust Behaviours’.
The clinical teams have completed a lot of work embedding the 6c’s through the ‘Caring Counts strategy launched in December
2013 with one objective being to thread the ‘Our Promise – Our Trust behaviours’ through the staff appraisal scheme.
Care and treatment is continually reviewed with an example of several projects during 2015 /16:
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Health Equality Framework (HEF) – enables services to demonstrate the impact of interventions on the health and wellbeing of people with learning disabilities
Part of Mental Health Alliance for Excellence, resilience, Innovation and Training MERIT – the alliance focuses on priority
areas where the greatest challenges for urban mental health services exist, and where it can rapidly realise quality and
efficiency benefits. The areas being crisis care and the reduction of risk and promoting a recovery culture.
Liaison and Diversion Service – ensuring people of all ages with mental health, a learning disability, substance misuse
issues and other vulnerabilities are identified and assessed as early as possible as they pass through youth and criminal
justice systems
Self- referral campaign in Wolverhampton – making it easier for local residents to look after their health and wellbeing and
self-refer to services.
Recovery College in Sandwell – to empower people with mental health challenges to become experts in their own recovery.
Accessible Newsletter for learning disabilities
Trust’s dignity challenge
Safe wards initiative – making our wards calmer places which staff contribute to by looking at the way they communicate
with patients
Dialectical Behavioural Therapy in Primary care – the programme is an evidenced based therapy for people whose
difficulties are indicative or borderline personality disorder

Chart 3 below outlines the comparison of the top 4 reported complaint themes throughout 2015/16 as compared with 2014/15.
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Chart 3 – Compliant themes 2014/15 & 2015/16
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Outpatient Communication
Appointments
(cancellation &
delay)

Work continues to action and reduces complaints across services, with feedback being provided within the divisions through their
monthly quality and safety reports.
Table 3 below identifies the number of complaints upheld during 2015/16. Excluding those that remain under investigation or were
withdrawn, 34% of all complaints were upheld last year.
Table 3 – complaint outcomes
37
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Not Upheld

Partially Upheld
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Upheld

All complainants have the right, following our response, to refer to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO).
During 2015/16, the Trust was informed by the PHSO’s Office of 4 complaints, where complainants remained dissatisfied following
the Trust’s investigation. The PHSO was sent correspondence relating to these complaints and made a decision to investigate all
complaints.
PHSO case 1 – Notification from Ombudsman on the 01/05/2014, opening investigation into the care and treatment, including
discharge planning and management of the complainant’s son. Following the investigation, the Trust was made aware on the
02/06/2015 that the case was partially upheld and recommendations required action. The action plan is now complete and the case
is now closed.
PHSO case 2 - Notification from Ombudsman on the 27/11/2015, opening investigation into the care and treatment, including side
effects of medication of the complainant’s son. Following the investigation, the Trust was made aware on the 19/04/2016 that the
case was not being upheld and closed.
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PHSO case 3 - Notification from Ombudsman on the 03/06/2015, opening investigation into the care and treatment, in particular
the assessment of the complainant’s mother. Following the investigation, the Trust was made aware on the 17/11/2015 that the
case was not being upheld and closed.
PHSO case 4 – Notification from Ombudsman on the 09/07/2015, opening investigation regarding a joint concern with the council
relating to the after-care provided under section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983. Following the investigation, the Trust was made
aware on the 15/09/2015 that the case was not being upheld as the Trust had handled the complaint appropriately.
The Trust Complaints policy has 2 national key performance indicators with compliance during 2015 / 2016 as follows:


Responding to complainant within 3 days - 81%
112/138 were responded within the 3 days. There are exceptions wherein acknowledge letters have taken up to 2 weeks to
complete. These are the result of internal staffing and process efficiencies and are being rectified.



Completion of complaint response within 6 months – 98.6%
2 complaints breached the 6 months all of which were complex and delay was unavoidable.
ID1537 – Received 23/06/2015, final response sent 22/07/2016. Very complex complaint, involving other local NHS
providers. The patient was known to mental health services and had a voluntary sector support worker who was not able to
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accompany her to hospital on Boxing Day as the support worker was busy. The complaint was about the expected level of
support not provided to the patient, in addition about health checks provided by her GP, prior to her death.
ID2026- Received 14/12/2015. Complaint related to care provided to their son following discharge in November 2015. The
son was readmitted in December 2015. This complaint is ongoing with the family, being led by the Head of Nursing.
There is no specific consequence in not meeting these KPI’s. There is a plan in place to rectify these issues to ensure recovery and
compliance to the 2 KPIs.
The Trust has complied with the KO41a complaints quarterly return to the NSCIC (National Social Care Information Centre).
Concerns are also raised and treated with the same importance as formal complaints. A total of 182 concerns were raised during
2015/16 with the top 5 themes shown below. As you will see the overall trend for concerns being raised is similar to complaints but
9 related to personal safety and 10 to ward conditions.
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Chart 4 Trend in Concerns Raised 2015/16
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The Trust recognises the importance of recording compliments received from service users, carers and relatives about their
experience of the services. Compliments are received in various ways through letters, thank you cards, comment forms, telephone
and e-mails. A total of 488 compliments were received which is an increase when compared to last year (343). This is due to the
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uptake of Friends and Family and the feedback we receive and the role out of DATIX, allowing clinical teams to upload ‘live’
compliments and feedback.
Some examples of compliments received during 2015/16.

Thank you card received from Mr and
Mrs H. Would like to thank DG for all
the help he provides and how kind and
caring he is.

Physio has
complimented Friar staff
on their team work and
effectiveness with a
particular patient that
has been very complex
to care for.

Patient reviewed by consultant.
During the review both patient and
parents stated they were very
impressed by the level of input and
professionalism provided by the
psychologist.
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Patient’s relative brought chocolates
and a thank you card for staff for
looking after their sister

It is important that lessons are learned through patient feedback and the monthly divisional reports identify lessons learned which
also feed into the quarterly lessons learned bulletin. Below are some examples of what has happened during 15/16.

Category
Care

You Said
Complainant is unhappy
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We Did
Prior to the concern being raised this patient was only being nursed by female staff

with the clinical care
treatment being
provided to her mum,
she states that her mum
had a number of bruises
to her hand, fingers and
face.
Attitude
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Out-Patient
Appointment
(delay/
cancellation)

Communication

Member of staff spoke
to a patient on the
telephone in a rude
manner.
Experienced a lengthy
wait before assessment
for Dynamic
interpersonal Therapy
and was then told not
suitable.
Letter sent to incorrect
address with sensitive
information enclosed.

because of her history of sexual abuse as a child, we recognised that this was an
experience that the patient was ‘reliving’ on occasions and needed to provide appropriate
support to minimise the distress at these times. Following the allegation we initially
increased the patient’s observation levels, which were also only to be carried out by female
staff to protect both staff and patient. This concern reaffirmed to us the requirement to
consider the needs of the patient, hearing their concerns they raise and investigating them
to check if they are true or not. We will always err on the side of the patient until otherwise
proved. In this case, the evidence did not support the allegation.
Staff member apologised and acknowledged that he had found the phone conversation
difficult as patient had not accepted the reassurance that was offered. Manager is
delivering training to staff on areas of attitude.
Service has refined internal referral process for Dynamic Interpersonal Therapy to enable
clients to receive timely and effective treatment that best meets their needs.

In order to avoid such an occurrence in the future, the patient management system was
updated to contain only the patients current residence and an alert entered clearly stating
that no correspondence should be forwarded to incorrect address.
Reassurance provided by the service that confidentiality is taken very seriously by the
Administration Staff, and to support this, in addition to Individuals accessing basic
Information Governance and Confidentiality Information Training during Annual Mandatory
Training
provided by the Trust, as a means of good practice Wolverhampton
Administration Staff are also required to undertake an Annual E-Learning Information
Governance Update which requires a score of 80% to achieve a pass rate: failure to do so
requires Individuals to re-sit the Competency Assessment.

Objective 3 - Access to Information
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By providing information at the right time and in the right format – service users, carers and their families will feel they are actively
involved in their care with knowledge, understanding and confidence to make informed decisions about their care and treatment
What we said we will do
To review what patient
information in the Trust is
currently available and to include
input from service users, carers
and families
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Review current systems in place
in partnership with the divisions,
establishing what information is
most used.

Progress during 15/16
Following release of the national ‘Accessible
Information Standard’ as task and finish group
has developed a policy and procedures as
well as templates for leaflets and documents.
The LD team have also been working in
partnership with local acute trusts, providing a
virtual reading team to review their leaflets for
accessibility to all. This in turn will give the
trust access to general medical information
leaflets eg: diabetes / stroke / heart disease, in
accessible formats.
LD are currently developing a ‘website’ in an
accessible format which will be available in the
summer 2016.
Database developed by ‘expert by experience’
( available on the intranet and internet) to
inform staff and patients what is available in
their local community for support
Learning Disability services have launched a
new accessible newsletter for people with a
learning disability. They asked people in
Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and
Wolverhampton about how they wanted
services to communicate with them and what
they could do to make communication better.
People told them that they wanted a
newsletter. A commitment was given to
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Plans going forward into 16/17
Work will continue to ensure all patient
information meets the Accessible Information
Standard know the trust has policies and
procedures in place to support this.

Launch of Accessible Website

Knowledge of this strategy will be
included in staff induction
programmes.
To streamline policies and
procedures to assist staff in
producing appropriate
information.
Set up relevant audits to check
information is easy to read and
clear.

produce regular newsletters every quarter.
Each newsletter will include something written
by a person with a learning disability and
health tips about keeping well.
Currently a task and finish group is in place to
review induction and mandatory training
sessions
Policies and procedures in place to ensure
compliance with Accessible Information
Standard.
Already use several stakeholder / service
users to review information.

To continue this work planned to be completed
by October 2016.
Work will continue to ensure all patient
information meets the Accessible Information
Standard know the trust has policies and
procedures in place to support this.
Will continue this process with the help and
support of the PEI steering group members.
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Will use Accessible Information Standard as a
benchmark
Objective 4 - Increased staff involvement and awareness
What we said we will do
The Service User and Carer
Involvement Policy to be
reviewed

To give meaningful customer
service - driving a good customer
service through involvement and
feedback.
Assist in promoting and
monitoring Trust behaviours.
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Progress during 15/16
Service User and care involvement policy
reviewed and updated.

Plans going forward into 16/17
Launch ‘volunteer taster days’, to recruit
volunteers from our local communities.

Volunteer policy reviewed and updated

Work with local health college in West
Bromwich, offering volunteer / placement
opportunities for students
Continue to review

Launched specific staff training in this area.
Promoting national ‘hello my name is……’
Part of the staff appraisal process.

Continue to monitor initiatives introduced

Took part in RCN-Cultural Alignment Project

Recruit freedom to speak up guardian

Implemented Freedom to Speak up

Role out career pathways for all professionals
not just nursing

Launched ‘shaping our future’ programme

Completion of staff Friends and
Family Test.
‘ would you recommend the trust
as a place of work?’
‘Would you recommend the trust
as a place to receive care?’
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Delivered several ‘career pathway’ sessions
with staff across the trust
This has been implemented across the trust.
Continue to embed staff engagement - part of
The feedback disappointing with several
the core business.
projects in place to understand why. In
particular executive visibility and walkabouts to
engage with staff across all services. 2015
Staff survey results shared with front line
teams to develop local action plans
Associate Director of organisation
Development appointed to lead staff
engagement and development.
‘Shaping our Future’ programme,
implementation framework for organisational
change.

Objective 5 - Continuously improve leadership
What we said we will do
Provide a summary of patient
feedback activity to the Board of
Directors, highlighting themes
and trends.
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Progress during 15/16
Refreshed clinical quality dashboard to reflect
5 strategic objectives.
Refreshed monthly divisional reports to align
with 5 strategic objectives.
Reports include under objective 2 ‘we will
involve and listen to patients, carers and
families experience to continually improve
services we provide’ – patient story and
narrative to support clinical indicators, with

Plans going forward into 16/17
Utilise wall space in meeting rooms across the
trust to share ‘ Time to shine’ initiatives,
patient stories, feedback and trends.

Devote time at Board and
committee meetings to learn
lessons from patient feedback

Continue to collect and present
patient, carer and staff stories
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The PEI strategy will be crossreferenced with the Quality
Strategy and the patient
experience targets.

action planning and progress to date.
Patient story to Board embedded
Agenda item on group, corporate quality and
safety meetings.
Quarterly lessons learned bulletin in place,
now on issue 9
Leadership for quality events in place every
quarter including feedback from clinical and
patient audits.
Process in place. Stories utilised a Board with
service users attending where they can.
Used through monthly divisional reports and
lessons learned bulletin
Signed up to monthly national ‘Open and
Honest’ report which include a patient story
and service development initiatives. This is
uploaded onto internet monthly.
This has been completed.

Objective 6 - Review systems and processes that link service users, carers and families with teams to help make service
improvements
What we said we will do
Ensure that we have a fair and
robust system for service users
and carers to be involved in the
Trust which we will continue to
review and develop

Progress during 15/16
As an FT already have governors in place.
Through the PEI steering group members,
developed and shared a poster to engage with
patients and services users with process of
how to get involved.
Continually use the ‘grapevine’ to engage and
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Plans going forward into 16/17
Services user involvement will continue in
particular
 Bid for dementia bus
 LD accessible website
 Ward focus group meetings

invite service users to get involved.
Service users and families involved in the
refurbishment of Lodge Road, Larches and
Pines.
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Ensure that there is a patient
experience contact in each
division that links with the PEI
team to ensure service users are
involved in various activities such
as being on interview panels etc.
Continue to review the structure
and format of any Expert by
Experience involvement

Congratulations to the team at The Lighthouse
on winning the Service User Experience
Award at the National Design in Mental Health
Conference . The prestigious award
recognised organisations and projects that
have put their clients at the heart of the design
process creating facilities, which are truly
beneficial to their needs.
In place.
Service users part of interview process in
some areas

Patient experience and improvement group in
place developed ‘patient information pack’ for
MH inpatient areas across the trust.

Further work required with HR to strengthen
and be consistent with interview panel
members

Actively implement volunteer policy with
recruitment events planned across the Black
County, being developed with the help or
current Experts by Experience

Several service users involved with the
Recovery College.
Excellent volunteer service in place with
Speech and Language services in Dudley
Ensure divisions identify ways to
involve service users to support
service developments and
improvement
Page 23 of 30

Ongoing process with some work already
complete in
Learning Disabilities – website
Mental health – Recovery College

Need to further promote and share good
practice, adopting a co-production charter for
patient and community engagement

CYPF – Speech and Language services
Mental Health – Dental services
Ensure regular communication
between staff and PEI regarding
service user and carer
involvement in BCPFT

This is shared through divisional monthly
reports and summary reports from the PEI
steering group
Database of service users who wish to be
involved is growing with proactive enrolment
Manager of PEI team seconded to
communication team to strengthen and
enhance partnership working going forward.
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The PEI Team will work
collaboratively and meaningfully
with the Communications and
Membership teams within BCPFT
to ensure successful involvement PEI steering group has members from
of service users and carers to
membership / communications team.
share and promote good practice
initiatives

Plans to develop specific area on the internet.
Recruitment days across Black Country based
on the revised Volunteers policy

Continue to review and develop integration
Leads working together to develop ‘mind map’
of roles and responsibilities and partnership
working

Objective 7 - Divisions identify opportunities for improvement
What we said we will do
The PEI team will work with the
divisions providing advice and
assisting with the co-ordination of
patient experience improvement
projects

Progress during 15/16
In place, divisional matrons and heads of
nursing members of PEI steering group

The divisions will provide
information about their collection
of information and disseminate
and share good practice and
lessons learnt from feedback
collected

In place through divisional monthly reports.
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Service users involved with the upgrade of
Larches, Pines and Lodge Rd.

Plans going forward into 16/17
To implement co-production model for service
improvement / development of strategies /
leaflets / engagement documents etc. across
the trust.

Plans to strengthen collaborative working with
clinical and corporate teams with clear roles
and responsibilities in place

Objective 8 - Engagement with our Diverse Community
The Spiritual Care Team and the Equality and Diversity Team are key contributors in terms of developing engagement with our
diverse communities and ensuring that those who need our support feel included. There have been a number of projects in this
area during the last year
What we said we will do
The Trust will work closely with
local charities, community and
faith groups and the Equality and
Diversity Team to build and focus
on developing relationships with
BME and LGBT communities and
to ensure all involvement activity
is inclusive

Progress during 15/16
Have developed the database for clinical staff
to support them in accessing local groups /
charities etc. who can support patients in the
clinical areas and in the community.
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Contacted all the Sikh Gurdwaras in the Black
Country to explain about the work of the Trust
and the support that the Spiritual Care Team
can provide. This helps to build trust and
understanding within these communities who
may be hesitant about accessing help and
care
Attended forums that enable a partnership
approach on informing staff on the changing
landscape of migrant health
The Equality Team, Wolverhampton Refugee
and Migrant Centre and Victims of Torture.
Alongside this the Trust has contributed to a
piece of work looking at how Migrant’s Health
Needs are assessed.
For this year’s LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual,
trans) History Month in February the LGBT
Staff Network and Equality and Diversity Team
put on a mini roadshow in different Trust sites
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Plans going forward into 16/17
The Database has been divided into Booklet
format & is with the communications team to
be allocated appropriate section on the
intranet for staff to access
Booklet to be made available in PDF format
can be downloaded & printed.
Launch of Booklet to be marketed via Team
Brief, e-Bulletin & Grapevine
Hard copies not to be provided due to cost
implications & to avoid repetition as & when
partnerships takes place with Birmingham
Community & Walsall/Dudley.
This work to be completed by close of year.
Work continues to enhance relationships
LGBT network continues to forward key
events & dates for meetings taking place in
the community to the network members.
BME Network to take lead in the celebration of
Black history month & to engage with diverse
communities.
Religious celebrations have taken place
throughout the Trust. Eid celebrations are
planned throughout July 2016 to mark the
ending of Ramadan. Number of wards to take
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Obtain support of key clinical
staff within the divisions to
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to share information about working with LGBT
issues and older adults and people with
learning disabilities

part in the celebrations this is to be coordinated by the Spiritualty team & to
accommodate request made by service
managers. Document has been set up
marking religious festivities throughout the
year & is held at the Spirituality team &
religious events will continue to be celebrated
across the Trust throughout the year.
Work continues with the Recovery College
various seminars & training has been
delivered to members.

The Trust continues to develop its Interpreting
and Translation Services and to assess the
impact of how information is communicated
and shared with those who access our
services to ensure that neither language or
culture is a barrier to support and care and
understanding

Intranet Resource for staff to offer advice and
information relating to support for Asylum
Seekers and Refugees

PEI steering group have carers as members.

As response to questionnaire was poor in
Wolverhampton, working with LA to improve

Under Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) the
Equality Team have published data trends on
the use of languages used throughout the
Trust this provides a snap shot into languages
used & enables services managers to reflect
on the diverse mix of services users accessing
their services together with spends. Data will
be provided on an annual basis.
Work is planned with Absolute (this is our
language & translation services provider) to
deliver seminars on making sure that
language or culture is not barrier to engaging
with services users through the effective use
of interpreters these dates will be scheduled
this year.

implement the Triangle of Care
model & ensure carers are an
integral part of our service
To develop modern and
accessible ways to communicate
with, inform and involve children,
young people and their families

Developed and launched carers questionnaire
with results shared with group and MH
division.
User forum in place in Wolverhampton
CAMHS. Service users involved in CAMHS
Transformation

engagement with carers.
To continue and further develop utilising ‘ coproduction model’ approach

Social media being utilised in communication
with CAMHS service users.
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Methods of communication and
involvement activities to be
developed that engage with older
people and people with dementia
in meaningful ways, taking into
account specific conditions.
Appropriate communication tools
will need to be developed

Engaged with ‘we love carers’ in Dudley to
improve engagement
Befriending service in place
Enhancing cultural life (Edward St)

Share experience and developments across
Black Country

Develop ‘life story’ books for patients, maintain
their identity, good communication tool with
carers
Utilising SALT staff to enhance communication

To engage with people in secure
settings and to ensure people in
this group have the same
opportunities for communication
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The Spiritual Care Team continues to provide
support to all ages and all clinical groups
across the Trust. This has included some faith
and culturally specific group work with older
adults in both Sandwell and Wolverhampton
(including Punjabi speakers) and more
recently some targeted work in
Wolverhampton with the Key Team
Patient councils in place in Gerry Simon.
Weekly visits from ‘pets as therapy’ dog ( at
patients request)

Implement ‘swap pack’ approach developed
with service users and consider role out
across other inpatient services within the Trust

and involvement
Developed ‘in my shoes’ project with patients
Producing mugs and key rings as a
fundraising opportunity in Gerry Simon
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Implemented ‘Safewards’ during 2015/16
‘Safewards’ is about making all our wards
calmer places, which staff contribute to by
looking at the way they communicate with
patients, increasing their knowledge about
mental health conditions and increasing
therapeutic activities on our wards. On Salter
Ward, at Edward Street Hospital in West
Bromwich, they chose five interventions to
start with: calm down methods, discharge
messages, know each other, positive words
and soft words.
In order to help staff and patients develop
good therapeutic relationships they have taken
forward the ‘know each other’ area of this
initiative first. They developed ‘know each
other’ folders, which staff and patients have
been using to find out about each other,
identifying areas of common interest and
things to talk about! All of which is resulting in
a much calmer environment, where staff and
patients have found common areas of interest,
enabling them to work better together, and
everyone is now looking forward to working
through the other interventions
Following a request from staff on Macarthur
expressing concerns under the Prevent
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Agenda, there has been systematic working
with the unit to ensure we address
complexities presented by patients on the
ward around faith and culture. The Spiritual
Care Team is working regularly and closely
with identified Muslim patients that express
feelings that are not contrary to wider held
beliefs and norms in Islam. This approach
aims to safeguard both staff and patients by
providing appropriately responsive resources
that enable de-escalation and a mindful
recovery approach for patients
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To continue to support people
with learning disabilities using
specific approaches, through
Patient Councils and advocacy
services, to provide people with
the additional support to enable
them to give us their views

Patient councils in place

Launch accessible website

Good progress in LD developing accessible
information
Developed specific Friends and family test
leaflet for LD and CYPF
Accessible website in development
Virtual ‘accessible information approval group’
in place
Implemented Accessible Information Standard
with LD colleagues supporting Acute services
with agreement we can access their physical
health patient information leaflets

Since the launch of the Patient Experience and Involvement Strategy in May 2014, a considerable amount of work has already
taken place implementing the 8 objectives with the aim of full completion by 2017. This report describes an example of some of the
work completed during 2015/16.
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This report identifies the work planned for 2016/17 which will include developing a new strategy going into 2017 – 2020.
The committee are asked to support this work going forward.
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Encl. 8.1

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Integrated Performance Report

Presented by:

Lesley Writtle, Joyce Fletcher and Tracey Cotterill

Author:

Hywel Morris

Purpose:

To review performance.

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.

x

We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.

x

We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.

x

Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.

x

Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

x

None

Relationship to High Level Risks:
Highlighted within the document.
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Recommendation(s):
To review October performance as reported.
To use the updated scorecard explainer as a document to better understand the
balanced scorecard indicators.

Equality & Diversity implications:
There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
x

Monitor:

x

Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Other

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None

x

Executive Summary

The Integrated report builds on the first report presented in October 2016. The report
now links link the balanced scorecard to key strategic risks on the board assurance
framework.
Discussions around the development of complementary divisional level balanced
scorecards have commenced.
These will enable trend data for divisional
performance to be published within the report.
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Please refer to the executive summary within the document for further high level
information on performance and the updated balanced scorecard explainer for detail
on individual indicators. The definitions and descriptions for Safe staffing - % fill rate
(indicator 2) and Finance and Use of Resources Metric (indicator 50a) have been
updated.
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Document Title: Briefing on the 2016/17 Trust Balanced Scorecard
The purpose of this paper is to provide the background to the 2016/17 Trust Balanced Scorecard and to provide some detail on the indicator
measures.
1.

Introduction
The overall purpose of the Trust Balanced Scorecard is to translate the vision and goals of the Trust into a comprehensive set of objectives and
performance measures that can be quantified and appraised on a monthly basis to continuously improve strategic performance and results.

2.

Development of the scorecard
Every year the scorecard will be revised to take account of external guidance and internal advice and expertise. External guidance is drawn
from the NHS Improvement requirements set out within the Compliance Assurance Framework and Commissioner expectations confirmed
through contract negotiations. Internal revisions will be proposed through an Annual Review process with Executive Director and Management
Team feedback.
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The balanced scorecard has a total of 52 measures. The measures on the balanced scorecard are categorised across the five domains of:
Patient Safety, Patient Experience, Workforce and Efficiency, Clinical Quality and Finance. Every performance measure on the scorecard is
aligned to one of the Trust’s strategic goals around people, place, purpose, promotion, partnership and price.
Trust balanced scorecard explainer
The balanced scorecard for 2016/17 is arranged into 5 domains:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Safety
Quality
Patient Experience
Workforce and Efficiency
Finance

Underneath each of these domains are a range of indicators aligned to the five strategic objectives:
1. Caring, Responsive, Effective, Well Led, Safe
2. Involve and Listen to Continually Improve Services
3. Leading provider , building partnerships

4. Empowered and valued workforce
5. Effective use of resources, sustainable.

1

No

Indicator

Safety Domain
1
Patient safety
thermometer (harm free
care)

2

Safe staffing - % fill rate
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Objective

Description

Data
Annual
Classification Target

RAG RATING

C.R.E.W.S.

The purpose of this indicator is to collect data at the point of care on
the four outcomes - pressure ulcers, falls, urinary tract infections in
patients with catheters and VTE and to use this information to
measure patient safety improvement over time as a composite
measure for the 4 harms. The measure is the number of patients
experiencing harm-free care as a percentage of the number of
patients surveyed on the sample day.

In month

≥95%

RED ≤94.7%
AMBER >94.7% and
<95%
GREEN ≥95%

C.R.E.W.S.

Safe staffing levels are measured to give assurance that inpatient
services are adequately staffed to provide safe and effective care.
This indicator reports the overall fill rate for inpatient areas in the
month. It is reported as the actual hours rostered expressed as a
percentage of the planned hours (establishment).

In month

100%

RED < 90%
AMBER 90-<100%
GREEN 100-150%
GREEN/AMBER
>150%

The report provides a detailed comparison of actual v planned
staffing including bank and agency use. It includes the bed
occupancy levels for each of the wards/units to aid analysis of
staffing levels/ establishments based on numbers of beds occupied.
A data set of five patient safety related incidents has also been
included to support analysis of impacts upon clinical care that may
be correlated with staffing levels; medication errors, falls, absconds,
patient to patient assaults and patient assaults to staff.

2

3

Number of incidents
where prone restraint
was required

C.R.E.W.S.

Restraint can cause both physical and psychological harm to patients
and staff. As a result the government has published new guidance to
reduce the use of this practice in all health and adult care settings.

In month

No target

No target

In month

No target

No target

In month

No target

No target

In month

0

RED > 0
GREEN 0

In month

0

RED > 0
GREEN 0

NICE guideline NG10: Violence and aggression also recommends
avoiding prone restraint, and only using it for the shortest possible
time if needed.
4
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5

6

Number of absconsions
(formally detained
patients left without
permission)

C.R.E.W.S.

Number of unexpected
deaths

C.R.E.W.S.

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.
All absconsions of patients under BCPFT inpatient care.
This does not include patients who are on home leave or who are
not detained.

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.
All unexpected deaths are reported which can be a high number.
Once cause of death is determined, only deaths attributed to BCPFT
are investigated.

Number of never events
reported

C.R.E.W.S.

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.
Never Events are incidents that are considered unacceptable and
eminently preventable.

7

Duty of candour

C.R.E.W.S.

Statutory requirement under law, monitored by CQC and commissioners.
Compliance rate for Duty of Candour disclosures (number of expected
disclosures under statutory Duty of Candour requirements versus
disclosures completed)

3

This only includes cases where statutory Duty of Candour applies

Number of serious
incidents reported on
STEIS

C.R.E.W.S.

9

Number of reported
RIDDOR events

C.R.E.W.S.
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8

10

Number of incidents on
staff experiencing
physical assault from
patients, relatives or the
public

C.R.E.W.S.

11

Number of self-harm
incidents which resulted
in moderate harm or
above

C.R.E.W.S.

No. of recorded falls
resulting in moderate
harm or above

C.R.E.W.S.

12

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.

In month

No target

No target

All incidents that meet the criteria for reporting to the Health and
Safety Executive. National guidance available.

In month

No target

No target

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.

In month

No target

No target

In month

No target

No target

In month

No target

No target

This indicator is intended to monitor the number of SIs to enable
trends analysis and lessons identified/learned to be recorded.

All incidents where staff have been physically assaulted as per the
definition of assault from NHS Protect.

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.
All self-harm incidents resulting in moderate harm or above
National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.
All falls resulting in moderate harm of above

4

Number of reported
incidents relating to
record keeping resulting
in Moderate harm or
above

Use of
resources

All incidents reported within the Information Governance guidance
that resulted in moderate harm or above

In month

No target

No target

14

No. of recorded
medication errors
resulting in moderate
harm or above

C.R.E.W.S.

National Reporting & Learning Service (NRLS) reporting requirement.

In month

No target

No target

15

Number of acquired
Grade 2 and above
pressure sores

C.R.E.W.S.

The cumulative number of avoidable pressure ulcers grade 2 or
above occurring in BCPFT inpatient units

Cumulative
YTD

0

RED > 0
GREEN 0

16

Clostridium difficile new
cases

C.R.E.W.S.

This indicator reports the total number of post 48 hour Clostridium
difficile toxin positive cases attributable to BCPFT. It demonstrates
that our standard of practice in relation to Control of Infection is
good; links to quality and safety of patient care and to managing our
reputation as a healthcare provider. Furthermore it can affect our
registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

Cumulative
YTD

0

RED > 0
GREEN = 0

17

MRSA, Methicillinsensitive Staphylococcus
Aureus (MSSA) and e-coli
bacteraemia new cases
(cumulative)

C.R.E.W.S.

Achievement of this target demonstrates our standard of practice in
relation to Control of Infection, links to quality of patient care and to
managing our reputation as a healthcare provider and our
registration with the Care Quality Commission. The measure exclude
patients discharged from acute settings already on suppressive
therapy.

Cumulative
YTD

0

RED > 0
GREEN 0

No

Indicator

Objective

Description

Data
Annual
Classification Target
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13

All should this be medication errors reported resulting in moderate
harm or above

RAG RATING

Quality Domain

5

18 week pathway
Consultant Led services
(non-admitted patients)

C.R.E.W.S.

Admitted pathways are waiting times (time waited) for patients
whose treatment started during the month and did not involve
admission to hospital. The measure is the number of patient
pathways completed in 18 weeks expressed as a percentage of total
patients completed in the month.

In month

95%

RED < 95%
GREEN ≥95%

19

18 week pathway
consultant led services
(incomplete pathways)

C.R.E.W.S.

Incomplete pathways are waiting times for patients still waiting to
start treatment at the end of the month. The measure is expressed
as the percentage of patients waiting for first treatment who have
waited more than 18 weeks.

In month

92%

RED < 92%
GREEN ≥92%

20

CPA 7 day follow up

C.R.E.W.S.

Care Programme Approach patients having a follow up consultation
within 7 days of discharge.

In month

95%

RED < 95%
GREEN ≥95%

In month

95%

RED < 95%
GREEN ≥ 95%
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18

Numerator = The number of people under adult mental illness
specialities on Care Programme Approach who were followed up
(either face-to-face contact or by telephone discussion) within 7
days of discharge.
Denominator: The total number of people under adult mental illness
specialities on CPA who were discharged from psychiatric inpatient
care

21

CPA 12 months follow up

C.R.E.W.S.

Care Programme Approach patients having formal review in the last
12 months. Currently on the Monitor Risk Assurance Framework.
Numerator = Number of adults in the denominator who have had at
least one formal review in the last 12 months.
Denominator = total number of adults who have received secondary
mental health services and who were on the CPA at the end of the
reported period.

6

22

IAPT - % of patients treated
within 6 weeks

C.R.E.W.S

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

In month

75%

RED < 75%
GREEN ≥ 75%

In month

95%

RED < 95%
GREEN ≥ 95%

In month

95%

RED < 95%
GREEN ≥ 95%

In month

<=7.5%

RED >7.5%
GREEN <= 7.5%

Numerator = number of patients completing treatment who move to
recovery within 6 weeks of referral

Denominator = total number of patients completing treatment who
move to recovery
23

IAPT - % of patients
treated within 18 weeks

C.R.E.W.S

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

Numerator = number of patients completing treatment who move to
recovery within 18 weeks of referral

Denominator = total number of patients completing treatment who
move to recovery
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Assessment by Crisis
Team prior to hospital
admission (mental health
only)

C.R.E.W.S

25

Delayed Transfers of Care

C.R.E.W.S

24

Numerator = Patients requiring acute mental health care who received a
gatekeeping assessment by a crisis resolution and home treatment team in
line with best practice standards
Denominator = Total number of mental health admissions

The purpose of the indicator is to ensure the aim of discharging
patients who no longer need to be in hospital in a timely manner is
upheld as far as possible to prevent deterioration in their condition
and to promote self-esteem.
Numerator: number of occupied beds days for patients (aged 18 and over
on admission) under consultant and non-consultant led care whose transfer
of care was delayed during the period (e.g. one patient delayed for five
days counts as five).
Denominator: the total number of occupied bed days (consultant-led and
non-consultant led) during the period.

7

26

% of readmissions within 90
days of discharge

C.R.E.W.S

This is a measure of the appropriateness of discharges.

In month

<20%

RED >20%
GREEN <= 20%

Numerator = the number of emergency admissions that were preceded by
an inpatient discharge (excluding where the inpatient discharge occurred
more than 90 days before the emergency admission, where the inpatient
discharge was from another provider, where the method of discharge
‘patient died’).
Denominator = total number of emergency admissions
Internal transfers and transfers to the acute trust are removed along with
patients who have self discharged or patients who are coded with a
diagnosis of Personality Disorder
Early Intervention New
Cases

C.R.E.W.S

Number of new psychosis patients referred for early intervention in the
period.

Cumulative
YTD

97

RED FOT <97
GREEN FOT ≥ 97

28

Early Intervention - % of
patients treated with a NICE
approved care package
within 2 weeks

C.R.E.W.S

Numerator = number of people referred with a first episode of psychosis
who began treatment with a NICE-recommended package of care within 2
weeks of referral

In month

50%

RED < 50%
GREEN ≥ 50%

Data completeness:
Identifiers

C.R.E.W.S

In month

97%

RED < 97%
GREEN ≥ 97%

In month

50%

RED <50%
GREEN ≥ 50%
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27

29

Denominator: total number of people referred with a first episode of
psychosis
Numerator = number of completed patient identifiers (date of birth,
gender, NHS number, GP practice, postcode and commissioner) in the
patient dataset
Denominator = total number of patients in the patient dataset

30

Data completeness:
Outcomes

C.R.E.W.S

Numerator = number of completed patient identifiers (accommodation,
employment and HoNoS) in the patient dataset
Denominator = total number of patients in the patient dataset

8

31

Contractual – Remedial
Action Plans Process /
financial penalty

C.R.E.W.S

The number of breaches in performance of contractual KPIs is
measured to monitor the projected risk associated with KPI
performance on a monthly basis. This indicator reports only
breaches that incur at financial penalty or are subject to a Remedial
Action Plan (RAP) process with commissioners.

In month

0

RED >0
GREEN 0

32

Percentage compliance
with CQUINS (forecast)

Leading
provider

This indicator is a statement on organisational compliance with the
measures set out in the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
framework. It is a contractual requirement to achieve 100% against
a number of agreed goals with 2.5% of contract income attached. It
provides an indication of performance against the milestones
throughout the year and gives assurance on the services ability to
deliver improvements in quality efficiently.

In month

100%

RED <95%
AMBER ≥95% and
<100%
GREEN 100%

Continually
improve
services

This indicator measures the percentage of patients responding
either “likely” or “very likely” to the question: “How likely is it that
you would recommend this service to friends and family?”

In month

85%

RED <76.5%
AMBER ≥76.5% and
<85%
GREEN ≥85%

Continually
improve
services
Continually
improve
services

This will show the number of patients who expressed dissatisfaction in the
service provided by submitting a complaint.

In month

This indicator is intended to demonstrate a responsive customer
focused complaints service and meet National regulatory targets.
The Trust Complaints Team will write to the complainant to
acknowledge receipt of the complaint and to provide information
within 3 working days on how the complaint will be managed.

In month

100% <3
days

RED >0
GREEN 0

Continually
improve
services

This indicator is intended to demonstrate a responsive customer
focused complaints service and meet National regulatory targets.
The Trust Complaints Team will write to the complainant and
respond within 6 months.

In month

100% <6
months

RED >0
GREEN 0
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Patient Experience Domain
33 Friends and family test

34

Number of complaints

35

Number of complaints
not receiving
acknowledgement of
receipt within 3 days

36

Number of responses
shared with complainants
outside of 6 months

Workforce and Efficiency Domain
9

No

Indicator

Objective

Description

37

% sickness absence

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

The monitoring of sickness facilitates managers in achieving lower
sickness absence levels and encourages tighter regimes around
absence management. Sickness figures may give an indication of
quality of care in terms of consistency in the workforce without the
need for bank/agency cover and possibly staff satisfaction. They also
confirm how well the organisation is managing sickness absence and
taking the health and wellbeing of its employees seriously.

Data
Annual
Classification Target
In month
<4.5%

RAG RATING

In month

<8%

RED ≥8%
GREEN <8%

Rolling 12
months

10-15%

RED <10% or >15%
GREEN ≥10% and
≤15%

RED ≥4.5%
GREEN ≤4.5%

Numerator = Number of WTEs lost to sickness absence
Denominator = Number of actual WTEs in the reporting period
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Reported a month in arrears
% of vacancies

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

An indicator of the balance between the opposing factors of
turnover and time to recruit.
Numerator = Number of vacant WTEs
Denominator = Number of WTEs establishment

39

Turnover - 12 month
rolling total

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

This is a measure of how many staff are leaving and is calculated as the
FTE of leavers divided by the FTE of staff in post at the beginning of the
period. It is an indication of stability of the staff group and also a proxy
measure of staff satisfaction.
Numerator = Cumulative number of leavers in 12 months
Denominator = Average annual headcount month on month

40

Bank spend as a % of

Empowere

This indicator is calculated to take into account extra staff that can

Cumulative

To be agreed
10

41
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43

total staff spend (excl
Agency)

d and
valued
workforce

often be required to maintain quality and continuity of service in the
event of sickness or vacancy in the establishment. However the level
of temporary staff would not be expected to exceed this
requirement as this may render services less cost-effective and may
also affect continuity of care. The measure is the total spend on Bank
staffing expressed as a percentage of total staff spends (excluding
Agency staff costs).

YTD

Agency spend as a % of
total staff spend

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

This measures the spend on agency staff as a percentage of total
substantive staff spend. The purpose of this indicator is to monitor use
of agency staff in order to ensure agency staff cover is cost-effective and
supports the delivery of high quality services in our clinical/operational
divisions. The Trust has a preference to use internal bank staff rather
than agency wherever possible. The justification for this is that the Trust
has significant influence over the training and selection of Bank staff
members and this helps to maintain high quality clinical services.

Cumulative
YTD

5%

RED ≥4.2%
AMBER >4.2% and
<4.6%
GREEN ≤4.6%

% of shifts filled in month

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce
Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

Numerator: number of shift requests filled by bank and rostering team

In month

95%

RED <95%
GREEN >95%

Cumulative
YTD

85% of
eligible
staff

RED <85%
GREEN ≥85

Rolling 12
months

85% of
eligible

RED <85%
GREEN ≥85

Mental Health Act Training

Denominator: total number of shift requests received by bank and
rostering team

This is a combined indicator for all levels of Mental Health Act
training
Numerator = number of staff who are compliant with receiving
mental health act training within the 3 yearly refresher period.
Denominator = total number of staff identified in the cohort of staff
requiring mental health act training.
Performance data will start to be reported from October 2016.

44

% of staff who have
completed mandatory

Empowere
d and

This indicator comprises an aggregation of key training subjects
which ensure workforce competency levels. This is presented by

11

training

valued
workforce

staff

reporting the proportion of staff that is up-to-date with all
contractually mandated training courses on a rolling basis
Numerator = number of staff receiving mandatory training in the last
rolling 12 months.
Denominator = total number of staff eligible for mandatory training
in the period.

45

% of staff who have
completed yearly specialist
mandatory training

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce
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46

This indicator comprises an aggregation of key training subjects
(Immediate Life Support, Manual Handling, Paediatric Basic Life
Support, MAPA) which ensure workforce competency levels. This is
presented by reporting the proportion of staff that is up-to-date with
all contractually mandated training courses on a rolling basis

Rolling 12
months

85% of
eligible
staff

RED <85%
GREEN ≥85

Rolling 12
months

85% of
eligible
staff

RED <85%
GREEN ≥85

Numerator = number of staff receiving specialist mandatory training
in the last rolling 12 months.
Denominator = total number of staff eligible for specialist mandatory
training in the period
% of staff who have
completed 3 yearly
specialist mandatory
training

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

This indicator comprises an aggregation of key training subjects (
Safeguarding Children Levels 2&3, Safeguarding Adults Levels 2&3
Conflict Resolution, Promoting Safer & Therapeutic Services (PSTS))
which ensure workforce competency levels. This is presented by
reporting the proportion of staff that is up-to-date with all
contractually mandated training courses on a rolling basis.
Numerator = number of staff receiving specialist mandatory training
in the last rolling 3 years.
Denominator = total number of staff eligible for specialist mandatory
training in the period.

12

47

% of staff appraised (12
month rolling average)

Empowere
d and
valued
workforce

The purpose of this indicator is to provide assurance that all staff
receive a PDR within a twelve month period, that work objectives are
set in alignment with the Trust objectives and that all staff have a
personal development plan to support them in their current job role
and future development.

Rolling 12
months

95%

RED <95%
GREEN ≥95%

Numerator = number of staff having an appraisal in the last 12
months.
Denominator = total number of staff
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Indicator

49

CIP achievement - % Year
to Date (YTD) actual
compared to YTD Plan

Resources
used
effectively
Resources
used
effectively

50

Continuity of services risk
rating – effective to 30th
September 2016

Resources
used
effectively

No

Finance Domain
48
Net income and
expenditure (£k)

Objective

Description

Data
Annual
Classification Target

RAG RATING

This indicator measures the total variance from budget. It is
calculated by subtracting total expenditure (pay and non-pay) from
total income.
The Trust is required to make financial efficiency savings and this
indicator will show the Board the progress being made throughout
the year to deliver these savings. The indicator assesses CIP savings
each month against the cumulative year to date (YTD) planned
savings. The target is to achieve 100% of the YTD plan.
It does not reflect amendments to the plan when schemes are
revised and put into recovery.
The continuity of services risk rating is a gauge of financial viability
based on available cash and size of Trust debt. It incorporates four
common measures of financial robustness liquidity and capital
servicing capacity and is calculated as per Monitor guidance page 26
Assigning the financial sustainability risk rating, in Risk Assessment

Cumulative
YTD

1.1
million
deficit
100%

RED >£1.1m
GREEN ≤£1.1m

2

RED 1
AMBER 2
GREEN ≥3

Cumulative
YTD

In month

RED <90%
AMBER ≥90% and
<100%
GREEN 100%

13

50
a
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Finance and Use of
Resources Metric –
effective from 1st October
2016

Resources
used
effectively

51

Cash balance (£k)

Resources
used
effectively

Framework, Monitor August 2015.
Liquidity - days of operating costs held in cash or cash equivalent
forms, including wholly committed lines of credit available for
drawdown.
Capital servicing capacity - the degree to which the organisations
generated income covers its financing obligations.
Income and Expenditure (I&E) margin - the degree to which the
organisation is operating at a surplus/deficit.
Variance from plan in relation to I&E margin: variance between a
foundation trust’s planned I&E margin in its annual forward plan and
its actual I&E margin within the year.
The indicator encourages good financial reporting within a well-run
organisation.
The finance and use of resources metric is a gauge of financial
viability based on available cash and size of Trust debt. It
incorporates five common measures of financial robustness liquidity,
capital servicing capacity and agency spend.
Liquidity - days of operating costs held in cash or cash equivalent
forms, including wholly committed lines of credit available for
drawdown.
Capital servicing capacity - the degree to which the organisations
generated income covers its financing obligations.
Income and Expenditure (I&E) margin - the degree to which the
organisation is operating at a surplus or deficit applied against
revenue.
I&E margin variance from plan: year to date actual I&E
surplus/deficit in comparison to year to date plan I&E surplus/deficit.
Agency spend: distance from provider’s cap
The indicator encourages good financial reporting within a well-run
organisation.
The Trust is required to keep a minimum cash balance equivalent to
30 days trading. This would ensure continuity of service in the event
of a serious disruption to cash flow.

In month

3

RED 4
AMBER 3
GREEN ≤ 2

Cumulative
YTD

£550k

RED <90%
AMBER ≥90% and
<100%
14

GREEN ≥ 100%
52

Capital programme %
achievement of plan

Resources
used
effectively

Capital programme achievement against plan is measured to ensure
that expenditure in the capital plan is being incurred in accordance
with the capital programme and the profiling of expenditure is in line
with plans submitted to the Monitor through the 16/17 Financial
Planning return.

Cumulative
YTD

100%

RED >105%
AMBER >100% and
<=105%
GREEN <=100%
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Quality and Performance Report – Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust – Report period October 2016

Executive Summary
Overall the Safety, Quality and Patient Experience domain performance
•During October we had the second planned visit from the CQC which led to some very positive verbal feedback. The final report is
expected in the New Year.
•Early intervention with a NICE approved package within 2 weeks is just within target levels at 50% for October, the indicator is prone
to high variability in performance due to very small numbers of patients being reported.
•The friends and family test result although rated green shows a deterioration for the third month, which is disappointing. It should
be noted the response rate is quite low each month, with an average response rate of 40 per month so far this year. Of the 55
responses received in October 48 people would recommend the Trust.
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The workforce and efficiency domain
•The linked indicators of turnover , vacancy and agency/bank spend all seen marginal improvements in month.
•Sickness absence remains over target, static at 5.6%.
•Further work is underway to improve specialist mandatory training rates.
•Further progress in improving bed occupancy in the Learning Disability areas has been made for the 2nd month in a row with the
Larches occupancy at 14 – now 100% occupied, 2 beds are currently occupied in The Pines with another admission scheduled for
January 2017 and a further referral awaiting assessment.
•The medical director received a letter this month from the Royal College of Psychiatry informing us that BCPFT are listed as one of
the top 10 Mental Health Trusts for overall satisfaction by trainees. Prof Sir Simon Wessely, President wrote “training satisfaction is
very important to us and I would like to offer my sincere congratulations to you and your team of clinical education on this
outstanding achievement”.

2
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Executive Summary
Financial Performance – October outturn position
The Trust is reporting a £1,020k deficit against a planned deficit of £1,029k.
Variances to plan relate to :
•Income –£57.6 million, a £1.4million adverse position related to Learning Disabilities and Children and Young People’s services.
•Expenditure – £56.0 million, a £1.5 million favourable position related to non pay efficiencies and balance sheet movements.
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•Non Operating Expenditure-£2.6 million year to date, £0.1 million adverse position related to depreciation and PDC dividends resulting from
estate rationalisation at year end.

Key risks emerging and remaining in 2016/17 include the following:
Our CIP programme has a gap of circa £0.9 million risk, currently forecast within reserves. It is anticipated this will be met through the
revaluation exercise.
Cash balances are set to reduce as the year progresses which may necessitate financial support. Daily balance monitoring is in place.
Working capital the Trust has net current liabilities of £7.5million.
The potential for breach of the Agency cap target also remains a risk, the trajectory of improvement has been sustained for the fourth month
however the current forecast to year end suggests the Trust will not hit the 4.4% target.
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Executive Summary
Summary of performance
Commentary
Overall, the Trust has achieved the following performance for October 2016:
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Executive Summary
Summary of issues to report – TRUSTWIDE & LOCAL UNDERPERFORMANCE
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Quality Performance

Safety Domain
Quality Service Domain
Patient Experience Domain
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Domain Summary – Patient Safety
Commentary
In this summary, we have outlined the overall performance for the Trust for all of the Safety indicators. Where the Trust has achieved the required
target for the year to date, there are no areas of concern. However, where the Trust did not achieve the required performance to date (or a
specific Division is significantly under-performing), we have provided supporting analysis on the subsequent pages.

KPIs linked to Risks on the Board
Assurance Framework (BAF)
Where KPIs in Breach are linked to Risks
on the Board Assurance Framework these
will be identified on the relevant Domain
Summary. This month no KPIs are
breaching therefore no linked risks are
identified in this domain.
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Domain Trends – Safety
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The Safety Domain shows a similar position to September across all indicators. Safe staffing continues
to be rated Amber, as we are slightly below threshold for Registered staff and considerably above
threshold for unregistered staff (due to acuity/additional staffing required for observations).
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10

Safety-Safe Staffing

Data summaries on pages 12-13 provide a detailed comparison of actual v planned staffing including bank and agency use.
They include bed occupancy levels for each of the wards/units to aid analysis of staffing levels/ establishments based on
numbers of beds occupied.
A data set of five patient safety related incidents has also been included to support analysis of impacts upon clinical care
that may be correlated with staffing levels; medication errors, falls, absconds, patient to patient assaults and patient
assaults to staff. Key findings are:
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•All wards with the exception of Dale, Gerry Simon, Penrose, Daisy Bank were under planned levels of Registered staff
overall for October.
•The Trust average registered fill rate was 91.6%, a small decrease from the previous month.
•All Wards had over planned levels of unregistered staff for the month of October.
•Chance had a high number of falls; although Registered staff were under planned levels, Unregistered staff were used to
help compensate. Overall staffing levels were much higher than overall planned and agency use was very low. These
resulted in no or low harm.
•Daisy bank had a high number of staff assaults with low harm.
•Ridge Hill has had high numbers of staff assaults, this is due to an emergency admission on the 16/10/16. Patient is not
known to the service. The number of incidents are due to this patients presentation and behaviours. He has been on 2:1
observations since admission. This is being reviewed daily.
•Proportion of Agency Use has remained relatively the same during October, and Bank use has continued to increase. Local
staff use remains proportionately the same.
•Vacancies remain the majority reason for registered bank/agency use. Observations remain the majority reason for
unregistered bank/agency use.
•Incident numbers have increased, and the proportion of incidents resulting in harm also increased. The number of days
harm free per patient was 98.64% during October.
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Safety –Safe Staffing
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12

Safety

Page 196
The Safety Domain shows a similar position to September across all indicators. Safe staffing continues
to be rated Amber, as we are slightly below threshold for Registered staff and considerably above
threshold for unregistered staff (due to acuity/additional staffing required for observations).
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Domain Summary – Quality Service
Commentary
In this summary, we have outlined the overall performance for the Trust for all of the Quality indicators. Where the Trust has
achieved the required target for the year to date, there are no areas of concern. However, where the Trust did not achieve the
required performance to date (or a specific Division is significantly under-performing), we have provided supporting analysis on the
subsequent pages.
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Domain Trends – Quality Service
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Across the quality domain indicators performance is comparable to September – with the following changes.
% readmissions within 90 days of discharge has improved and is now within threshold.
Delayed transfers of care have slightly improved but remain outside of the <7.5% target.
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Quality – Area of Underperformance
Delayed Transfers of Care
Issue

Performance across the Trust was at 9.8% for October. Mental Health were breaching the target
at 10.4% and Learning Disability were at 7.9%.
The snapshot position based on patient head count as at the end of October showed there were
19 patients classified as a Delayed Transfer of Care – breakdown as follows:
•
•

Mental Health – 15 delays, with hotspot areas in Penn adults (7) and older adults (2), in
Edward Street older adults (5) and Hallam Street adults (1)
Learning Disabilities – 4 delays, all within Assessment and Treatment units, 1 at Penrose
House, 1 at Orchard Hills and 2 at Ridge Hill

12.0%
10.0%
8.0%
6.0%
4.0%
2.0%
0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

The main reasons for delays are awaiting funding approval or awaiting suitable placements.
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Actions
being
taken

Related
Issues

Action

Date

Weekly monitoring continues and all delays are escalated to leads within both
the Local Authority and CCG.

On-going

With the emergence nationally of A & E boards, chaired by Trust Chief Execs, it
has provided the opportunity and focus to tackle the delays we are currently
experiencing. Membership of A & E boards is all Chief Officers from provider
Trusts, Local Authorities, CCG’s and NHS England. Sandwell and Wolverhampton
A & E boards have agreed to support BCPFT in a focused piece of work to reduce
delays which will ultimately have a positive impact across the Health economy.

November/
December
2016

Detailed discussions have taken place at the Clinical Quality Review meeting
(CQRM), where it has been suggested that Local Authority be invited to an
exceptional CQRM meeting, specifically to discuss delays. The Trust is awaiting
date from CQRM lead.

Proposal for
meeting in
November 16

Delayed transfers of care can negatively impact on patient experience.
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Quality – Area of Underperformance
Contractual – Remedial Action Plans Process / financial penalty
Issue

At the end of October the Trust has 2 active remedial action plans(RAP) with commissioners:
• Safeguarding Adults Level 3 Training (Sandwell and Wolverhampton CCGs)
• Early Intervention (Wolverhampton CCG)

7
6
5

One RAP (Out of Hours Rota for Children’s Nursing with Dudley CCG) has been closed during October.
At the end of October the Trust has 1 underperforming KPIs with Commissioner financial penalties:
• Safeguarding Children Level 3 Training (81.1% against a target of 85%). This has improved from 78.1% at
the end of September.

4
3
2
1
0
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Financial penalties of £118k have been provided for within the financial position at the end of October. The
penalties have not been actioned by the commissioners, however discussions have been held in regard to
the commissioners’ intentions to apply the penalty consequence. Actions are in place to pro-actively
manage the information to prevent further breaches.

Actions
being
taken

Action

Date

Safeguarding Training
Additional training capacity has been identified to ensure the targets are achievable and
maintained in line with the training needs plan . The expected achievement date for
safeguarding level 3 training is the end of December 2016.

End December
2016

Early Intervention: performance of 50% of patients treated with a NICE approved care
package within 2 weeks has been achieved for the second consecutive month.
KPIs with penalties
Actions are being taken to introduce pro-active management of information to prevent
further breaches

Related
Issues

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16

Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

On-going

In place

The training indicator performance is related to how well equipped staff feel to deliver the requirements of
their role.
Early intervention performance is a measure of patient waiting times and ultimately how satisfied patients
feel with services.
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Quality – Area of Underperformance
Percentage compliance with CQUINS (forecast)
Issue

The forecasted delivery of the Quarter 3 milestone for actual number of frontline clinical staff who have
received the flu vaccine during the period up to and including 31st December 2016, is a potential risk based
on previous years uptake figures.
In the 2015-16 winter season, 38.1% of BCPFT frontline staff received their influenza vaccination against the
national average of49.5%. The national CQUIN for 2016/17 sets the trust a target of vaccinating 75% of its
frontline staff between 1st October and 31st December 2016. Therefore, the trust needs to significantly
improve uptake in order to ensure service users, staff and those that they come into contact with are
protected as much as is reasonably possible against the influenza virus. The total financial risk associated
with this CQUIN for Q3 is £162k.

120.0%
100.0%
80.0%
60.0%
40.0%
20.0%
0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

The Trust ended October having vaccinated 324 people, which totals 23.3% of staff.
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Actions
being
taken

Related
Issues

Action

Date

The Trust has requested that commissioners consider a proposal to vary the national
CQUIN in order to take into consideration evidence that the Trust has offered and made
available the flu vaccine, including where a staff member declines to receive the vaccine.
Wolverhampton CCG have responded to state that they are not in agreement with a
variation . A response is still awaited from SWBCCG and Dudley CCG.

November 2016

A seasonal flu group is established to have a co-ordinated and structured approach to this
year’s campaign.

In place

32 staff are acting as peer vaccinators across the organisation. These staff are vaccinating
colleagues in their own teams and running flu clinics with the support of the Prevention
and Control Nurse (IPCN). The peer vaccinators are also targeting team meetings, training
sessions, trust induction days for new starters etc. in order to promote and offer the
vaccine to as many staff as possible.

Ongoing

In addition to the planned clinics, the IPCN and other vaccinators are “dropping in” to
areas on a regular basis so that staff can be vaccinated without having to leave their
clinical area.

Ongoing

As an added incentive staff who have the flu immunisation are entered into a prize draw
each month.

In place

The majority of CQUINS are forecast to deliver in full for 2016/17.
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Domain Summary – Patient Experience
Commentary
In this summary, we have outlined the overall performance for the Trust for all of the Patient Experience indicators. Where the Trust
has achieved the required target for the year to date, there are no areas of concern. However, where the Trust did not achieve the
required performance to date (or a specific Division is significantly under-performing), we have provided supporting analysis on the
subsequent pages.

KPIs linked to Risks on the Board
Assurance Framework (BAF)
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Where KPIs in Breach are linked to Risks
on the Board Assurance Framework these
will be identified on the relevant Domain
Summary. This month no KPIs are
breaching therefore no linked risks are
identified in this domain.
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Domain Trends – Patient Experience
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0

The Trust remains compliant with all indicators in the patient experience domain. Attention is drawn to
the volatility of the FFT indicator largely related to small numbers of patients completing the test (5 in
mental health, 1 in LD and 49 in CYPF).
Alternative Patient Experience surveys are undertaken in clinical areas. Future reports will focus on
some of these service specific reports.
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Use of Resources Performance
Page 204

Workforce and Efficiency Domain
Finance
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Domain Summary – Workforce and Efficiency
Commentary
In this summary, we have outlined the overall performance for the Trust for all of the Workforce and Efficiency indicators. Where
the Trust has achieved the required target for the year to date, there are no areas of concern. However, where the Trust did not
achieve the required performance to date (or a specific Division is significantly under-performing), we have provided supporting
analysis on the subsequent pages.
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Domain Summary – Workforce and Efficiency
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Domain Trends – Workforce and Efficiency
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0

Performance in the workforce and efficiency domain remains a challenge. The high sickness and vacancy rates will be impacting on
bank/agency spend. However it is positive to note the continued improvement in turnover rates in month.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
Sickness and Absence
Issue

The sickness rate for September was 1.1% above the 4.5% target.

7.0%
6.0%

Sickness absence levels remain above target in all areas with the exception of Children’s Young
People and Families as shown in the table below.

5.0%
4.0%
3.0%

Actions
being
taken
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Related
Issues

Action

Date

Sickness absence continues to be robustly managed by line managers with
dedicated Human Resource Advisor support.

On-going

Divisions receive monthly reports which provide more detail concerning staff on
long term and short term absence and case complexity within their assurance
committees.

Monthly

Human Resources have a real time database of long term sickness absence cases
to ensure robust and efficient management with line managers.

On-going

2.0%
1.0%
0.0%

The Leaning Disabilities Division are exploring a more localised approach to
address areas of high sickness and support the Health and Wellbeing of staff.

Ongoing

The Health and Wellbeing Group and Human Resources are currently developing
a number of proactive programmes of work to highlight Health and Wellbeing
and self care.

November 16

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

Sickness Rates

Sep-16

Trust

5.62%

Mental Health

5.20%

Learning Disability

8.59%

Children and Young People

4.00%

Corporate

5.38%

High levels of sickness impact on bank and agency utilisation and ultimately the health and well
being of staff.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
Vacancy rate
Issue

The vacancy rate in October was 14.2% which is a reduction of 0.6% on the previous month,
however vacancies are well over the Trust target of 8%.

16.0%
14.0%
12.0%

The percentage vacancy rate is the difference between in post and establishment whole time
equivalent. This month there are 295 vacancies of which 218 are being actively recruited to, the
remainder of the vacancies are being held for redesign as part of cost improvement initiatives or
are supporting flexible working arrangements and secondments .

10.0%
8.0%
6.0%
4.0%
2.0%

The Children and Young Peoples division vacancies are reflecting a higher than normal
percentage due to developments in Eating Disorders, Early Intervention and the CAMHS Crisis
team which has resulted in an increased establishment with recruitment now ongoing to these
posts.
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Actions
being
taken

Related
Issues

Action

Date

All Divisions have a process of assurance regarding vacant posts not being
recruited to and as part of the performance review meetings managers are
asked to provide information relating to vacant posts as a cross reference.

Monthly

A significant audit of the recruitment pathway of the vacancies within the
process has taken place. This has resulted in an adjustment in the amount of
vacancies shown to be within the recruitment process. Further work is to be
undertaken.

November
2016

The Recruitment Strategy Group has been working closely with Professional
Boards to identify recruitment fairs and campaigns within the coming months
and into 2017.

On-going

A recruitment activity and tracking database has been developed it will go live in
December and will track progress against recruitment performance indicators.

December
2016

0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

Vacancy Rates
Trust
Mental Health
Learning Disability
Children and Young People
Corporate

Oct-16
14.18%
12.94%
11.87%
18.96%
14.08%

A high vacancy rate contributes to increase use of temporary staff and may impact on the health
and wellbeing of staff in post. It is positive to note however turnover is within target levels.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
Agency spend % of substantive pay
Issue

Agency spend current performance is at 6.5% against the 4.8% target. The Trust target is based
on the agency expenditure ceiling of £3,534k applied from 1st April 2016 to drive a reduction in
agency expenditure across all NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts. To date the current agency pay
costs are £2,704k.
Significant progress has made in year the improving trajectory has been sustained since July 16,
representing 3 months of improvement.

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

The use of agency target is breaching in the clinical divisions as per the table below.
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Actions
being
taken

8.0%
7.0%
6.0%
5.0%
4.0%
3.0%
2.0%
1.0%
0.0%

Action

Date

A concerted effort Trust wide, jointly between Clinical Divisions , Human
Resources and Finance continues to take all appropriate steps to further reduce
agency spend.

On-going

Active work at ward and service level has taken place to encourage staff to
register on the Trust bank and therefore reduce use of agency.

On-going

Agency use is being monitored on a weekly basis, with a particular focus on
medical agency where proactive work has been undertaken to renegotiate
agency rates in line with the agency cap.

On-going

External recruitment to the bank is on-going in an effort to further reduce
agency use and internal bank staff are being offered a fast track recruitment
service to the bank.

Ongoing

Following the move to weekly pay a number of internal bank workers have
withdrawn from the bank due to pay implications. A resolution has been offered
to those staff who from the 1st December will have the option to return to
monthly pay.

Related
Issues

The use of agency is driven by vacancy, sickness and patient acuity factors.
Reducing recruitment delays through streamlined processes supports reducing agency spend.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
% of staff who have completed yearly specialist mandatory training
The compliance rate for yearly specialist mandatory training for October was 79.3% which is
below the contractual requirement of 85%.

Actions
being
taken

Action

Date

Staff who require specialist mandatory training, which is based on role and staff
group are being reminded of their obligations to undertake the topics within the
training programme and are being supported to attend.

On-going

Numbers of those staff and the timescales within which staff are required to
undertake training have been calculated and courses planned accordingly.

On-going

Work is underway to provide some specialist mandatory topics by e-learning
from January 2017.

January 2017

It is intended to introduce an electronic training system which will automatically
highlight and plan annual training.

April 2017
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Issue

Related
Issues

90.0%
80.0%
70.0%
60.0%
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%
10.0%
0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

Contractual KPI with potential financial penalty.
The training indicator performance is related to how well equipped staff feel to deliver the
requirements of their role.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
% of staff who have completed 3 yearly specialist mandatory training
Issue

The compliance rate for 3 yearly specialist mandatory training for September was 83.3% which is
below the contracting requirement of 85%.
The main concern on 3 yearly specialist mandatory training is Safeguarding.

Actions
being
taken

Action

Date

Staff who require specialist mandatory training, which is based on role and staff
group are being reminded of their obligations to undertake the topics within the
training programme and are being supported to attend .

On-going

100.0%
90.0%
80.0%
70.0%
60.0%
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%
10.0%
0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

On-going

Page 212

Numbers of those staff and the timescales within which staff are required to
undertake training have been calculated and courses planned accordingly.
Work is underway to provide some specialist mandatory topics by e-learning
from January 2017.

January 2017

Divisions will be provided with weekly compliance updates to ensure that
Commissioner contract targets are met. A new safeguarding strategy has been
agreed and signed off. This will address the main area of concern in corporate
areas.

November
2016

April 2017
It is intended to introduce an electronic training system which will automatically
highlight and alert staff to 3 yearly training requirements.

Related
Issues

Contractual KPI with potential financial penalty.
The training indicator performance is related to how well equipped staff feel to deliver the
requirements of their role.
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Workforce & Efficiency – Area of Underperformance
% of staff who have received an appraisal in the last 12 months
Issue

The compliance rate appraisals in October was 94.3% which is below the Trust standard
requirement of 95%.

120.0%
100.0%
80.0%
60.0%

Actions
being
taken

Action

Date

The issue is new for October, managers will be provided with a report detailing
those staff or whom there is no recorded appraisal to address compliance.

November/
December
2016
December
2016

The workforce team will consider future communication in addition to the
appraisal spreadsheet.
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Related
Issues

Monitoring and assurance arrangements are managed through Divisional
Committees and performance forums on a monthly basis. Any anomalies in
reporting will be reviewed and resolved.

On going

Compliance in corporate areas will be addressed via the monthly Corporate
Operational Group meetings.

December
2016

40.0%
20.0%
0.0%
Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16

Appraisal is linked to delivery of Trust objectives.
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Domain Summary – Finance
Commentary
In this summary, we have outlined the overall performance for the Trust for all of the Finance indicators. Where the Trust has
achieved the required target for the year to date, there are no areas of concern. However, where the Trust did not achieve the
required performance to date (or a specific Division is significantly under-performing), we have provided supporting analysis on the
subsequent pages.
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Domain Trends – Finance
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The definition for “Finance and Use of Resources Metric” within the Finance Domain has been revised from
October 2016. This has resulted in the performance indicator turning red. A revised definition is included in
the Trust Balanced Scorecard Explainer document.
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Finance
5.1 Net Income and Expenditure
YTD
Position

At month 7 the Trust is reporting a £1,020k deficit against a planned deficit of
£1,029k.

Summary
of
Variances

The main factors and risks influencing the Trust’s position are:
Summary – M7 £9k favourable; M6 £24k favourable
• The income and expenditure position for the Trust is a deficit of £1,020k
compared to a planned deficit of £1,029k year to date. The forecast
deficit for the full year to 31st March 2017 is in line with the revised
planned deficit of £1,129k.
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Contribution
Mental Health – M7 £240k adverse; M6 £142k adverse
• MH is reporting a YTD contribution of £7,922k, and is being adversely
impacted by pay costs.
Learning Disabilities – M7 £787k adverse; M6 £644k adverse
• LD is reporting a YTD contribution of £3,310k, and is being adversely
impacted by pay costs and loss of revenue streams.
Children, Young People and Families – M7 £403k adverse; M6 £392k
adverse
• CYP&F is reporting a YTD contribution of £2,995k, and is adversely
impacted by loss of revenue streams.
Support Services – M7 £1,056k favourable; M6 £904k favourable
• Underspend driven by vacancies and delays in recruitment, and
operational non-pay underspends within Corporate and Facilities.
Reserves – M7 £506k favourable; M6 £433k favourable
• Release of bad debt provision due to payment of invoices in this financial
year

YTD
YTD
YTD
Actual
Budget Variance
£'000
£'000
£'000
57,629
59,039
(1,410)
(44,274) (45,565)
1,291
(3,093) (1,542)
(1,551)
(8,679) (10,478)
1,799
1,583
1,454
129

Income
Pay
Pay (Agency)
Non-Pay
EBITDA
Non Operating Expenditure

Sustainability
Total Surplus/(Deficit)

Service

Related
Issues

Forecast deficit is in line with plan at £1,129k. This assumes £1m of risk gap
will be identified.

Corporate
Facilities Management
CYP&F
Learning Disabilities
Mental Health
Operational Support
Clinical Support Services
Reserves
EBITDA
EBITDA %
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F'cast
Budget
£'000
101,261
(77,668)
(2,643)
(17,823)
3,127

F'cast
Variance
£'000
(2,156)
1,042
(1,557)
2,949
278

Prev
F'cast

Chge to
F'cast

99,529
(77,144)
(3,875)
(15,050)
3,460

(424)
518
(325)
176
(55)

(2,410)

(141)

(4,411)

(4,131)

(280)

(4,411)

0

(956)

(12)

(1,006)

(1,004)

(2)

(951)

(55)

(52)

(73)

21

(121)

(125)

4

(177)

56

(1,020)

(1,029)

9

(1,127)

(1,129)

2

(1,128)

1

Surplus/(Deficit) before Sustainability(968)

Depreciation and finance Costs – M7 £141k adverse; M6 £148k adverse

Forecast
Outturn

(2,551)

F'cast
Actual
£'000
99,105
(76,626)
(4,200)
(14,874)
3,405

YTD
YTD Actual YTD Budget
Variance
£'000
£'000
£'000

F'cast Actual
F'cast
£'000
Budget £'000

F'cast
Variance
£'000

Chge to
F'cast

(5,731)
(6,352)
2,995
3,310
7,922
(782)
(547)
769

(6,149)
(6,700)
3,398
4,097
8,162
(1,019)
(600)
263

418
348
(403)
(787)
(240)
237
53
506

(10,344)
(11,173)
4,827
5,452
13,673
(1,482)
(948)
3,401

(10,525)
(11,401)
5,759
7,109
14,549
(1,782)
(1,033)
451

181
228
(932)
(1,657)
(876)
300
85
2,950

51
21
184
(129)
(244)
8
7
51

1,584
3%

1,452
2%

132

3,406
3%

3,127
3%

279

(51)

33

Finance
5.2 CIP achievement - YTD actual compared to YTD plan
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Issue

The cost improvement programme full year forecast at M7 is £0.9m adverse
against plan, and as such RAG rated red ‘off track’.
• YTD the programme has over-achieved against plan by £97k.
• YTD the MH division has over-achieved by £80k, the LD division by £271k,
Estates and Facilities by £105k and Operational & Clinical Support by £188k.
• YTD CYPF have underachieved by £452k, and Corporate by £94k.
• CYPF received circa £1.3m development funding from the CCG’s, The ability
to deliver the new funded services has been frustrated by difficulties in
recruitment arising from skills shortage and competition. Savings accrued
from the ongoing vacancy factor have not been declared as CIP
achievement.

Actions
being
taken

Action
•
•

•

Related
Performance
Issues

Date

The forecast of existing schemes is scrutinised on a monthly
basis.
Feasibility assessments of a number of ideas relating to the
delivery of new cost improvement schemes has taken place,
and a proportion of these are now being initiated as projects.
However, the Trust will not at this point of the year be in a
position to recover (to any significant extent) the £1.1m from
new ‘cost improvement’ schemes identified so far.
As a result other opportunities have been pursued such as
revaluation and early estimates suggest a recurrent saving of
circa £1.15 m, which offsets the shortfall in the CIP
programme. This will improve the performance of the
recurrent element of the programme, putting it back on
track.

Recurrent / Non Recurrent
Recurrent
Non-Recurrent
Total

Annual
Plan

YTD
Plan

YTD
Actual

YTD
Variance

Forecast
Actuals

Forecast
Variance

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

2,629
3,765
6,395

1,107
2,200
3,307

976
2,429
3,405

(131)
228
97

1,546
3,905
5,451

(1,083)
140
(944)

There is a need to strengthen the Trust’s gateway processes to ensure that
meaningful and realistic recurrent savings plans are developed prior to 1st April
2017.
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Financial and Use of Resources Metric

5.3 Financial Risk Register

Worst Case
£'000

Best
Case
£'000

Risk
Adjust
£'000

Forecast surplus / (deficit) per report
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Total
Total
Total
Total
Total
Total

MH Risks
LD Risks
CYPF Risks
Corporate Services Risks
Facilities & Estates
Organisational Risks

RISK ADJUSTED FORECAST

NHSI Shadow Segmentation Score
Currently stands at 2. The calculated
score based on financial elements is
shown below:

Risks to
F'cast
£'000
(1,131)

(604)
(149)
(610)
(276)
(28)
(1,380)

30
40
346
293
70
2,078

(250)
(35)
(174)
192
50
173

(250)
(35)
(174)
192
50
173

(3,047)

2,857

(43)

(1,174)

Financial Sustainability Risk Rating (FSRR) has been
replaced from 1st October 2016 with a new approach
introduced in the Single Oversight Framework, the Trust is
forecasting a Finance and Use of Resources metric of 3,
although the shadow rating from NHSI is 2. The measures
are not comparable due to changes in the metric criteria. The
risk rating has been adversely affected by the introduction of
a metric to measure agency spending against the annual cap.
The Trust is forecasting to exceed this cap.

Plan
2016/17

YTD Actual
2016/17

Forecast
2016/17

20%

3
4
4
1
1

4
4
4
2
4

3
4
4
2
2

100%

3

4

3

Overriding rules applied

-

Yes

Yes

Yes

Over riding Risk Score

-

3

4

3

Is the Trust in Speacial Measures

-

No

No

No

Revised over riding risk score

-

3

4

3

Summary of Scores

Capital Service Capacity
Liquidity (days)
I&E Margin
Distance from Financial Plan
Agency Spend - Distance from Cap
Average Rating
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5.4 Balance Sheet
At month 7 the Trust is reporting cash position of £3,753k.
Non Current assets:
Non current assets have decreased by £84k in-month, being the net impact
of capital additions and depreciation.
Current assets:
Overall current assets - excluding cash and cash equivalents, have
decreased by £1,800k in month 7.

Financial Position

Cash and Other Financial Assets:
Cash has increased by £1,142k in-month.
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Current Liabilities:
Overall, current liabilities have decreased in month 7 by £668k.

Fixed Assets
Receivables, Total
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Non Current Liabilities:
The Trust has non current liabilities of £5,315k. This relates to the Hallam
Street PFI scheme and pension fund liability.

Liabilities, Current, Total
Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)
Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Assets Employed

£000's
Current Month Receivables

Movement
Prior Month Receivables

Current

1-30 days

31-60
days

61-90
days

>90 days

>365
days

Total

637

488

194

117

469

382

2,287

28%

21%

8%

5%

21%

17%

100%

↓

↑

↓

↑

↑

↑

1,429

248

408

133

457

370

3,046

47%

8%

13%

4%

15%

12%

100%
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Prior month Current month
Actual
Actual
£k
£k

Variance
Actual
£k

65,897
4,789
2,611

65,813
2,989
3,753

(84)
(1,800)
1,142

(14,966)
(7,567)

(14,298)
(7,556)

668
10

(5,337)
52,993

(5,315)
52,942

22
(51)
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5.5 Capital Plan
YTD Position

At month 7 the Trust is reporting year to date expenditure of £982k
against a plan of £1,353k.

Summary of
Variances

Cumulative expenditure to month 7 relates to:
• The £371k underspend of capital is due to underspend on the
following schemes; (£265k) Better Services Better Care, (£87k) IT
Development and (£470k) relating to other capital plans, offset by
an overspend of £451k on the IT implementation Strategy.
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• The overspend of the IT Implementation strategy is due to receiving
goods and invoices earlier than planned. However, the total IT
expenditure is expected to be in line with the forecast.
• The Better services better care underspend of (£265k) is due to
Estates holding back planned work due to the CQC report and the
upcoming inspection. Estates are having to rearrange their schemes
following completion of the CQC workplan.
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Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Cost Improvement Programme Position (M7)

Presented by:

Tracy Taylor, Chief Executive Officer

Author:

Kuli Kaur-Wilson, Head of Transformation PMO

Purpose:

For Review

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

Relationship to High Level Risks:

Ref 211: Cost Improvement Plans

1
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√

Recommendation(s):

The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note the month 7 performance position for delivery of the 2016/17 cost
improvement programme.

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:


NHSI Finance :
Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration



Board
Audit

Business & Performance
M H Legislation Scrutiny

Quality & Safety
Other

Charitable Funds
None

Finance &
Investment
Committee
(24.11.16)
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Executive Summary


As at Month 7 in the Cost Improvement Programme:
o The ‘year-to-date’ position is favourable by £98,065.
o The forecast outturn is £943k adverse against plan.



The forecast outturn of the programme is directly feeding through a risk to the
Trust’s forecast outturn position.



A number of actions have been initiated to recover the programme, and in
particular it is anticipated that a new scheme (revaluation of Trust estate), which
will be added to the programme at month 8, will have a significant favourable
impact on the forecast outturn of the plan, and the recurrent/non-recurrent
balance of delivery.

3
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1.0 Introduction
This paper seeks to assure the Board of Directors of the progress made to date
in managing the delivery of the 2016/17 Cost Improvement Programme.
2.0 Background
The “Delivery of Cost Improvement Programme 2016/17)” paper was presented
to, and discussed at the Finance and Investment Committee, on 24th November
2016 (see Appendix 1A and 1B).
This paper reflected the performance and achievement of the programme at the
end of October 2016, and detailed schemes that were delayed or challenged.
The paper identified:
o The ‘year-to-date’ position was favourable by £98,065.
o The forecast outturn was £943k adverse against plan, and this ‘gap’
continued to directly contribute risk to the Trust’s forecast outturn position.
3.0 Recovery Plan
The recovery plan to mitigate this risk continues to be explored and actions initiated
where possible:




Increasing CIP performance – stretch in current schemes account for positive
movement in the forecast outturn CIP position of all divisions at month 7.
Tighter controls have been put into place e.g. introduction of a vacancy review
panel for corporate/non-patient facing posts
Opportunities for new CIP schemes continue to be progressed (in particular to
note, it is anticipated that a new scheme ‘revaluation of Trust estate’, which will
be added to the programme at month 8, will have a significant favourable impact
on the forecast outturn of the plan, and the recurrent/non-recurrent balance of
delivery).

4.0 Recommendation
The Board of Directors are invited to:


Note the month 7 performance position for delivery of the 2016/17 cost
improvement programme.

Kuli Kaur-Wilson

Head of Transformation Programme Management Office

Appendix 1A – Finance & Investment Committee paper 20/10/2016
Appendix 1B – Cost Improvement Programme Dashboard
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Meeting of:

Finance and Investment Committee Meeting

Date:

24th November 2016

Subject:

Delivery of Cost Improvement Programme 2016/17

Presented by:

Kuli Kaur-Wilson, Head of Transformation PMO

Author:

Kuli Kaur-Wilson, Head of Transformation PMO

Purpose:

For Information

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.

√

Relationship to High Level Risks:

Ref 211: Cost Improvement Plans

Recommendation(s):

The Committee is invited to:
 Note the Month 7 performance position for delivery of the 2016/17 Cost
Improvement Programme.
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Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed.

Regulatory and Compliance matters:


NHSI Finance :
Care Quality
Commission:
Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Other

Business & Performance
M H Legislation Scrutiny


Charitable Funds
None
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1. Executive Summary
This paper seeks to assure the Finance and Investment Committee of the progress
made to date in managing the delivery of the 2016/17 Cost Improvement
Programme.
Performance and achievement of individual schemes against the 2016/17 plan, at
the end of October 2016 (month 7), are summarised below, identifying key areas of
risk.

A balance of £786,784 that is still to be achieved from a number of schemes is
currently RAG rated red ‘off track’, and a balance of £78,298 that is still to be
achieved from a number of schemes is currently RAG rated amber ‘at risk’. The full
forecast outturn of these red and amber schemes is still considered recoverable.
The actual level of risk in the programme at month 7 is to the delivery of
approximately £943k of the plan (15% of the plan). This gap continues to directly
contribute to the risk to the Trust’s forecast outturn position.
The two elements of the Trust’s recovery plan to mitigate this risk continue to be
explored and actions initiated when possible:
1. Increasing CIP performance – stretch in current schemes account for positive
movement in the forecast outturn CIP position of all divisions. In addition tighter
controls have been put into place e.g. introduction of a vacancy review panel for
corporate/non-patient facing posts.
2. Deliver against other new opportunities outside of the scope of cost improvement
programme e.g. reduce PDC dividend and depreciation costs from revaluation of
Trust estate. Further details regarding this will be covered in the Finance report.
2. Introduction
Page 3 of 9
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This report reflects the performance and achievement of the 2016/17 Cost
Improvement Programme at the end of October 2016. The Finance and Investment
Committee is requested to note progress on the Cost Improvement Programme and
to receive information on the schemes that are delayed or challenged.
The Trust has a £6.3 million planned cost improvement programme for this year.
The recurrent/non-recurrent split in the full year plan is 41% (R) and 59% (NR).
The Committee(s) will note that in addition to the plan (£6.3m), a further £531k was
removed from Corporate Services on a recurrent basis during the budget setting
process.
3. Overall performance
The overall performance of the schemes within the programme are rated as follows;

Division
Mental Health
CYPF
LD
Corporate
Estates & Facilities
Operational Support
Clinical Support
Services
Grand Total


Overall Scheme Status Rating
Red
Amber
Green
3
8
3
1
1

17

2
1
2

5

Closed

6
12
7
22
12
4

5
6
5
6

2

1

64

23

The cost improvement programme at month seven consists of 86 active
schemes.

The cost improvement status dashboard (appendix 1B) provides the detail by
schemes within each division.
3.1 YTD position (Month 7)



The year to date plan at month 7 is £3,307,262 and the year to date position is
favourable by £98,065.
The recurrent/non-recurrent split year remains 28% (R) and 72% (NR).

3.2 Forecast Out-turn 2016/17
Page 4 of 9
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The planned value of the schemes closed is £1,201,350.
£1,201,350
This increase is attributable to the additional scheme that was
closed after the month 5 review exercise (GAU Review).
The schemes that remain active have a combined plan of £5,193,358
£5,193,358
The forecast outturn of active schemes at month 7 is £5,451,604
£5,451,604
The variance against plan (for active schemes only) is £258,245
£258,245
favourable.
A balance of £786,784 that is still to be achieved from a number of
schemes is currently RAG rated red ‘off track’, and a balance of
£78,298 that is still to be achieved from a number of schemes is
currently RAG rated amber ‘at risk’. The full forecast outturn of these
red and amber schemes is still considered recoverable.
The combined impact of the closed schemes and the performance £943,105
of the active schemes is that the overall programme is £943,105
adverse against plan. This equates to 15% of the plan, and
demonstrates an improvement of the forecast outturn position by
£155,660.
4. Cost improvement achievement by Division
4.1 Mental Health (MH)
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target of £2,787,000 (6.9% of
division’s expenditure).
 Year to date the division has over-achieved, delivering £1,421,245 against a YTD
plan of £1,340,517.
 At month five, five schemes within this division were closed. These schemes had
a combined plan of £499,045.
 The forecast outturn for this division is £2,287,466 which is an adverse variance
of £499,535.
 Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated red ‘off track’.
Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in Mental
Health are summarised below:


Vacancy Management – (planned care and urgent care) red rated
These schemes originally formed part of one large scheme which had a plan of
£1,975,583 and held a considerable level of risk to delivery, as a result of the lack
of transparency regarding deliverables. The large scheme has now been
replaced by a number of smaller vacancy management schemes (including the
two identified as at risk). The under-achievement on these specific schemes is as
a result of reporting difficulties encountered in breaking down these NR schemes
part way through the year. The under-achievement is actually being off-set
against over-achievement on other component parts of the original large vacancy
management schemes.



Allied Health Professionals (AHP) Review – red rated
This scheme has a plan of £183,750 and has identified potential skill mix savings
of approximately £127,000. Delivery of savings was planned from September
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2016 however the delivery of this change (including staff consultation) has still to
be completed. Whilst the scheme now has a zero forecast it has not been closed
to date as there is ongoing challenge to deliver some savings this year, and every
effort is being made within the division to realise this.
4.2 Children, Young People and Families (CYPF)
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target of £2,163,832 (11.7% of
division’s expenditure).
 Year to date the division has under-achieved, delivering £727,584 against a YTD
plan of £1,180,291.
 At month five, six schemes within this division were closed. These schemes had
a combined plan of £250,897.
 The forecast outturn for this division is £1,397,267 which is an adverse variance
of £766,565.
 Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated red ‘off track’.
Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in CYPF are
summarised below:


Vacancy Management (Additional Needs, Pre-School, Special Mental Health,
Early Intervention, Eating Disorders and Physical Health)- red rated
These schemes originally formed part of one large scheme which had a plan of
£1,537,970 and held a considerable level of risk to delivery, as a result of the lack
of transparency regarding deliverables. The scheme has now been replaced by a
number of smaller vacancy management schemes to enable a performance
management approach to be adopted and to eliminate duplication with other
schemes in the programme (including those deemed at risk).
The division received circa £1.3m development funding for CAMHS, Eating
Disorders and Early Intervention from Wolverhampton and Sandwell CCG’s. The
ability to deliver the new funded services has been frustrated by difficulties in
recruitment arising from skills shortage and competition, and as such there is a
potential risk that the CCG’s may withdraw an element of the funding on the basis
of non-delivery against the service/contract. A level of savings accrued to date
from the ongoing vacancy factor have not been declared as CIP achievement
contributing to the adverse year to date position.
The following schemes Workforce savings in SALT – red rated, Key Team rebanding – red rated, Skill mix Sandwell CAMHS – red rated and 0.64 in
Wolverhampton EDS – amber rated are also being kept under review as there is
a potential that the savings may have been double counted as part of the revised
vacancy management schemes in CYPF detailed above. The combined forecast
of these schemes is £61,480.

4.3 Learning Disabilities (LD)
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target £437,000 (2.8% of division’s
expenditure).
 Year to date the division has over-achieved delivering £471,277 against a YTD
plan of £199,664.
Page 6 of 9
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At month five, five schemes within this division were closed. These schemes had
a combined plan of £184,588.
The forecast outturn for this division is £608,737 which is an over-achievement of
£171,737.
Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated green ‘on track’.

Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in Learning
Disabilities are summarised below:


Ridgehill Administration efficiency – amber rated
The forecast achievement of this scheme has seen favourable movement since
last month however the scheme may still not meet its full original plan of £8,333
due to delays in initiating this change.

4.4 Corporate Services
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target of £679,829 (4.8% of division’s
expenditure).
 Year to date the division has under-achieved delivering £302,169 against a YTD
plan of £396,013.
 At month five, six schemes within this division were closed. These schemes had
a combined plan of £226,836. At month six an additional scheme was closed, this
scheme had a plan of £18,195.
 The forecast outturn for this division is £477,433 which is an adverse variance of
£202,396.
 Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated red ‘off track’.
Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in Corporate
Services are summarised below:


No back-fill BI secondment – red rated
A number of staffing and skill mix schemes that relate to this team had saving
opportunities overlapping. This scheme is forecasting achievement of £15,120
(from a plan of £20,164) and this is the extent to which savings are likely to be
recovered.



Remove vacancies and replace with band 3 – red rated
This scheme is forecast achievement of £33,090 (from a plan of £36,024), this
variance is because the scheme did not start achieving until month 2 (with the
post-holder still in place during month 1). This variance will not be recovered from
this scheme.



Membership skill mix and WTE reduction – red rated
This scheme is forecast achievement of £18,750 (from a plan of £22,875) this
variance is on the basis of an over-estimating the level of savings in the plan as
the budget for the post impacted by this change is only £18,750 as such this
variance will not be recovered from this scheme.

4.5 Estates & Facilities
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target of £125,000 (1% of division’s
expenditure).
Page 7 of 9
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Year to date the division has over-achieved delivering £177,733 against a YTD
plan of £72,917.
The forecast outturn for this division is £316,812 which is an over-achievement of
£191,812.
Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated green ‘on track’.

Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in Estates
and Facilities are summarised below:


Utilities – red rated
This scheme is forecast achievement of £9,608 (from a plan of £10,000). This
variance is expected to be positively impacted in Q3 following new tariffs
expected on utilities.



Catering – red rated
This scheme is forecast achievement of £18,333 (from a plan of £20,000) this
variance is as a result of old year variance hitting the report, as such this variance
will not be recovered in this scheme.



Utilities – red rated
This scheme is forecasting over-achievement of £1,116 (from a plan of £20,000)
however YTD is adverse to plan. This variance is expected to be positively
impacted from Q3 following new tariffs expected on utilities.

4.6 Operational Support
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target of £180,259 (9.3% of division’s
expenditure)
 Year to date the division has over-achieved, delivering £288,648 against a YTD
plan of £105,151.
 The forecast outturn for this division is £342,539 which is an over-achievement of
£162,280.
 Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated green ‘on track’.
Exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes in
Operational Support are summarised below:


Operational Intelligence Skill Mix Review – red rated
This scheme is forecast achievement of £52,838 (from a plan of £57,178. The
overall reduced forecast is on the basis of the scheme (and savings
opportunities) being scoped after the plan was agreed, and the adverse variance
against plan is as a result of year to date savings being used to off-set a banding
uplift within the team. The variance against the plan will not be recovered.

4.7 Clinical Support Services
 This division have a cost improvement plan/target £21,789 (3.8% of division’s
expenditure).
 Year to date the division has over-achieved, delivering £16,673 against a YTD
plan of £12,710.
 At month five, one scheme within this division was closed. This had a plan of
£21,789.
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The forecast outturn for this division is £21,351 which is an adverse variance of
£438.00.
Overall delivery in this division is currently RAG rated red ‘off track’.

There are no exceptions to the performance and delivery against the active schemes
in Clinical Support Services.
5. Recovery Plan
The two elements of the Trust’s recovery plan to mitigate this risk continue to be
explored and actions initiated when possible:


Increasing CIP performance – stretch in current schemes account for positive
movement in the forecast outturn CIP position of all divisions. In addition tighter
controls have been put into place e.g. introduction of a vacancy review panel for
corporate/non-patient facing posts.



Delivering against other new opportunities outside of the scope of cost
improvement programme e.g. reduce PDC dividend and depreciation costs from
revaluation of Trust estate. Further details regarding this will be covered in the
Finance report.

The Trust has acknowledged the need to strengthen its gateway, planning and
performance management processes in order to learn lessons from this year’s CIP
performance. These changes are currently being developed to ensure alignment to
the 2017/18-2018/19 planning cycle.
6. Recommendations
The Finance and Investment Committee is invited to:


Note the month 7 performance position for delivery of the 2016/17 cost
improvement programme.

Kuli Kaur-Wilson

Head of Transformation Programme Management Office

Appendix 1B – Cost Improvement Programme Dashboard
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Project Rating:
Posting Code
(Multiple Items)
1. Financial Forecast Outturn: Is FOT 100% against plan? Yes =Green / No = Red
CIP Analysis
2. Financial
YTD position: Green = YTD (All)
savings being achieved at 95% or greater / Amber = 85- 94% / Red = Less than 85%
3. Overall Status = PMO Assessment based on Financial RAG rating and Delivery plans.
Source
(Multiple Items)

Financial YTD
Position

Exec Sponsor

R/NR

16/17 Plan

16/17 Forecast

16/17 Variance

YTD Plan

YTD Actual

YTD Variance

On Track

DirOps

NR

On Track

On Track

Medical Model Redesign

MedDir

R

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management (Medical)

DirOps

NR

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management (MH Management)

DirOps

NR

On Track

On Track

On Track

Non-Pay Savings made at M6

(blank)

NR

0
128,622
135,093
296,151
0

36,646
262,414
179,643
615,101
30,835

36,646
133,792
44,550
318,950
30,835

0
21,437
78,808
172,756
0

22,416
153,074
179,643
217,621
0

22,416
131,637
100,835
44,865
0

Sub-Group

MH

MH

On Track

On Track

MH

MH

On Track

MH

MH

On Track

MH

MH

MH

MH

Overall Status

MH

MH

MH

MH
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MH

MH

At Risk

Off Track

NR

331,619

(197,367)

308,576

280,599

DirOps

R

183,750

0

(183,750)

52,500

0

(52,500)

Vacancy Management (Planned Care)

DirOps

NR

1,015,353

831,206

(184,147)

592,293

567,891

(24,402)

Off Track

On Track

Off Track

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

MH

Community & Recovery Service Redesign (Planned care)

DirOps

R

128,628

0

(128,622)

21,438

1

(21,437)

MH

Edward Street Hairdressing

DirOps

R

6,667

0

(6,667)

2,500

0

(2,500)

MH

Older Adult Service Redesign

DirOps

R

128,628

0

(128,628)

21,438

0

(21,438)

Site Management Across all Localities

DirOps

R

106,500

0

(106,500)

47,333

0

(47,333)

MH

Urgent Care Pathway Redesign

DirOps

R

128,622

0

(128,622)

21,437

0

(21,437)

2,287,465
12,601
14,414
75,833
96,365
101,785
6,637
9,110
45,535
33,750

(499,529)
2,865
14,414
(0)
365
7,618
163
9,110
16,507
33,750

1,340,517
5,679
0
21,667
56,000
47,083
3,777
0
16,934
0

1,421,245
7,351
8,408
44,236
56,210
59,375
3,872
0
20,600
0

80,728
1,672
8,408
22,569
210
12,292
96
0
3,666
0

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

0.2wte Band 8a MO vacancy.

DirOps

R

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Annual Leave Buyback

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

CAMHS Crisis Structure

DirOps

R

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Early Intervention

DirOps

R

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

HV skill mix

DirOps

R

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Release physio post

DirOps

R

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management (Div Mgment)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management LD Mgt

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

On Track

On Track

On Track

Non-Pay Savings made at M6

(blank)

NR

2,787,000
9,736
0
75,833
96,000
94,167
6,474
0
29,028
0

CYPF

CYPF

0.64 B3 STR in Wolverhampton EDS

DirOps

R

14,987

12,742

(2,245)

8,742

7,432

At Risk

At Risk

Off Track

CYPF

CYPF

At Risk

At Risk

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Additional Needs)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Early Intervention)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Eating Disorders)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Physical Health)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Pre School)

DirOps

NR

CYPF

CYPF

Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

Vacancy Management (Special Mental Health)

DirOps

NR

278,582
103,836
72,888
133,092
388,380
561,192

193,650
41,500
12,500
52,200
85,200
554,705

(84,932)
(62,336)
(60,388)
(80,892)
(303,180)
(6,487)

162,505
60,571
42,518
77,637
226,555
327,362

143,500
41,500
12,500
40,000
76,000
206,600

CYPF

CYPF

Key Team rebanding of post

DirOps

R

7,423

7,425

2

4,330

0

Off Track

Off Track

On Track
Skillmix Sandwell CAMHS

DirOps

R

12,540

12,540

0

7,315

0

Off Track

Off Track

On Track
Workforce savings - skill mix across SALT (Report 447).

DirOps

R

28,777

28,775

(2)

16,787

0

Off Track

Off Track

On Track

CYPF

CYPF

CYPF

CYPF

CYPF

CYPF

Closed

CYPF

Closed

Closed

This scheme was a new scheme that contributes to the replacement of the original large £1.9m
scheme. The under-achievement on this scheme is off-set against the over-achievement on other
vacancy management schemes. This is as a result of difficulties encountered in breaking down these
NR schemes part way through the year.
This scheme has a plan of £183,750 and has identified potential skill mix savings of approximately
£127,000. Delivery of savings was planned from September 2016 however the delivery of this
change (including staff consultation) has still to be completed. Whilst the scheme now has a zero
forecast it has not been closed to date as there is ongoing challenge to deliver some savings this
year, and every effort is being made within the division to realise this.

Closed

This scheme was a new scheme that contributes to the replacement of the original large £1.9m
scheme. The under-achievement on this scheme is off-set against the over-achievement on other
vacancy management schemes. This is as a result of difficulties encountered in breaking down these
NR schemes part way through the year.
Scheme has been closed as will not deliver savings this year. Scoping will continue (inc workforce
and commissioner engagement) and plans for delivery inc efficiency savings will be scheduled to
deliver from 01.04.17.
Whilst the change that underpins this scheme has been delivered, this scheme has been closed on
the cost improvement programme as the savings achieved this year have been off-set against
redundancy costs this year.
Scheme has been closed as will not deliver savings this year. Scoping will continue (inc workforce
and commissioner engagement) and plans for delivery inc efficiency savings will be scheduled to
deliver from 01.04.17.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.
Scheme has been closed as will not deliver savings this year. Scoping will continue (inc workforce
and commissioner engagement) and plans for delivery inc efficiency savings will be scheduled to
deliver from 01.04.17.

Following the split of the large vacancy management scheme into CYPF there is a potential that
savings plans may have been double counted . This scrutiny is on-going to ensure that these NR
savings are reported correctly.
(19,005) The division received circa £1.3m development funding for CAMHS, Eating Disorders and Early
(19,071) Intervention from Wolverhampton and Sandwell CCG’s. The ability to deliver the new funded
(30,018) services has been frustrated by difficulties in recruitment arising from skills shortage and
(37,637) competition, and as such there is a potential risk that the CCG’s may withdraw an element of the
(150,555) funding on the basis of non-delivery against the service/contract. Savings accrued to date from the
(120,762) ongoing vacancy factor £385,000 have not been declared as CIP achievement resulting in the
Following the split of the large vacancy management scheme into CYPF there is a potential that
(4,330) savings plans may have been double counted . This scrutiny is on-going to ensure that these NR
savings are reported correctly.
Following the split of the large vacancy management scheme into CYPF there is a potential that
(7,315) savings plans may have been double counted . This scrutiny is on-going to ensure that these NR
savings are reported correctly.
Following the split of the large vacancy management scheme into CYPF there is a potential that
(16,787) savings plans may have been double counted . This scrutiny is on-going to ensure that these NR
savings are reported correctly.
(1,310)

Admin savings from co-location

DirOps

R

20,137

0

(20,137)

11,746

0

(11,746)

AHP Review

DirOps

R

76,000

0

(76,000)

28,500

0

(28,500)

Closed

CYPF
Closed

(27,977)

AHP Review

MH Total

1 of 4

528,986

Exception Report

Off Track

MH

MH

DirOps

Off Track

MH

Off Track

MH

Scheme Name

Vacancy Management (Urgent Care)
Off Track

MH

BCPFT Cost Improvement Programme 2016/17 (M7)
Buy back Annual Leave

Group

MH

Financial Forecast
Outturn

APPENDIX ONE: CIP STATUS DASHBOARD

This scheme relates to the co-location of health visiting services, enabling pooling of administration
resource. Whilst there remain intentions to co-locate services the move is dependent on capacity
being available at a new site for which we are reliant on Children’s services in Dudley. There are
currently no clear plans or agreement regarding when or if this capacity will be available. This
scheme will instead be deferred to the 2017/18 planning cycle
Whilst the opportunity for saving from this transformation scheme remains valid (and has identified
skill mix savings), the project remains at early stages of planning and will not release any savings this
year. This project will be deferred to the 2017/18 planning cycle with a view to delivering savings
from 1st April 2017.

CYPF

CYPF

CYPF
CYPF

CYPF
Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

CYPF

CYPF
CYPF

CAMHS Service redesign- 2 years

DirOps

R

80,000

0

(80,000)

13,333

0

(13,333)

MSK Income

DirOps

R

28,333

0

(28,333)

14,167

0

(14,167)

Newborn Hearing Service Staff savings

DirOps

R

14,153

0

(14,153)

8,256

0

(8,256)

Release admin post

DirOps

R

0

(32,274)

18,827

0

(18,827)

1,397,267
18,840
115,560
3,976
250,000
204,900
8,933

(766,565)
18,840
18,560
3,976
250,000
66,756
(1)

1,180,291
0
27,714
0
0
80,584
5,212

727,584
10,990
115,560
1,491
149,017
185,200
5,211

(452,707)
10,990
87,846
1,491
149,017
104,616
(1)

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

Annual leave buy back

DirOps

NR

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

GSC bed

DirOps

R

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

Pay Protection Removal

DirOps

R

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

Pond Lane

DirOps

R

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

DirOps

NR

LD

LD

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vehicle Lease

DirOps

R

LD

LD

Ridgehill Admin Efficiency

DirOps

R

8,333

6,528

(1,805)

4,167

3,808

(359)

AHP Review

DirOps

R

57,777

0

(57,777)

25,679

0

(25,679)

Assessment & Treatment Workforce Development

DirOps

R

20,000

0

(20,000)

7,500

0

(7,500)

Band 7 nsg skill mix

DirOps

R

24,067

0

(24,067)

12,033

0

(12,033)

Forensic Pathway Workforce Development

DirOps

R

22,500

0

(22,500)

10,000

0

(10,000)

Skillmix Community LD

DirOps

R

At Risk

LD

LD

LD

LD
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LD

At Risk

Off Track

LD

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

LD

LD

LD

LD

60,245

0

(60,245)

26,775

0

(26,775)

608,737
5,769
6,124
8,483
14,400
21,972
61,952

171,737
5,769
6,124
8,483
0
(2)
(0)

199,664
0
0
0
8,400
12,818
36,139

471,277
5,769
6,124
8,483
8,400
12,817
36,138

271,613
5,769
6,124
8,483
0
(1)
(0)

Corporate

Corporate

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

Finance Director

NR

Corporate

Corporate

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

(blank)

NR

Corporate

Corporate

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

CEO

NR

Corporate

Finance

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

Finance Director

NR

Corporate

Finance & Procurement

On Track

On Track

On Track

Finance restructure

Finance Director

R

Corporate

HR

On Track

On Track

On Track

Remove Vacancy

DirOps

R

437,000
0
0
0
14,400
21,974
61,952

Corporate

HR

Director of Nursing

R

45,000

0

(45,000)

26,250

0

(26,250)

Closed

Closed

Closed

DirOps

R

138,048

0

(138,048)

80,528

0

(80,528)

LD Total

L & D Non Pay Initiatives

Corporate

HR

Staffing and Skill Mix Review / Partnership Working
Closed

Closed

Closed

Corporate

IT & BI

On Track

On Track

On Track

Part time person in FT post

Finance Director

R

Corporate

IT & BI

On Track

On Track

On Track

Skill Mix in IT & BI

Finance Director

R

8,152
20,000

10,213
20,004

2,061
4

4,755
11,667

5,958
11,669

1,202
2

Corporate

IT & BI

Not backfill BI secondment

Finance Director

NR

20,164

15,120

(5,044)

15,683

11,760

(3,923)

Fixed term post to end M6

Finance Director

R

10,739

0

(10,739)

1,790

0

(1,790)

Part time person in FT post

Finance Director

R

2,014

0

(2,014)

1,175

0

(1,175)

39,904
5,000
3,116
86,849
70,901
0

39,904
5,000
3,117
86,849
70,901
22,517

(0)
0
1
(0)
(0)
22,517

23,277
2,917
1,818
50,662
41,359
0

23,277
2,917
1,818
50,662
41,359
22,517

(0)
0
1
0
(0)
22,517

Off Track

Corporate

Off Track

Off Track

IT & BI
Closed

Closed

Closed

Corporate

IT & BI
Closed

Closed

Closed

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

CLINICAL GOVERNANCE

Director of Nursing

R

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

HR - TRUST WIDE TRAINING

Director of Nursing

R

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

NMET

Director of Nursing

R

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

NURSING DEPARTMENT

Director of Nursing

R

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

Nursing, Governance, AHP Mgt

Director of Nursing

R

Corporate

Quality and Governance

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

Director of Nursing

NR

Corporate

Corporate

2 of 4

32,274
2,163,832
0
97,000
0
0
138,144
8,934

CYPF Total

Quality and Governance
Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Closed

Quality and Governance

GAU Review

Director of Nursing

R

18,195

0

(18,195)

10,614

0

(10,614)

HR - TRUST WIDE TRAINING

Director of Nursing

R

3,315

0

(3,315)

1,934

0

(1,934)

Whilst the opportunity for saving from this transformation scheme remains valid, the project
remains at early stages of planning and will not release any savings this year. This project will be
deferred to the 2017/18 planning cycle with a view to delivering savings from 1st April 2017.
The business case for this income generation scheme was approved in principle by Dudley CCG
however there was no funding attached to this approval and no timeframes or plan for delivery have
been subsequently agreed by the commissioner, despite lengthy delays which are likely to be further
adversely impacted by Dudley MCP.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.

The forecast achievement of this scheme has seen favourable movement since last month as plans
for delivery have not been finalised and savings declared. However the scheme may still not meet its
full original plan of £8,333 due to delays in initiating this change.
Whilst the opportunity for saving from this transformation scheme remains valid, the project
remains at early stages of planning and will not release any savings this year. The original plans that
were developed are no longer valid on the basis that a decision has been made to not progress
owing to the financial risk arising from the cross-subsidisation across CCGs. There is currently no
contingency plan in place. This project will be deferred to the 2017/18 planning cycle with a view to
delivering savings from 1st April 2017.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change (which would
have been phase two of changes already delivered in these services during 2015/16) has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change (which would
have been phase two of changes already delivered in these services during 2015/16) has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change has been
deemed undeliverable in line with service need

This scheme has been closed on the basis that there was not deemed to be any scope for efficiencies
above those already achieved in learning and development non-pay elsewhere within the plan.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that efficiencies arising from changes to the skill mix in HR
have already been achieved elsewhere within the cost improvement programme, and there was
deemed to be no further scope at this time. This scheme had a plan of £138,048 this year and is now
forecast nil achievement; however this is off-set against an over-achievement in operational support
services

A number of staffing and skill mix schemes that relate to this team had saving opportunities
overlapping. This scheme is forecasting achievement of £15,120 (from a plan of £20,164) and this is
the extent to which savings are likely to be recovered.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that there are a number of staffing and skill mix schemes
that relate to this team with some saving opportunities overlapping. This scheme had a plan of
£10,739 this year and the opportunity will achieve savings elsewhere in the plan.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that there are a number of staffing and skill mix schemes
that relate to this team with some saving opportunities overlapping. This scheme had a plan of
£2,014 this year and the opportunity will achieve savings elsewhere in the plan.

Following on from the update at M5 that there were no clear plans in place regarding how this
scheme would be delivered a further review of this scheme has now taken place with a
recommendation received to close this scheme. This will be actioned for M7, and the scheme is now
forecast 0.
This scheme has been closed on the basis that there was not deemed to be any scope for efficiencies
above those already achieved in learning and development non-pay elsewhere within the plan.

Corporate

Quality and Governance

Staffing and Skill Mix Review / Partnership Working
Closed

Closed

Closed

Corporate

Trust Mgmt

On Track

On Track

On Track

Comms reduce hours

Corporate

Trust Mgmt

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

Corporate

Trust Mgmt

Remove vacancies and replace with band 3
Off Track
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At Risk

Off Track

R

27,720

0

(27,720)

16,170

0

(16,170)

CEO

R

CEO

NR

23,487
0

23,484
9,784

(3)
9,784

13,701
0

13,699
9,784

(2)
9,784

Director of Nursing

R

36,024

33,090

(2,934)

21,014

18,080

(2,934)

Director of Nursing

This scheme has been closed on the basis that there was not deemed to be any further scope for
efficiencies above those already achieved in the skill mix and staffing levels of quality and
governance elsewhere within the plan.

This scheme is forecast achievement of £33,090 (from a plan of £36,024), this variance is because
the scheme did not start achieving until month 2 (with the post-holder still in place during month 1).
This variance will not be recovered from this scheme.

Corporate

Trust Mgmt

Membership - skillmix and wte reduction
Off Track

Off Track

Off Track

CEO

R

22,875

18,750

(4,125)

13,344

10,938

(2,406)

477,433
15,000
9,996
20,000
29,571

(202,396)
0
(4)
(0)
29,571

396,013
8,750
5,833
11,667
0

302,169
8,750
5,831
11,667
29,571

(93,845)
0
(2)
(0)
29,571

21,116

1,116

11,667

9,331

(2,336)

Estates & Facilities

Estates

On Track

On Track

On Track

Authorising engineers

Finance Director

R

Estates & Facilities

Estates

On Track

On Track

On Track

Handyman

Finance Director

R

Estates & Facilities

Estates

On Track

On Track

On Track

Norland Contract

Finance Director

R

Estates & Facilities

Estates

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy

Finance Director

NR

679,829
15,000
10,000
20,000
0

Estates & Facilities

Estates

Off Track

Utilities

Finance Director

R

At Risk

On Track

20,000

Corporate Total

Estates & Facilities

Estates

Off Track

Utilities

Finance Director

R

Off Track

Off Track

10,000

9,608

(392)

5,833

3,603

(2,230)

Estates & Facilities

Estates & Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Buy back Annual Leave

Finance Director

NR

Estates & Facilities

Estates & Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy

Finance Director

NR

Estates & Facilities

Estates & Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Non-Pay Savings made at M6

(blank)

NR

Estates & Facilities

Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Laundry

Finance Director

R

Estates & Facilities

Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Security

Finance Director

R

Estates & Facilities

Facilities

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy

Finance Director

NR

0
0
0
5,000
25,000
0

6,461
22,966
94,820
5,000
24,996
38,945

6,461
22,966
94,820
0
(4)
38,945

0
0
0
2,917
14,583
0

3,769
22,966
15,803
2,917
14,581
38,945

3,769
22,966
15,803
0
(2)
38,945

Estates & Facilities

Facilities

Catering

Finance Director

R

20,000

18,333

(1,667)

11,667

10,000

(1,667)

At Risk

At Risk

Off Track
NR

316,812
3,420
73,081
213,200

191,812
3,420
0
163,200

72,917
0
42,631
29,167

177,733
1,995
42,631
213,200

104,817
1,995
0
184,033

Operational Support

Ops Mgmt

On Track

On Track

On Track

Annual leave buy back

DirOps

Operational Support

Ops Mgmt

On Track

On Track

On Track

Trustwide ops mgmt restructure

DirOps

R

Operational Support

Ops Mgmt

On Track

On Track

On Track

Vacancy Management

DirOps

NR

125,000
0
73,081
50,000

Operational Support

Ops Mgmt

Operational Intelligence Skill mix review

DirOps

R

57,178

52,838

(4,340)

33,354

30,822

(2,532)

MH Act team Vacancy Mgmt

DirOps

NR

180,259
0

342,539
21,351

162,280
21,351

105,151
0

288,648
16,673

183,497
16,673

Band 3 post in MH Act

DirOps

R

21,789

0

(21,789)

12,710

0

(12,710)

21,789
6,394,708

21,351
5,451,603

(438)
(943,099)

12,710
3,307,262

16,673
3,405,328

3,963
98,065

Estates & Facilities Total

Off Track

At Risk

Off Track

On Track

On Track

On Track

Closed

Closed

Closed

Operational Support Total
Clinical Support Services

Clinical Support Services

Clinical Support Services

Clinical Support Services

Clinical Support Services Total
Grand Total
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This scheme is forecast achievement of £18,750 (from a plan of £22,875) this variance is on the basis
of an over-estimating the level of savings in the plan as the budget for the post impacted by this
change is only £18,750 as such this variance will not be recovered from this scheme.

This variance is likely to be positively impacted In Q3 following new tariffs expected on utilities.
This variance is likely to be positively impacted in Q3 following new tariffs expected on utilities.

This scheme is forecast achievement of £18,333 (from a plan of £20,000) this variance is as a result
of old year variance hitting the report, as such this variance will not be recovered in this scheme.

The overall reduced forecast is on the basis of the scheme (and savings opportunities) being scoped
after the plan was agreed, and the adverse variance against plan is as a result of year to date savings
being used to off-set a banding uplift within the team. The variance against the plan will not be
recovered.

This scheme was closed on the basis that following a scoping exercise the change was deemed
undeliverable in line with service need.
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Board of Directors
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30th November 2016

Subject:

Register of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality for 6 months to
30th September 2016

Presented by:

Andy Green, Company Secretary

Author:

Natalie Grainger, Governance Support Manager

Purpose:

Approval

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.
None

Relationship to High Level Risks:

N/A
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Recommendation(s):

To approve the Register of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality for the 6 month period to
30th September 2016

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has/has not been completed.

There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
Monitor:
Care Quality
Commission:

x

Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Other

x

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None

Page 240

Executive Summary

In accordance with the Standing Orders of the Board of Directors, the Register of
Interests and Register of Gifts and Hospitality, as reported by Board Members for
the 6 month period to 30th September 2016 are attached for approval of the Board.
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Board of Directors
Register of Interests
At 30th September 2016
Name
Mrs. J.
Newton

Designation
Chair

Interest Declared
1. Independent Chair

2. Controlling Interest / Owner

Organisation
1. Future of
Worcestershire
Acute Hospital
Services Programme
Board
2. Principles in
Partnership Limited
3. Capsticks

Mr. A. Fry

Non Executive
Director

3. Associate
1. Owner / Managing Director
2. Trustee

Ms. J.
Jeffrey

Non Executive
Director

Mr. F. Malik

Non Executive
Director

Mrs. K.
McAteer

Non Executive
Director

1. Harris – Fry Ltd
2.Black Country
Living Museum
3.The Community
Housing Group

3. Independent Board Member (NED)
1. Owner

1. BMJ Consultancy

1. Director/Owner

1. ABCS Ltd

2. Director/Owner
1. Non Executive Director

2. Majority/Controlling Share holding

3. Independent Chair

3. PLAN Enterprise
Ltd
1. Midland Heart
Housing Association
2. Kathy McAteer
Consultancy Ltd
3.Worcestershire
Safeguarding Adult
Board

Mr. P.
Sahota
(term ended
31/8/2016)

Non Executive
Director

1. Employee

1. Sandwell MBC:
Homes &
Communities
Directorate

Dr. D
Walker
(term ended

Non Executive
Director

1. Employee

1. University of
Wolverhampton
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Name

Designation

Interest Declared

Organisation

21/10/2016)
Mr. D.
Stenson

Associate
Non-Executive
Director

1. Patient Representative

2. Volunteer
3. Co-opted Governor
Ms P.
LloydKnight

Associate
Non-Executive
Director

1. Owner/Managing Director
2. Steering Group Member

3. Member

Ms. K.E.
Dowman

Chief
Executive

(until
31/7/2016)

Ms. T.
Taylor
(appointed
1/8/2016)

4. Chair
4. Trustee

5. Member

Interim Chief
Executive

1. Board Member
2. Trustee
3. Chief Executive Officer

Dr. S.
Edwards
(until
30/4/2016)
Mrs. S.
Lloyd (until
13/11/2016)
Mr. A.
Green

Medical
Director

None

Director of
Nursing,
AHP’s and
Quality
Company
Secretary

None

1. Independent Member

2. Independent Member
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1. Dudley Clinical
Commissioning
Group
2. Healthwatch
Dudley
3. Crestwood Park
Primary School
1. PLK & Co Ltd
2. National Institute
for Health Research
3. National Prostate
Cancer Advisory
Group
4. BME Cancer
Voice Programme
1. Sandwell
Women’s Aid
2. Mental Health
Institute LETC

1. NHS
Providers
2. Winston’s
Wish (Charity)
3. Birmingham
Community
Healthcare
Foundation
Trust

1. Walsall Council
Standards
Committee
2. Walsall Council
Audit Committee

Name

Designation

Interest Declared

Ms T.
Cotterill
Mrs L.
Writtle

Director of
Finance
Director of
Operations

None

Dr J Lidher

Medical
Director

None

1. Trustee Director

Page 245

Organisation

1. Age UK, South
Staffordshire
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Board of Directors
Register of Gifts and Hospitality
At 30th September 2016
Name
Ms. J.
Newton

Designation
Chair

Gifts and Hospitality Declared
1. Dinner for NHS Chair’s of Trusts,
Saxon Bampfylde
2. Drinks reception at NHS
Confederation Annual
Conference, Price Waterhouse
Cooper
3. Leaders in Public Services
Summer Drinks Reception,
Gatenby Sanderson
4. Chancellors Dinner, Birmingham
University
None

Mr. A. Fry

Non Executive
Director

Ms. J.
Jeffrey

Non Executive
Director

None

Mr. F. Malik

Non Executive
Director

None

Ms. K.
McAteer

Non Executive
Director

None

Mr. P.
Sahota
(term
ended
31/8/2016)

Non Executive
Director

None

Mr. D
Non Executive
Walker
Director
(until
31/10/2016)

None

Mr
D.Stenson

None

Ms P. Lloyd
Knight
Ms. K.E.
Dowman
(until

Associate
Non-Executive
Director
Associate
Non-Executive
Director
Chief
Executive

None

None
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Cost
1. £30.00
2. £15.00

3. £15.00

4. £25.00

Name
31/7/2016)
Ms. T.
Taylor
(appointed
1/8/2016)
Dr. S.
Edwards
(until
30/4/2016)
Ms. S.
Lloyd
(until
13/11/2016)

Designation

Gifts and Hospitality Declared

Chief
Executive

None

Medical
Director

None

Director of
Nursing,
AHP’s and
Quality

1. University of Birmingham Seminar
and Dinner, in partnership with Mills &
Reeve
2. Dinner with Odgers agency

Mr. A.
Green

Company
Secretary

None

Ms. T
Cotterill
Mrs. L.
Writtle
Dr. J.
Lidher

Director of
Finance
Director of
Operations
Medical
Director

1. Lunch with agency for Finance staff
2. Dinner with Odgers agency
None
None
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Cost

1. £35.00
2. £30.00

1. £10.00
2. £30.00

Encl. 9.2

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Use of Trust Seal

Presented by:

Andy Green, Company Secretary

Author:

Natalie Grainger, Governance Support Manager

Purpose:

Information

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.
None

x

Relationship to High Level Risks:
N/A
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Recommendation(s):
To note the use of the Trust Seal

Equality & Diversity implications:
There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
Monitor:
Care Quality
Commission:

x

Other:
None:

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Other

x

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None
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Executive Summary
The Trust Seal has not been used for period 1st April 2016 to 31st October 2016.
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Encl. 9.3

Meeting of:

Board of Directors

Date:

30th November 2016

Subject:

Constitution of the Trust

Presented by:

Andy Green, Company Secretary

Author:

Andy Green, Company Secretary

Purpose:

Approve

Relationship to strategic objectives:
Strategic objectives:
We will nurture a culture which provides: safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led services.
We will involve and listen to patients, carers and family’s experience to
continually improve services we provide.
We will be a leading provider of specialist mental health, learning disability
and children’s services, proactively seeking opportunities to develop our
services, building partnerships with others, to strengthen and expand the
services we provide.
Attract and retain well-trained, diverse, flexible, empowered and valued
workforce.
Resources will be used effectively, innovatively and in a sustainable
manner.
None

Relationship to High Level Risks:
N/A
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X

Recommendation(s):
To approve the proposed amendments to the Constitution

Equality & Diversity implications:
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed.
There are no implications to consider

Regulatory and Compliance matters:
Monitor:
Care Quality
Commission:
X

Other:
None:

Constitution of the Trust

Previous consideration
Board
Audit
Quality & Safety
Finance &
Investment

X

Business &
Performance
M H Legislation
Scrutiny
Charitable Funds
None
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Executive Summary

At its meeting in October 2016, the Board resolved to waive the standing orders of
the Trust in relation to the management of the conflicts of interest.
As part of the Board discussion it was agreed to seek a review of the Constitution so
as to avoid the need to take such action in future.
Legal advice has been sought in this respect and it is now proposed to make the
following amendment to the annex 8, “the standing orders for the practice and
procedure of the Board of Directors”:
Standing Order 12: Declaration of Interests and Register of Interests
Insert the following new paragraph 12.5.3 at the end of Standing Order 12.5:
“12.5.3 Where the Board of Directors considers that it would be in the best interests
of the Trust and in the interests of the effective conduct of meetings for a Director to
be present during the consideration or discussion of any contract or other matter in
which the Director has an interest and/or to vote on the matter, they may resolve (by
a simple majority of those present and voting) that the Director shall:
(a) count towards the quorum; and/or
(b) merely observe or take part in the consideration or discussion; and/or
(c) vote on the matter.”
In addition the Trust’s solicitor has suggested the inclusion of the following
amendment, the purpose of which is to make explicit the current implied authority of
the Chair in the conduct of the Board. Similar provisions are to be found in the
Constitutions of other Foundation Trusts.
Standing Order 8: Chair
Insert the following sentence between the first and second sentences of this
Standing Order:
“The decision of the Chair of the meeting on questions of order, relevancy and
regularity (including procedure on handling motions) and his/her interpretation of the
Standing Orders and Standing Financial Instructions, at the meeting, shall be final.”
Finally, it is proposed that those existing references made to the “Chair” and
“Chairman” are amended to read as the “Chair”, to ensure consistency of
terminology.
The Board’s approval of the changes is required prior to submission to the Assembly
of Governors in January 2017 for its approval; it is a legal requirement that changes
to the Constitution have to be approved by both the Board of Directors and
Assembly of Governors.
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Encl. 10.1

MINUTES OF THE CHARITABLE FUNDS COMMITTEE
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 22ND JUNE 2016 AT 4.30 PM IN
MEETING ROOM C AT DELTA HOUSE

Present
Duncan Walker (Acting Chair)
David Stenson
Peter Sinclair
In Attendance:
Andy Green
Tracy Cotterill
Candy Passmore
Margaret Wooldridge
ITEM
NO
1.1

Initial
D
D

Organisation
BCPFT
BCPFT

P

Title
Non-Executive Director
Associate Non-Executive
Director
Governor

A
T
C
M

Company Secretary
Director of Finance
Head of Communications
Executive Support Officer

BCPFT
BCPFT
BCPFT
BCPFT

BCPFT

AGENDA ITEM
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Nothing to declare.

1.2

APOLOGIES

1.3

Ms Fayaz Malik (Chair of the Committee and Non-Executive
Director) sent his apologies for the meeting.
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as a true and
accurate record after the addition of Mr D Stenson among those
being present at the last meeting.

1.4

MATTERS ARISING NOT ON THE AGENDA
No matters arising.

1.5

DECLARATION OF ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS
Nothing to declare.

2.0

MATTERS ARISING
2.1. Action Log

3.0

The action log was discussed and updated.
CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
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ACTION

3.1 Draft Charity Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16.
Ms Cotterill reported that the draft accounts were set out in a
similar format to last year but Section 6, the two year focus,
needs to be re-written to show the charity’s direction in the next
two years.
Mr Walker questioned the donation of £1000 for the dementia
unit. It was confirmed that the family had bought £1000 worth of
equipment themselves for the development of a room.
Ms Cotterill explained that if the donation had been above £5k it
would have been included on the asset register.
Mr Walker raised some questions around the Two Year Focus
table. Ms Cotterill updated him in what sections had been
completed and that the Committee will need to look at the two
year focus at its next meeting.
Ms Cotterill confirmed that it is not necessary to include a
cashflow in the charity’s financial statements.
Mr Walker queried the large value of the debtors and creditors
compared to prior year. Ms Cotterill said that most of the
transactions go through the general ledger and exchequer
account, orders are processed through Integra and invoices
added to the ledger and paid through the ledger which create
inter-company balances. However, Ms Cotterill reported that the
creditor balance of £33,000 seemed high and would investigate
this matter further and report back to the Committee.

The accounts need to be signed off before the next Committee
Meeting which is in October.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
i) That Section 6 of the 2 year focus to
be re-written.
ii) Ms Cotterill will report back
concerning the large debtor and
creditor value.
iii) The accounts to be signed off
before the next Committee Meeting in
October
4.0

INVESTMENT OF FUNDS
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2-

There have been no donations received from the 31st March to
31st May. In the table of funds, the interest rates for each deposit
should be included.
Ways in which to distribute the interest earned on deposits was
discussed.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
i) To note the update.
ii) All interest from funds should be
paid into the general Trust Charity
fund rather than be apportioned
among the different types of funds.

5.0

FUND BALANCES
Mr Walker commented that we have funds in certain accounts but
in others we have inadequate funds.
Ms Cotterill explained that we would have to ask the fund holder
for permission to move the balances in order to release funds to
other areas.
It was decided to invite Lesley Writtle to the next meeting to see if
she would be happy to move the funds into a general pot.
A discussion ensued as to how the funds could be used.
It was felt a ‘big scheme’ should be marketed, a project for people
to donate to, and this will then enthuse people to fund raise.
Different ideas were put forward as to how the money could be
spent i.e. resuscitation equipment, new flooring at Hallam Street.
small garden projects, painting in some of the wards.
As a Committee it was agreed that Ms Cotterill would put forward
a proposal for some new flooring for Hallam Street as an
enhancement.
The Committee agreed that funds could be used on expenditure
which led to an enhancement in patient or staff experience.
Examples included more frequent painting of walls and
replacement of equipment than per the Trust’s normal policy; an
upgrade from the standard equipment the Trust would ordinarily
purchase; an increase in the number of items ordinarily bought for
a ward/unit.
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At this point Ms Cotterill left the meeting.
IT WAS RESOLV ED
i) Ms Cotterill to raise a proposal
for new flooring at Hallam Street.
ii) Invite Ms Writtle to the next meeting.
iii) Broaden the use the funds to
include enhancement.
6.0

DEVELOPMENT OF THE CHARITY
Ms Passmore informed members that it had been difficult to find a
suitable name for the charity.
They had now come up with the name of “Our Charity”, and a
branding to preserve what had already been established with the
addition of BCPFT beneath it.
As the design has already been purchased and we are on a
partnership journey it was felt it would not be a good use of
resources to register a new name.
Ms Passmore asked for the approval of the Committee to take
this forward to generate more resources.
Mr Walker commented that looking at the poster it seemed
functional but at a glance he could not see why he should support
this charity. He suggested that it was unclear from the poster
what the charity is delivering or providing.
Mr Stenson asked who we are aiming this at, families or larger
organisations? He felt it needed a strategy and financial
objectives to deliver this.
Mr Green suggested the way forward would be through the
recommendation of Ms Passmore not to change the name but
promote our charity which gives us the opportunity to get posters
out to make people aware of the charity. Posters can be provided
in three weeks.
Mr Green agreed to meet with Ms Passmore to discuss this in
detail along with someone from Finance.
The Committee approved the new charity name and it was
agreed that when we next report back to the Board we inform
them of the idea of a ‘big scheme’ and how we can promote the
charity fund in a more effective way.

Page- 260
4-

IT WAS RESOLVED:
i) The Committee approved the name
of the charity
ii) Report to the Board the idea of a
‘big scheme’ and how we can
promote the charity fund in the future.

7.0

MATTERS TO BE REFERRED TO OTHER COMMITTEES
There were no other matters to be referred to other committees.

8.0

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS
There was no other urgent business to be referred.

The Chair thanked everyone for attending the meeting.
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Encl. 10.2
Minutes of the Audit Committee Meeting
Held on Wednesday, 14 September 2016 at 2.00 pm
In Meeting Room 7 - Delta House
Present:
Fayaz Malik (FM)
Duncan Walker (DW) (Chair)

Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

In Attendance
Andy Green (AG)
Angus Hughes (AH)
Natalie Grainger (NG)
Mark Wood (MW)
Gill Murphy (GM)
Charles Knight (CK)
Gus Miah (GM)

Company Secretary
Interim Deputy Director of Finance
Governance Support Manager
Public Governor - Birmingham & Wider West Midlands
Associate Director of Governance
Internal Audit (Head of Internal Audit)
External Audit, Deloitte (Partner)

Apologies:
Diane Cartwright (DC)
Mohammed Ramzan (MR)
Tracey Cotterill (TC)
Mel Passmore (MP)
Joy Jeffrey (JJ)
David Stenson (DS)
Sheila Lloyd (SL)
Alan Lakin (AL)
Julie Mee (JM)

Internal Audit, WMAC
External Audit, Deloitte
Executive Director of Finance
Public Governor (Lead) - Wolverhampton
Non-Executive Director
Associate Non-Executive Director
Executive Director of Nursing, AHPs & Governance
Internal Audit, WMAC
Internal Audit, WMAC

Ref:
1

Item
OPENING MATTERS

Action

1.1

Declarations of Interest
None.

1.2

Apologies for absence
As listed above.

1.3

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes were agreed as a true and accurate record subject to the
following amendments:
Page 6, item 4.2, para 3 to read: Mr Hughes agreed with Dr Walker’s
comments and confirmed that contracts had not been signed by the
Trust or the other parties.
Page 8, item 5.2, para 8, to read ‘Ms Murphy’
Page 9, item 5.4, para 8, to read ‘he reported’

Page
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Ref

Item

Action

Page 11, item 4.3, para 3 to read ‘Dr Walker’

1.4

Matters arising not on the agenda
None

1.5

Declaration of any other urgent business to be transacted
None

2

MATTERS ARISING

2.1

Action Log
The action log was discussed and updated.

2.2

Waiver Update
Mr Hughes presented the report which showed that there had been 32
waivers raised with a total value of £997,606 during the period 1st
March to 31st August 2016, compared with £618,238 during the same
period the previous year.
Mr Hughes confirmed that there was an expectation that there will be
an increase in waivers due to the partnership process.
Dr Walker asked whether there was a risk of not getting value for
money during this period.
Mr Hughes confirmed that a number of contracts would not be
extended. This may result in less value for money. However, waivers
go through an extensive process and are individually vetted.
Dr Walker felt that it was important to recognise the impact of the risk
of not always achieving value for money with suppliers during this
period of transition when the Trust was reluctant to commit to long term
contracts due to the potential partnership.
Mr Malik raised that around 50% of the value of waivers related to IT
licence and software renewal and asked whether there were any
savings on these contracts.
Mr Hughes confirmed that each waiver was challenged but there was
little opportunity for negotiation on licences as they were at a fixed cost.
In response to a question from Dr Walker, Mr Hughes confirmed that of
the £152k estates urgent work, £120k related to the server room at
Edward Street Hospital.
Although Dr Walker was assured by the process (which had been
audited recently) he felt that he needed further assurance that the
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Ref

Item
implications to the organisation are being considered as a result of the
large value and number of waivers.
Mr Green confirmed that operationally waivers are taken very seriously
to ensure no ongoing risk to the organisation.
Mr Miah suggested that as part of the transactional cost of the
partnership, it would be useful for the Committee to be aware of the
price upward movement with explanation.
It was agreed that where there had been a significant price increase,
this needs to be documented going forward and that risks of the
transition period should be recognised.
Ms Murphy suggested a risk assessment could be undertaken.
Mr Green advised that Standing Financial Instruction regulations need
to be met and reasons for decisions need to be shared.
Mr Miah suggested reviewing the Birmingham Community Healthcare
NHSFT procurement processes for best practice and to provide
reassurance. Mr Hughes confirmed that a procurement group had
been established.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) document significant price increase with reasons within
the report going forward

2.3

External Audit Recommendation Update
Mr Hughes presented the report which provided an update on the Audit
Committee on the 2015-16 External Audit recommendations for the
contracting process and Foundation Trust Consolidation (FTC)
production.

Contracting process
It was reported that as at 1st September 2016, four contracts remained
unsigned and two service line agreements remain unsigned. The total
value was reported as £8.2m; however the elements causing the delay
amounted to £0.2m (0.2% of the Trust’s income). Mr Hughes confirmed
that third parties were being chased.
Mr Hughes reported a risk with the Sandwell and West Birmingham
Hospital contract which totals £128k although work was being billed for
and was being paid.
Dr Walker asked whether the Trust was exposed with the
Wolverhampton CAMHS contract. Mr Hughes confirmed that finances
had been agreed with the exception of those highlighted. He advised
that it was the terms and conditions that were holding up the contracts.
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Action

Ref

Item

Action

Dr Walker queried the comment on page 25, relating to payments not
being made by Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospital for services
that were being provided; he suggested provisions be put against this
income.
Mr Miah confirmed that he would expect provisions to be made by the
year end for such matters if the situation remained unchanged.
Mr Hughes confirmed that purchase ledger payments are being held
back against those were contracts have not been signed.
It was agreed that a further update report would be received at the
November meeting.
FTC Consolidation
Mr Hughes reported that detailed reconciliations of all trial balance
codes to the FTC schedules were carried out when submissions were
required.

IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to receive an update report on the contracting process
at the November meeting.
2.4

Board Assurance Framework Progress
Ms Murphy confirmed that she had met with Ms Cartwright and agreed
suggestions that had been put forward by Internal Audit. Ms Cartwright
made a further suggestion of reporting all risks to the Board which Ms
Murphy wished to discuss with the Chair of the Board.
Dr Walker felt that the Board having sight of risks annually may be of
some benefit.
It was agreed that Ms Murphy, Mr Knight and Ms Newton would
meet outside the meeting to discuss and agree.

3

LOCAL COUNTER FRAUD

3.1

Summary of Progress 2016-2017
Mr Knight presented the report which provided an outline of work
undertaken in accordance with the Anti-Fraud Work Plan for 2016-17
and any other fraud matters that had arisen since the previous update.
He highlighted a potential area of concern being the number of days
used to date for investigations. These were above what had been
allocated.
Dr Walker felt that it was important to provide an adequate number of
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Ref

Item
days for investigations and recognised that additional days should be
considered. The Committee agreed that days should be increased
sufficiently.
Mr Knight also raised the high number of amber status outcomes on
the report and felt that some perspective of ongoing areas should be
sought.
Dr Walker raised concerns that the 10 x missing IPad issue remained
outstanding and requested that this be dealt with and closed. It was
agreed that Ms Mee would contact Ms Murphy to discuss and resolve.

IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) the Committee recommended that the number of days
should be increased sufficiently
(ii) Ms Mee and Ms Murphy to meet and discuss the 10 x
missing IPad’s.
4

EXTERNAL AUDIT

4.1

External Audit Planning Report 2016/17
Mr Miah presented the report and highlighted the key areas included
within the ‘Trust Developments’ section of the report.
Mr Miah discussed the partnership arrangement that the Trust had
entered into with Birmingham Community Healthcare NHSFT and
Dudley & Walsall Mental Health Partnership Trust, which was referred
to as Transforming Care Together (TCT). He raised concerns at the
pace of the engagement with the two organisations and confirmed that
this will have an impact on the judgement around the going concern of
the organisation. Mr Miah highlighted this as a major risk to the
organisation.
Mr Miah drew the Committee’s attention to the value for money
conclusion within the report and emphasised that in the previous year
he had been close to qualifying the value for money position; however,
due to mitigations in place, it was agreed to provide an unqualified
opinion. He advised that this would be high on the radar for this
financial year and should be considered by the Board.
Dr Walker raised concerns around the CIPs, in particular the nonrecurring element.
Mr Miah concurred with these comments and felt that the Board should
consider non-recurrent CIP plans which could have a large impact.
Dr Walker asked the opinion of Mr Miah in bringing in an external
organisation to assist with the CIP position. Mr Miah confirmed that
they offer varying degrees of success and there were some difficult
decisions to be made.

Page
Page
5 of 267
9

Action

Ref

Item

Action

Dr Walker asked Mr Miah whether the rationale to increase the
materiality level in light of the risks facing the Trust had been
considered. Mr Miah confirmed that this was a consideration but
indicated that the previous materiality level was much lower than
Deloitte’s competitors. He indicated the new threshold would allow all
parties to focus on the key concerns.
Dr Walker queried the £1.3m CIP for 2016/17 that had been identified
within the report.
Mr Miah confirmed that at the planning stage discussions would take
place with key individuals and reported that a number of schemes had
not been worked up to what would be expected at this stage. He
advised that the CIPs were still significantly away from the £6m
required.
Dr Walker raised significant concerns around this.
Mr Miah agreed with Dr Walker’s concerns and reported that the
financial risk rating of 1 also shows deterioration in the position and felt
that the partnership won’t run at an adequate pace to assist the
position and this should be flagged to the Board.
Mr Miah indicated that the year end forecast of £0.5m cash would
result in it being difficult for bills to be paid and the Board would need to
reflect back on the going concern aspect.
Dr Walker asked whether it would be appropriate to proceed with the
Partnership if it were to change form and one of the partners pulled out
of the process.
Mr Miah felt that it would not suit the timeframe to restart the process:
to do so may have a negative impact on the reputation of the Trust. He
suggested that a variance in the original proposal may be considered
but this would be the decision of the Board.
Mr Miah confirmed that the asset base would be reviewed if revaluation
takes place. Mr Hughes confirmed that Birmingham Community
NHSFT would be carrying out a revaluation on our behalf.
Mr Green queried why Birmingham Community NHSFT had been
chosen to align capital revaluation and suggested there may be a
conflict of interest under the merger control regime.
Dr Walker shared these concerns and felt that the position should be
seriously considered in order to minimise risks in terms of engagement.
Mr Miah confirmed that the Board would sign off the accounts and
reported that a number of organisations were taking a less prudent
view in their management of estates.
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Item
It was agreed that Mr Green and Ms Cotterill would discuss the
revaluation outside the meeting and report to Dr Walker.
Mr Green suggested it may be appropriate to receive a Board report in
January 2017 specific to the ST funding criteria in order to provide the
Board with additional assurance on the process. This was agreed.

IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) Mr Green and Ms Cotterill to discuss outside the
meeting and report to Dr Walker
(ii) to receive report at January 2017 meeting specific to
the ST funding criteria in order to provide the Board with
additional assurance on the process

4.2

Review and consider Policy for the supply of Non Audit Supplies
Mr Hughes presented the report which provided the policy previously
approved by the Committee and confirmed that the policy has been
updated to reflect annual audit fees.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) To approve the policy

5

INTERNAL AUDIT

5.1

Internal Audit Proposed Terms of Reference
Mr Knight presented the report which provided terms of reference for
quarter 3 audits.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to approve the terms of reference for quarter 3 audits

5.2

Internal Audit Report: Recommendation Implementation Update
Mr Knight presented the report which provided an update on
implementation actions in respect of agreed Internal Audit
recommendations.
A discussion took place around the accuracy of the data as it was
reported that some actions had been completed and updated but were
still recorded as outstanding.
Mr Knight noted that the data provided was potentially out of date and
agreed to send out an updated version as at 31st August, and would
ensure that any completed actions were updated.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
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31st

(i) updated version as at
August with completed
actions updated sent out to members
5.3

Internal Audit Report: Risk Matrix and Potential Rolling Head of Internal
Audit Opinion
Mr Knight presented the report and confirmed that at the request of the
CEO, the Complaints, Concerns and Patient Experience audit had
been deferred to Q4 as the internal processes were being reviewed.
Dr Walker raised concerns around the audit being deferred and felt that
areas should be prepared for planned audits.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to approve the deferral

5.4

Internal Audit report: Progress Report and Potential Rolling Head of
Internal Audit Opinion Report
Mr Knight presented the report which indicates the current status for
audits against the 2016/17 plan.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report for information.

5.5

Internal Audit Report: Assurance Outcomes Summary Report
Mr Knight presented the report which provided outcomes of internal
audit review highlighting the internal audit assurance opinion rating.
He advised that the CEO had requested that the Well-Led Framework
review be sent directly to her for discussion at the Exec Team
Meetings. She directed that the report was not to be discussed prior to
this.
Dr Walker recommended that future reports aren’t received until they
have been through due process.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report

6

FINANCIAL REPORTING

6.1

Losses and Compensation Claims
Mr Hughes presented the report which provided an update on the
Losses and Compensation claims received for 2016/17 and suggested
this be reported 6 monthly in order to provide an indication on the
position.
Dr Walker raised concerns around the level of loss of personal effects.
Mr Green advised that this also covered damage and suggested that
the terminology be considered.

Page
Page270
8 of 9

Ref

Item

Action
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report

7

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

7.1

Cycle of Business
Mr Miah suggested the Sunshine Policy relating to the disclosure of
benefits offered to consultants by pharmaceutical companies be
included on the cycle of business in order to ensure compliance.
Mr Green confirmed that the Trust was currently compliant however
this may need to be reviewed.
It was agreed for Mr Green to produce a summary report for the
November meeting providing an update on the position.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) Mr Green to produce a summary report for the
November meeting providing an update on the position

8

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

8.1

Agree Specific Recommendations to the Board
 To consider the significant risks highlighted within the External
Audit Planning Report, in particular relating to Going Concern,
Value for Money and the CIP position.

8.2

Agree specific recommendations/matters to other sub-committees
None

8.3

Risks considered
 Increase in Waivers during the transition period
 CIPs
 Going Concern
 Value for Money
 Pace of TCT Partnership
 Reporting and provisions relating to ST funding

9

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS
None

The Chair thanked all for attending the Committee and closed the meeting at 4pm.
(A private meeting of the members with the External Auditor followed.)
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Encl. 10.3
Minutes of the Finance and Investment Committee Meeting
Held on Thursday, 20 October 2016 at Time Not Specified
In Meeting Room C - Delta House
Present:
Tracey Cotterill (TC)
Fayaz Malik (FM)
Kathy McAteer (KM) (Chair)
Andrew Fry (AF)
Lesley Writtle (LW)
In Attendance
Joanna Newton (JN)
Jo Cadman (JC)
Andy Green (AG) (Secretary)
Angus Hughes (AH)
Kuli Kaur Wilson (KK)
Caroline Nolan (CN)
Mrs Margaret Wooldridge
Apologies:
Tracy Taylor (TT)
Natalie Grainger (NG)
(Secretary)
David Gratwick (DG)

Ref:
1

Executive Director of Finance
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Executive Director of Operations
Chair
Associate Director of Strategy
Company Secretary
Deputy Director of Operational Finance
Head of PMO
Assistant Chief Executive
Corporate Executive Support Officer

Chief Executive
Governance Support Manager
Public Governor - Sandwell

Item
OPENING MATTERS

Action

1.1

Declarations of Interest
None

1.2

Apologies for absence
As listed above

1.3

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on 22nd September were recorded as
an accurate record.

1.4

Matters arising not on the agenda
Ms Cotterill declared there were some addendums for Agenda item
3.6.

1.5

Declaration of any other urgent business to be transacted
There was no other urgent business to be transacted.

2

MATTERS ARISING
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2.1

Action Log
The Action Log was discussed and updated.

3

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

3.1

Delivery of Cost Improvement Programme 2016/17
Ms Kaur-Wilson presented the report which provided progress made to
date in delivering the cost improvement programme for 2016/17.
Performance and achievement of individual schemes against the
2016/17 plan were outlined identifying any areas of risk.
The actual level of risk in the programme at month six of £1.1 million is
included in the forecast outturn of the plan.
The two options available to mitigate this risk are:
1. Increase CIP performance – stretch in current schemes and/or
addition of new schemes.
2. Deliver against other opportunities outside the scope of C.I.P.
Ms Kaur Wilson advised that a number of new schemes had been
added to the plan, which had led to the increase in forecast delivery.
She then reported that in terms of the Divisional performance:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mental Health the forecast outturn remains adverse at month 6
at £526k
Children’s Division has an adverse variance of £845k
LD are favourable, the forecast outturn being £162
Corporate remain adverse variance of £211k
Estates are favourable at £171k
Operational Support are favourable at £152k
Clinical Support remains adverse by £1.5k

Ms Kaur Wilson advised that in terms of addressing the gap, further
work has been undertaken. At month 5 there were £470,000 of
schemes that were not on the original plan, and are having a positive
impact on forecast outcome.
The Trust is also focusing on looking at stricter controls around
vacancy management.
She then advised that at this point in time assurance cannot be given
that the trust will be able to find the level of cost improvement to cover
the gap and the Trust is looking to see what other opportunities there
maybe which could impact on this position.
Ms Cotterill reported that NHSI had enquired as to whether ownership
of delivering of those schemes has moved from operational level to
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central control, given the change in forecast against plan.
Ms Cotterill commented that the trust has spoken to the divisions and
whilst they continued to look to develop savings plans understood they
cannot deliver any more than is in the forecast.
Ms McAteer agreed there is a two prong approach, it’s about what we
can achieve this year but looking at the longer term approach for the
future.
In response to a question from Ms Newton, Ms Writtle felt the Trust has
to be very pragmatic about what it can do and concurred with Ms
Cotterill that divisions were sighted on trying to improve the financial
position and address the gap but schemes in development such as
older peoples mental health services would not realise savings until the
new financial year.
Mr Malik commented that the report gave clarity to the situation.
In response to Mr Malik, Ms Kaur Wilson advised that the issue of the
CAMHS services was picked up in the Performance Meeting recently
and it will be rectified for month 7, she is monitoring both CAMHS and
AHP closely.
In response to a question from Ms Newton, Ms Writtle explained that
the Divisional Director for CAMHS wants to go through a sophisticated
management change from a leadership point of view and we are
waiting until after CQC before we deliver this However, she felt it
unlikely that the CCG would provide funding.
Ms McAteer thanked Ms Kaur-Wilson for a comprehensive report. She
commented that It was good to see the previous 1.5 million gap has
been reduced to 1.1 million but recognises the huge challenges to
close the gap further.
IT WAS RESOLVED

3.2

(I)
To note the report
.
Financial Position of the Trust as at 30th September 2016
Ms Cotterill presented the report summarising the financial position of
the Trust for the period to 30th September, 2016.
The income and expenditure position for the Trust is a deficit of £970k
compared to a planned deficit of £994 year to date. The forecast deficit
for the year to 31st March 2017 is £1,129k.
Ms Cotterill reported on the YTD position for each of the divisions.
She then referred members to the financial risk schedule which
indicated a risk to forecast outturn of approximately £1m. She guided
members through the assumptions made within the schedule and
noted that it had been shared and discussed with Monitor.
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She advised that the risk to forecast included the £1.1 C.I.P gap and
included prudent provision for clawback of development funding by
commissioners. She also advised of potential areas of mitigation
including the potential evaluation of the estate and possible clawback
of PAS migration work under the Business Transfer Agreement.
Mr Malik asked if there was any way there could be efficiency savings
made in the Finance Department.
Ms Cotterill responded that in her view the Finance Department were
working to full capacity. She explained the Trust has all the same
governance requirements of a larger organisation but with a much
smaller team.
Ms Cotterill is still hopeful we can achieve the plan, but clearly we still
have a significant risk.
Ms Cotterill advised that under guidance issued by NHSI the Trust
would only be able to change UK forecast outturn at Q3 (January 2017)
submission and this would need to be considered more fully by the
Board ahead of preparation the Q3 accounts.
Ms Cotterill then referred to the option to revalue the estate which
would need to be agreed by the auditors and Audit Committee but may
be beneficial to our forecast outturn position.
Ms Cotterill referred members to the cash flow position statements.
The cash balance at 30th September 2016 was £2,611k (£3,022k at
31st August 2016). The forecast cash balance at 31st March 2017 is
£717k.
The balance sheet for 30th September 2016 shows net current liabilities
of £7,566k an increase of £89k from 31st August 2016 (£7,477k).
Capital expenditure incurred year-to-date is £889k, and is underspent
against plan by £364k, resulting from expenditure being delayed due to
a number of Estate schemes still being within the planning phase
Cash is ahead of plan and aged debtors has a slight increase of the
over 90 days driven by two key factors including Sandwell Hospital and
the on-going dialogue about contractual issues.
Ms Cotterill then distributed Appendix 1 – Individual Provider Details for
BCPFT. The document provides indicative allocations of STF, finance
control totals and agency ceilings for 2017/18 and 2018/19.
Ms Cotterill stated her belief it would be highly unlikely that the Trust
could accept the proposed control total given the significant
improvement to the deficit expected in the total against the Trusts
forecast position.
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She guided members through the bridge diagram indicating the likely
£5m deficit in 2017/18 which she felt was the worst case scenario.
Ms Cotterill advised that consideration needs to be given to whether
the Trust alert NHSI as to where we are and what our gap is but there
could be no guarantee that a revised offer made would be acceptable.
Ms Cotterill referred the committee to the fact that under the new
Single Oversight Framework a quarterly governance return is no longer
required of the Trust. The Committee agreed its concerns that wider
governance oversight might be lacking and requested that
consideration be given to the governance statement being included at
the Board Meeting.
3.3

Cash Flow
Ms Cotterill referred to the cash flow statements. She advised that
NHSI’s preference as previously reported is that we look within the
local health economy for an inter-organisation loan if possible. This
would need to be considered further, against other options, including
the establishment of a working capital facility.
IT WAS RESOLVED:
(i) To note the report.

3.4

High level Risk register: Review Mitigation Plans
Risk register
Ms Newton requested risk around the MCP contracting be reviewed.
and expanded within the risk register.
IT WAS RESOLVED:

3.5

(I) To note the report
(II) To review MCP contracting risk in the
register.
Contractual Performance (inc CQUIN's)
Ms Cotterill referred to the report.
There are six contracts unsigned to the value of £8m the largest being
Dudley public Health. The contracting team are waiting for the contract
paperwork from commissioners for 4 of the unsigned contracts 2 of the
contracts are at risk of remaining unsigned due to the lack of
engagement from the commissioners.
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Penalties of £98k have been provided for within the financial position
and there are further penalty risks of £10k in month 6 which are not
currently reflected in the financial report due to timing issues. The
penalties have not been invoked by the commissioners but this may be
due to uncertainty nationally around the dual impact of penalties and
STF targets.
CQUINS – Q1 milestones have been achieved and Q2 reports are in
the process of being produced. October will focus on the deliverables
for Q3 & Q4.
The delivery of Q3 milestone which measures the actual number of
frontline clinical staff who have received the flu vaccine during the
period up to and including 31st December 2016 is a potential risk based
on previous years uptake figures.
All NHS contracts must be signed by the 23rd December 2016. More
information was circulated after the last Board Meeting. Initial contract
negotiation meetings have been held with SWBCCG and
Wolverhampton CCG to set out key milestones, terms of reference and
assign sub group membership.
IT WAS RESOLVED
(i) to note the report

3.6

Strengthening Financial Performance & Accountability
Ms Cotterill announced that there has been some additional guidance
under the Strengthening Financial Performance and Accountability
banner.
From November NHSI will be sharing data on agency expenditure (in
relation to ceilings and total workforce costs) for all trusts.
The returns have been summarised, but the CEO is now personally
required to sign off any shifts for agency staff over £120 per hour.
A self-certification checklist for completion by the Board is now
required. This will provide assurance that the trust is taking all
appropriate actions on agency spending and to identify any additional
steps which can be taken.
This checklist needs to be reviewed by the Board and should be
submitted by 30th November 2016.
There is a new protocol for financial forecasts that Trusts are not
allowed to change the forecast outturn unless a process has been
followed which includes sign off by the Board and can only be
undertaken at quarter ends – next being Q3 (January 2017)
submission.
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IT WAS RESOLVED
(I) The Board be made aware of the new
guidance.

4

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

4.1

Agree Specific Recommendations to the Board
Ms McAteer referred to the discussions and summarised key
recommendations to the Board,
1. Note the current financial position and continue to monitor the
position closely. To note the new protocol for changing financial
forecast and to the need to consider whether the forecast needs
to be changed at Q3 in line with the new requirements.
2. Whilst there is no longer a requirement to submit a Governance
Return, it is recommended that this is still completed internally
and reported to the BoD to give oversight.
3. Note that the proposed control total for 2017/18 is unrealistic
with the Trust deficit likely to significantly worsen next year, and
that this will need to be reflected in the Annual Plan.
4. To note the requirement for submission of a new agency usage
template and delegate authority to the Chair and CEx to sign
this off, in line with the new guidance.
5. To note that the contracting arrangements for next year may
present additional risks and that this needs to be reflected in the
revised BAF.

4.2

Agree Specific Recommendations/matters to other subcommittee's
None

4.3

Consider matters referred from other sub-committee's
None

4.4

Consider Risks
The committee requested a review of the High Level Risks associated
with contracting and the impact of MCP’s

5

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
Ms Newton asked that it be recorded that the committee thanked the
finance team and appreciated all their hard work they had contributed
during the financial year.
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The Chair thanked all for attending the Committee and closed the meeting at Time Not
Specified

Page
Page 280
8 of 8

